

# LUND UNIVERSITY

### Thymic Stroma and T Cell Development. Impacts of Retinoic Acid Signaling

Wendland, Kerstin

2018

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Wendland, K. (2018). Thymic Stroma and T Cell Development. Impacts of Retinoic Acid Signaling. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Experimental Medical Science]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### **General rights**

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

## Thymic Stroma and T Cell Development -Impacts of Retinoic Acid Signaling

Kerstin Wendland



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended on Thursday, September 20<sup>th</sup> at 13.00 in Belfragesalen, BMC D15, Sölvegatan 19, Lund, Sweden.

*Faculty opponent* Nuno L. Alves, PhD Instituto de Biologia Molecular e Celular, Porto, Portugal

	P		
Organization	Document name		
	DOCTORAL DISSERTATIO	N N	
Section for Immunology			
SE 22184 Lund			
SWEDEN			
Author	Data of issue		
Kerstin Wendland	2018-09-20		
Title and subtitle	2010 09 20		
Thymic Stroma and T Cell Development - Impacts	of Retinoic Acid Signaling		
Abstract	0 0		
The development of functionally competent, self-tolerant T cells in the thymus is an essential prerequisite for the formation of			
adaptive immune responses against foreign pathoge	adaptive immune responses against foreign pathogens. Thymic epithelial cells (TECs) form specialized stromal microenvironments		
in the cortex (cTEC) and medulla (mTEC) of the th	ymus that support all stages of T co	ell development, from the entry of thymocyte	
progenitors to the exit of mature naive T cells. Co	nversely, TECs require crosstalk w	ith developing thymocytes and surrounding	
and functions remain incompletely understood	frerentiation and maturation. How	ever, the signals governing TEC homeostasis	
The aim of the work presented in this thesis was to	understand the role of the vitami	n A metabolite retinoic acid (RA), a known	
regulator of immune responses and epithelial home	ostasis, in TEC functionality and T	cell development (Paper I) as well as for the	
generation of cytotoxic CD8* T cell responses	(Paper II). Additionally, we set o	out to investigate the poorly characterized	
heterogeneity within the TMC compartment and t	better define the ontogeny and de	evelopmental origin of mesenchymal stromal	
cell subsets in lymphoid organs (Paper III).			
In <u>Paper 1</u> , we show that <i>in vivo</i> RA signaling in	IECs regulates their homeostasis a	and controls gene expression associated with	
distinct biological pathways in CIEC and mIEC.	d cTEC proliferation and the accu	a to KA due to expression of a dominant-	
precursor-like phenotype, while mTEC numbers we	re reduced during the early postnat	al phase of TEC expansion. Additionally, RA	
signaling in TECs impacted on thymopoiesis with ir	npaired generation of CD4 single-p	ositive (SP) and CD8SP thymocytes.	
In Paper II, we addressed the role of RA signaling in	n CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell development and fur	nction directly, by inducing expression of the	
dnRAR in thymocytes and peripheral T cells. Using	this model, we showed that absen	ce of RA signaling in developing thymocytes	
severely perturbs thymopoiesis, leading to an accur	nulation of phenotypically mature	CD8SP cells displaying alterations in T cell	
receptor expression levels and repertoire. Moreover,	naive peripheral CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells wer	e skewed towards an activated phenotype in	
the absence of RA signaling and while these cells	displayed enhanced survival and e	xpansion upon ICR stimulation, they were	
In Paper III, we performed comparative analysis of	of mesenchymal stromal cells from	the the state of t	
population of CD34 <sup>*</sup> adventitial cells as a conser	ved component of the vascular n	iche in lymphoid tissues. Furthermore, we	
demonstrated that adult CD34 <sup>+</sup> cells contain proge	nitors that have the potential to giv	ve rise to lymphoid stromal populations in a	
context-dependent manner in in vivo grafting experi	ments.		
Collectively, the work included in this thesis identifi	ed RA signaling as an important reg	ulator of thymic epithelium and T cell	
functionality and broadens our understanding of me	senchymal stromal cell functions an	d development in lymphoid organs.	
Key words			
Thymus, Thymic Epithelial Cells, T Cell Developm	ent, Retinoic Acid, CD8 <sup>+</sup> I Cell fui	action, Stromal Cells	
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language	
		English	
ISSN and key title		ISBN	
1652-8220		978-91-7619-680-9	
Recipient's notes Numb	er of pages	Price	
107			
Securi	y classification		
I the undersigned being the convright owner of the	abatmant of the above montioned di	nontration housing arout to all reference courses	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2018-08-15

# Thymic Stroma and T Cell Development -Impacts of Retinoic Acid Signaling

Kerstin Wendland



2018

Section for Immunology Department of Experimental Medical Science Faculty of Medicine, Lund University

Cover Rose petal among the stones, Stenshuvuds nationalpark, Sweden Back The thesis at a glance, generated using wordclouds.com

Copyright pp 1 - 83 Kerstin Wendland Paper 1 © The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. Paper 2 © by the authors (unpublished manuscript) Paper 3 © by the authors

Department of Experimental Medical Science Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2018:112

ISBN 978-91-7619-680-9 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2018



Media-Tryck is an environmentally certified and ISO 14001 certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental MADE IN SWEDEN

Für meine Eltern

"A smooth sea never made a skilled sailor" Franklin D. Roosevelt

## Preface

#### "Like dwarfs standing on the shoulders of giants" - Bernard de Chartres

There is no doubt among immunologists today regarding the importance of the thymus for the establishment and maintenance of our adaptive immune system. The notion however that the thymus is not only relevant in immunity but the key organ of T cell development came about only in the 1960s. Until then, the thymus had been considered an evolutionary relict, an organ that did no longer fulfill any biological functions - at best, it was considered a graveyard for dying lymphocytes.

Surprising as it may seem today to deny the thymus any immunological function, based on the state of knowledge at that time this conclusion made sense. Upon immunization, the thymus of mice did not show any signs of an ongoing immune response that were known from spleen and lymph nodes. Moreover, removing the thymus of adult mice did not lead to impaired immune functions in these mice. How important could something possibly be if you can remove it without any consequences? As it turned out: very!

The key to discovering the immunological function of the thymus was timing. While aiming to study the development of virus-induced leukemia, the Australian scientist Jacques Miller removed the thymus of newborn mice and was surprised to find these mice being more susceptible to infections and cancer and, most importantly, unable to reject grafts of foreign skin tissue. These findings, together with the dramatically reduced numbers of peripheral lymphocytes, prompted Miller to suggest that *"the thymus at an early stage in life plays a very important part in the development of immunological response"*.

Although met with a lot of skepticism at first, it was ultimately proven that Miller was right in suggesting the presence of two types of lymphocytes, T and B cells, and that T cells emerged from the thymus as *"specially selected cells"*.

T cells and the stromal networks they develop and mature in are at the core of this thesis and I hope by reading it you will find a new appreciation of the thymus and its discoverer Jacques Miller, whose work laid the foundation for generations of immunologists to follow.

Kerstin Wendland Lund, September 2018

# Table of contents

Papers included in this thesis	.11
Abbreviations	.13
Introduction	.17
Chapter 1. Thymopoiesis and the Thymic Microenvironment	.19
T Cell Development	.19
Thymus Colonization	.21
Differentiation and Positive Selection	.22
CD4 and CD8 Lineage Choice	.24
Negative Selection and Central Tolerance	.25
Thymic egress	.28
Development of Thymic Epithelial Cells	.30
Thymus organogenesis	.30
Ontogeny of thymic epithelial cells	.34
Functions of thymic epithelial cells	.38
Phenotype and function of cortical epithelial cells	.38
Phenotype and function of medullary epithelial cells	.41
Chapter 2. Peripheral T Cell Functions	.45
Priming of naive CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells	.45
CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell effector functions	.49
CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cell memory	.52
Subsets of CD8 <sup>+</sup> memory T cells	.52
Functions of CD8 <sup>+</sup> memory T cells	.55
Chapter 3. Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in Lymphoid Organs	.57
Functions of thymic mesenchyme	.57
Mesenchymal cell subsets in the lymph node	.59
Chapter 4. Retinoic Acid Signaling	.63
Metabolism of vitamin A and RA	.63
Mechanisms of RA-regulated gene expression	.65
RA signaling in the immune system	.67

Present investigation	71
Aims of the thesis	71
Summary and Discussion of the Papers	72
Paper I	72
Paper II	75
Paper III	77
Acknowledgements	
References	

## Papers included in this thesis

#### PAPER I

#### Retinoic Acid Signaling in Thymic Epithelial Cells Regulates Thymopoiesis

<u>Kerstin Wendland</u>, Kristoffer Niss, Knut Kotarsky, Nikita Y. H. Wu, Andrea J. White, Johan Jendholm, Aymeric Rivollier, Jose M. G. Izarzugaza, Søren Brunak, Georg A. Holländer, Graham Anderson, Katarzyna M. Sitnik, William W. Agace

Journal of Immunology 2018 July 15; 201(2): 524-532\*

#### PAPER II

#### The Role of Retinoic Acid Signaling in CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Development and Function

<u>Kerstin Wendland</u>, Knut Kotarsky, Kirstine Belling, Kristoffer Niss, Katarzyna M. Sitnik, William W. Agace

In manuscript

#### PAPER III

#### Context-Dependent Development of Lymphoid Stroma from Adult CD34<sup>+</sup> Adventitial Progenitors

Katarzyna M. Sitnik, <u>Kerstin Wendland</u>, Holger Weishaupt, Heli Uronen-Hansson, Andrea J. White, Graham Anderson, Knut Kotarsky, William W. Agace

Cell Reports 2016 March 15; 14(10): 2375-2388\*

\* Reprints were made with permission from the publisher

## Abbreviations

ADH	alcohol dehydrogenase
Aire	autoimmune regulator
APC	antigen-presenting cell
BAFF	B cell activating factor
BCR	B cell receptor
BM	bone marrow
Bmp	bone morphogenic protein
CCL	C-C motif chemokine ligand
CCR	C-C motif chemokine receptor
CD	cluster of differentiation
cDC	conventional dendritic cell
CLP	common lymphoid progenitor
CMJ	cortico-medullary junction
CRABP	cellular retinoic acid-binding protein
cTEC	cortical thymic epithelial cell
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocyte
CXCL	C-X-C motif chemokine ligand
CXCR	C-X-C motif chemokine receptor
DC	dendritic cell
DLL4	delta-like 4
DN	double-negative
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
dnRAR	dominant-negative retinoic acid receptor
DP	double-positive
DR	direct repeat
E	embryonic day
ECM	extracellular matrix
EpCAM-1	epithelial cell adhesion molecule 1
ETP	early thymic progenitor
Eya1	eyes absent homolog 1
Fas	first apoptosis signal receptor
FasL	first apoptosis signal receptor ligand

FDC	follicular dendritic cell
Fezf2	FEZ family zinc-finger 2
Fgf	fibroblast growth factor
Flt3	receptor-type tyrosine-protein kinase
Foxn1	forkhead box N1
Foxo1	forkhead box O1
Foxp3	forkhead box P3
FRC	fibroblastic reticular cell
FTOC	fetal thymic organ culture
Gcm2	glial cell missing 2
GluR1	glutamate receptor 1
GlyCAM-1	glycosylation-dependent cell adhesion molecule 1
H3/H4	histone 3/histone 4
HDAC	histone deacetylase
Hoxa3	homeobox A3
HSC	hematopoietic stem cell
HSV	herpes simplex virus
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule 1
Igf	insulin growth factor
IFN	interferon
IL	interleukin
ILC	innate lymphoid cell
Klf2	Krüppel-like factor 2
LCMV	lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
LMPP	lymphoid-primed multipotent progenitor
LN	lymph node
LNMC	lymph node mesenchymal cell
LT	lymphotoxin
LTβR	lymphotoxin β receptor
LTi	lymphoid tissue inducer
LTo	lymphoid tissue organizer
MAdCAM-1	mucosal vascular addressin cell adhesion molecule 1
MAMP	microbe-associated molecular pattern
MAP	mitogen-activated protein
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
mLN	mesenteric lymph node

MPEC	memory precursor effector cell
MPP	multipotent progenitor
MRC	marginal reticular cell
mTEC	medullary epithelial cell
NCC	neural-crest derived cell
NCoR	nuclear receptor corepressor
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa-B
NK	natural killer
Pax	Paired box
PDGFR	platelet derived growth factor receptor
PDPN	podoplanin
Plet1	placenta expressed transcript 1
PP3	third pharyngeal pouch
PPAR	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PRR	pattern recognition receptor
PSGL-1	P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1
PSMB	proteasome subunit beta
RA	retinoic acid
Rag	recombination-activating gene
RALDH	retinaldehyde dehydrogenase
RANK	receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B
RANKL	receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand
RAR	retinoic acid receptor
RARE	retinoic acid responsive element
RBP	retinol binding protein
RDH	retinol dehydrogenase
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RORyt	retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor gamma t
RTE	recent thymic emigrant
Runx3	runt-related transcription factor
RXR	retinoid X receptor
S1P	sphingosine-1-phosphate
S1P1	sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1
Sca-1	stem cell antigen 1
SCF	stem cell factor
SCID	severe combined immunodeficiency

SCS	subcapsular sinus
SI	small intestine
SIRPa	signal regulatory protein alpha
Six	sine oculis homeobox homolog
SLEC	short-lived effector cell
SLO	secondary lymphoid organ
SOCS	suppressor of cytokine signaling
SP	single-positive
Sphk	sphingosine kinase
SSEA-1	stage-specific embryonic antigen 1
STRA6	stimulated by retinoic acid receptor 6
Tbx1	T-box 1
TCR	T cell receptor
TEC	thymic epithelial cell
TEPC	thymic epithelial progenitor cell
TGF-β	transforming growth factor beta
Th	T helper
Thpok	T helper-inducing POZ/Krueppel-like factor
TLR	toll-like receptor
TNC	thymic nurse cell
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TNFR	tumor necrosis factor receptor
TNFRSF	tumor necrosis factor receptor super family
ТМС	thymic mesenchymal cell
TRA	tissue-restricted antigen
TRAF6	tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6
Treg	regulatory T cell
TSP	thymus-seeding progenitor
TSSP	thymus-specific serine protease
UEA-1	ulex europeaus agglutinin 1
VAD	vitamin A deficient
VCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
Wnt	wingless-int
XCL	X-C motif chemokine ligand
XCR	X-C motif chemokine receptor
$\gamma_{\rm c}$	common gamma chain

## Introduction

On a daily basis our immune system is faced with the monumental task of protecting us from infections and cancer, caused by invading pathogens of various kinds or cellintrinsic malignancies. To achieve this, an intricate network of specialized cells is dedicated to recognize and eliminate foreign, potentially harmful, components in a rapid and efficient manner. At the same time, cells of the immune system must remain tolerant to self and be able to terminate an immune response upon clearance of the infectious agent. Any imbalance in the activation and regulation of the immune system can have severe consequences, ranging from increased susceptibility to infections to the development of allergies, autoimmunity and chronic inflammation.

The vertebrate immune system is generally divided into an innate and adaptive side that are characterized by different means of recognition and response to pathogens, as well as the ability to generate immunological memory. Despite those differences, the interplay between innate and adaptive immunity is essential for mounting a successful immune response.

As a first line of defense the innate immune system consists of physical barriers such as the skin or the epithelium of mucosal surfaces. If these barriers are breached, cells of the innate immune system can recognize invading pathogens through conserved structures termed microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs). Binding of MAMPs by so-called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) triggers different rapid defense mechanisms in innate immune cells, depending on the cell type. Macrophages respond to PRR activation with increased phagocytosis while granulocytes are prompted to release anti-microbial factors stored in their granules. Notably, PRR activation on innate cells also induces secretion of inflammatory mediators such as cytokines and chemokines, which reinforce and modify the immune response through recruitment of both innate and adaptive immune cells to the site of infection.

Unlike the immediate actions of the innate immune system, adaptive immune responses involve the activation and differentiation of T and B cells into effector cells and can take several days to be generated. However, the advantage of the adaptive

immune system is the virtually unlimited repertoire of receptors that T and B cells can generate to recognize antigens. The highly diverse T cell receptors (TCRs) and B cell receptors (BCRs) result from random recombination of gene segments during the development of these cells in the thymus and bone marrow, respectively. In contrast to B cells, that can recognize native antigen, T cells require antigen-presenting cells (APCs) to process and present antigen to them in the context of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules. Cells that can act as professional APCs include macrophages, B cells and dendritic cells (DCs). Of note, epithelial cells in the thymus are also specialized in presenting antigen to developing thymocytes to ensure the generation of a functional self-tolerant T cell compartment. The processes underlying T cell development in the thymus and the involvement of thymic epithelial cells will be discussed in detail in Chapter 1.

There are two main lineages of T cells, defined by expression of the co-receptors CD4 or CD8, which recognize antigen presented in the context of MHC class II or MHC class I, respectively. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are helper cells that upon recognition of their cognate antigen start to produce cytokines and directly act on other cells to shape the immune response. They enhance the phagocytic activity of macrophages and are essential for antibody production and class switching of B cells. Importantly, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help is also relevant for the proliferation and activation of their CD8<sup>+</sup> counterparts. The main function of cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is the killing of target cells that present their cognate antigen, either through release of soluble mediators or through direct engagement of receptors on the target cell surface. The details of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and effector function will be further discussed in Chapter 2.

A hallmark of the adaptive immune system is the ability to generate immunological memory through the generation of long-lived memory T and B cells during the initial immune response. These cells ensure a faster and improved response to a previously encountered pathogen and are the essential mediators of long lasting immunity upon vaccination. Different subsets of memory T cells can be found in various locations of the body and their respective features will be discussed at the end of Chapter 2 for the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell population.

# Chapter 1. Thymopoiesis and the Thymic Microenvironment

The thymus is the primary lymphoid organ of T cell development and supports the generation of TCR $\alpha\beta$ -expressing CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, so-called conventional T cells, and various subsets of unconventional T cells, such as TCR $\gamma\delta^+$  T cells and natural killer (NK) T cells. For the purpose of this thesis, the following chapter will focus on the development of conventional T cells.

## T Cell Development

Despite being the major site of T cell development, the thymus does not harbor any hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) but instead relies on the regular recruitment of bone marrow (BM)-derived progenitors. Upon entry of the thymus, these progenitors follow a highly regulated pathway of commitment, differentiation and selection that leads to the generation and release of naive T cells into the periphery. The developmental route of CD4<sup>-</sup> CD8<sup>-</sup> double-negative (DN), CD4<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> double-positive (DP) and CD4<sup>+</sup> single-positive (SP) and CD8SP thymocytes is shown in **Figure 1**.

In the subsequent sections I will discuss the distinct steps of T cell development before focusing on the ontogeny and functions of thymic epithelial cells (TECs), the most important component of the thymic stromal microenvironment.



**Figure 1 - Development of conventional T cells in the thymus.** Bone marrow (BM)-derived precursors enter the thymus through blood vessels at the cortico-medullary junction from where they progress through various CD4<sup>-</sup> CD8<sup>-</sup> double-negative (DN) stages before proliferating heavily at the CD4<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> double-positive (DP) stage. Survival and selection of DN and DP thymocytes are supported through signals provided by cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTEC). Upon commitment to either the CD4 or the CD8 lineage, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> single-positive (SP) thymocytes migrate to the medulla where interactions with medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTEC) and thymic DCs eliminate thymocytes bearing potentially autoreactive TCR specificities. ETP, early thymic progenitor.

#### **Thymus Colonization**

The absence of a hematopoietic stem cell pool in the thymus requires the import of BM-derived thymus seeding progenitors (TSPs) via the blood to ensure continuous T cell development. The identity of the TSP population has been debated over the years and different experimental approaches have been used to determine the contribution of HSCs, multipotent progenitor (MPP) subsets and common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) subsets in thymus seeding.

While T cell lineage potential has been demonstrated for all three of these BM populations, both by in vitro<sup>1</sup> and in vivo approaches<sup>2</sup>, this alone is not sufficient to confer TSP status. In addition, TSPs must be able to leave the bone marrow into the circulation and have the capacity to enter the thymus through the vascular endothelium. Populations of lymphoid-primed MPPs (LMPPs) and CLPs have been identified in the blood<sup>3, 4</sup> and depletion-based transfers of bone marrow-derived precursors revealed TSPs to be a heterogeneous population of (L)MPPs and CLPs that are characterized by shared expression of CD27 and CD135 (also known as receptor-type tyrosine-protein kinase Flt3)<sup>5, 6</sup>. In line with this, recent single cell analysis of the earliest thymic progenitors in neonates confirmed their close functional and molecular relationship to CLP and LMPP populations from the bone marrow<sup>7</sup>. Notably, MPPs and CLPs show distinct kinetics of T cell development, with the more restricted CLP population progressing faster towards an SP thymocyte stage<sup>5</sup>, and it might be this heterogeneity within the TSP population that ensures the continuous generation of T cells, as the thymus is only periodically receptive to progenitor seeding<sup>8</sup>.

The wave-like colonization of the thymus by progenitors has been attributed to alternating thymic levels of P-selecting and CCL25 that interact with P-selectin glycoprotein ligand (PSGL-1) and the chemokine receptor CCR9, respectively, to mediate adhesion and entry of TSPs<sup>9</sup>. Additionally, the availability of TSP niches is limited by the earliest thymocyte populations, most notably early thymic progenitors (ETP) and DN2 thymocytes<sup>10</sup>. Of note, the estimated life span of ETPs of 10 to 12 days<sup>11</sup> correlates with the periodicity of 9 to 12 days for thymus seeding, as demonstrated in sequential transfer experiment of TSPs<sup>10</sup>.

Apart from the above-mentioned P-selectin/PSGL-1 and CCR9/CCL25 axis several other adhesion molecules and chemokine receptors have been implicated in homing of TSPs to the thymus, including CD44<sup>12</sup>, CCR7<sup>13, 14</sup> and CXCR4<sup>15</sup>. Furthermore, expression of the integrins α4β1 and αLβ2 is required for TSPs to interact with vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) on the thymic vasculature<sup>16</sup>. Importantly, blocking of any of these individual selectin, integrin and chemokine receptor interactions usually has little to no effects on thymus colonization and the numbers of ETPs, suggesting a high level of functional redundancy among TSP surface molecules<sup>17</sup>. In fact, the most striking phenotype concerning loss of thymus homing is only observed in CCR7/CCR9 double-deficient mice where ETPs and DN2 thymocytes are almost absent<sup>13, 14</sup>, underscoring the importance of these two chemokine receptors together for progenitor colonization of the thymus. Interestingly, total thymic cellularity is essentially normal in CCR7/CCR9 double-deficient mice<sup>13</sup>, suggesting mechanisms of compensatory proliferation at later DN stages in the cortex.

Recently it has been shown that lymphotoxin  $\beta$  receptor (LT $\beta$ R) signaling is involved in thymus homing, demonstrated by a significant reduction of ETPs in LT $\beta$ Rdeficient mice<sup>18</sup>. The impaired progenitor entry in the absence of LT $\beta$ R has been linked to lower ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression in the thymic mesenchyme and endothelium<sup>18</sup> and the loss of a specific subsets of thymic endothelial cells (termed thymic portal endothelium) in LT $\beta$ R-deficient mice further supports the importance for LT $\beta$ R signaling in the thymic endothelium in regulating progenitor entry<sup>19</sup>.

#### **Differentiation and Positive Selection**

Once TSPs have successfully entered the thymus at the cortico-medullary junction (CMJ) they become part of the most immature intrathymic progenitor population, the ETPs, and develop progressively through various DN stages while migrating towards the outer cortex (Figure 1).

Whereas ETPs and DN2 thymocytes still harbor non-T cell potential<sup>7, 20</sup>, commitment to the T cell lineage is completed at the transition to the DN3 stage<sup>21</sup>. The key requirement for adopting T cell fate is signaling through Notch-1 on DN progenitors mediated by cortical Notch ligands, the most important being Delta-like 4 (Dll4)<sup>22</sup>. Consequently, conditional ablation of the DLL4 gene in the cortex

completely abrogates T cell development and instead leads to B cell development in the thymus<sup>23, 24</sup>.

Apart from promoting T cell lineage commitment, the cortical environment also provides essential growth factors for the survival and proliferation of DN thymocytes, including stem cell factor (SCF; also known as Kit ligand) and interleukin (IL)-7 that serve as ligands to c-kit (CD117) and the IL-7R $\alpha$  (CD127), respectively<sup>25, 26, 27</sup>. Whereas SCF- or c-kit-deficient mice display severely reduced DN1 numbers but normal further T cell development<sup>28</sup>, IL-7 deficiency causes dramatic reduction in overall thymus cellularity attributed to an incomplete halt of T cell development at the DN3 stage<sup>29, 30</sup>. Furthermore, disruptions of the IL-7R $\alpha$  gene result in substantial lymphopenia in mice<sup>31</sup> and the development of severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) in humans, as a consequence of impaired T cell development<sup>32</sup>.

Further expansion and differentiation of DN3 thymocytes to the DP stage is mediated by signaling through the pre-TCR (consisting of a rearranged TCR<sup>β</sup> chain and an invariant  $\alpha$  chain), in a process called  $\beta$ -selection<sup>33</sup>. DN3 thymocytes with a successfully assembled TCR<sup>β</sup> chain are signaled to undergo gene arrangement of the TCRa chain and progress to the DP stage, characterized by low-level expression of a complete TCRaß. The random assembly of the different variable (V), diversity (D) and joining (J) gene segments at the TCR loci under the control of recombinationactivating gene (Rag)-encoded enzymes allows for the generation of over 10<sup>15</sup> possible TCR specificities<sup>34</sup>. While this elaborate mechanism of receptor generation maximizes the chance of recognizing virtually any kind of peripheral antigen, not all of these combinations will eventually be functional. Thus, only those DP thymocytes with useful TCR specificities receive the required survival signals, selected on their ability to recognize self-peptide/MHC complexes with low or intermediate affinity/avidity. Importantly, DP thymocytes have a short lifespan of 3 to 4 days and any cell that does not receive survival signals through their TCR during that time, due to lack of interaction with MHC complexes, undergoes death by neglect<sup>35</sup>. This process of positive selection is the prerequisite for the generation of a functional T cells that will be able to recognize their cognate antigens presented to them by APCs in the periphery.

Positive selection of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells depends on different proteases involved in antigen processing in the cortical epithelium. These include cathepsin L and thymus-specific serine protease (TSSP) for MHC class II presentation regarding optimal CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell selection<sup>36, 37</sup>, as well as the thymic-specific proteasome subunit

 $\beta$ 5t required for MHC class I presentation during the selection of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>38</sup>. The details of antigen processing and presentation in the cortex will be further discussed in the section concerning cTEC functionality.

#### **CD4 and CD8 Lineage Choice**

As mentioned earlier, the fate decision of positively selected DP thymocytes to undergo either CD4 or CD8 lineage commitment is determined by the interactions of their TCR with MHC class II or class I molecules, respectively. How exactly these interactions confer lineage choice has been a matter of debate for decades and two classical models have been proposed to explain this phenomenon in the past. The 'instructive' model suggested that engagement of the TCR by MHC class II or class I ligands induce distinct intracellular signaling signatures and that these unique signals are the determining factors for loss of either of the two co-receptors. In contrast, the 'stochastic' model proposed random downregulation of one co-receptor by DP thymocytes right after positive selection, irrespective of the TCR interactions they received. In this model, a later signal would be required to promote survival of only those cells that still express the correct co-receptor that matches the MHC specificity of their TCR<sup>39</sup>.

However, several lines of evidence arguing against either one of these models have led to the emergence of the 'kinetic signaling' model that is currently the most widely accepted model of CD4/CD8 fate decisions<sup>40</sup>. The 'kinetic signaling' model suggests that lineage choice is based on TCR signal duration and the contribution of common  $\gamma$  chain ( $\gamma_c$ ) cytokines such as IL-7. Recently positively selected thymocytes terminate CD8 expression, thus acquiring a transitional CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> phenotype<sup>41</sup> that provides a window for the determination of correct lineage fate. MHC class II-mediated TCR signaling will be maintained at the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> stage, as it is independent of CD8, and stronger and persistent TCR signals will thus induce a CD4<sup>+</sup> phenotype. Conversely, as signaling through MHC class I-restricted TCRs is terminated in the absence of CD8 expression an interrupted shorter signal allows for IL-7 and other  $\gamma_c$  cytokines to act as sensors of TCR signal duration to induce CD8<sup>+</sup> fate<sup>41, 42</sup>.

Irrespective of the exact nature of the initial signals that instruct CD4 or CD8 lineage commitment, the molecular mechanisms of co-receptor expression and stability are beginning to emerge. A complex interplay of transcription factors and epigenetic regulation enforces lineage commitment of DP thymocytes, most notably controlled

by the transcription factors Runx3 and Thpok, whose expression is mutually exclusive and induces a reciprocal inhibitive feedback loop. More specifically, Runx3 is induced by  $\gamma_c$  cytokine signals<sup>42</sup> and subsequently suppresses Thpok transcription by directly binding to silencer elements in the Thpok locus<sup>43, 44</sup>. In contrast, Thpok induced by persisting TCR signals<sup>43</sup> represses Runx3 expression indirectly, through transcriptional activation of suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) genes that inhibit  $\gamma_c$  signaling-dependent Runx3 expression<sup>45</sup>.

Consequently, expression of Thpok is essential for CD4 lineage commitment and spontaneous mutations or targeted deletion of Thpok redirect MHC class II-restricted thymocytes towards the CD8 lineage<sup>46, 47</sup>. Several additional transcription factors are involved in CD4 lineage specification by controlling the expression of Thpok, such as Lef-1, Tcf-1 and Gata3<sup>48, 49</sup>. On the other hand, Runx3 is the key transcription factor to seal CD8 lineage fate and impaired Runx activity (achieved only by combined deletion of Runx3 and Runx1, due to functional redundancy between the two) leads to redirection of MHC class I-restricted thymocytes to the CD4 lineage<sup>44, 50</sup>. Accordingly, it has been shown that Thpok and Runx3 exert their function as lineage decisive transcription factors by directly binding and repressing either Cd8 or Cd4 gene loci, respectively<sup>49, 51</sup>.

#### **Negative Selection and Central Tolerance**

Positively selected thymocytes home to the thymic medulla where they are further screened for any autoreactive potential, characterized by TCR specificities that present a strong affinity/avidity for self-peptide MHC complexes. These cells could potentially attack the body's own tissues when released into the periphery, which is why they need to be eliminated during their development. This process of negative selection is essential to the establishment of central tolerance and any interference with it through inherited deficiencies or induced mutations commonly results in severe autoimmunity. It is important to note that negative selection does not only occur in the medulla, thymocytes that display too strong TCR engagements during their time in the cortex will be equally eliminated. However, the cells in the thymic medulla are highly specialized in presenting a broad array of self-antigens, thereby extending the ability to identify autoreactive T cell clones.

#### Clonal deletion

Different forms of negative selection have been described for high affinity TCRbearing thymocytes, including receptor editing of the TCR $\alpha$  chain<sup>52</sup>, developmental diversion into functionally anergic TCR $\alpha\beta^+$  DN thymocytes<sup>53</sup> and, most importantly, clonal deletion through apoptosis<sup>54</sup>. Regarding the proximal TCR signaling events that determine clonal deletion fates, several mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases, including Jnk1, Jnk2 and p38, have been implicated in the upregulation of the proapoptotic Bcl-2 family member Bim<sup>55, 56</sup>. Through antagonizing the anti-apoptotic function of Bcl-2, Bim mediates cytochrome *c* release from mitochondria and promotes caspase-mediated cell death. The importance of Bim/Bcl-2 interactions for negative selection has been demonstrated by impaired clonal deletion observed in Bim-deficient mice<sup>57</sup>. However, while overexpression of Bcl-2 was sufficient to rescue other forms of Bim-mediated cell death, such as death by neglect, it did not abrogate clonal deletion in Bcl-2 transgenic mice<sup>58</sup>, arguing for additional mechanisms of apoptosis-induction during negative selection.

Another key mediator of TCR signaling-induced cell death is the orphan nuclear receptor Nur77 that exerts its function in two major ways. Firstly, it acts as a transcription factor for several pro-apoptotic genes<sup>59, 60</sup> and secondly, it can translocate to mitochondria where it converts Bcl-2 into a pro-apoptotic form<sup>61, 62</sup>. Of note, this interference with the anti-apoptotic properties of Bcl-2 not only represents another mechanisms of clonal deletion, but also provides a possible explanation for the inability to inhibit Bim-mediated apoptosis by Bcl-2 overexpression during negative selection specifically. In line with the described functions of Nur77, blocking its activity by expression of a dominant-negative form averts clonal deletion while constitutive expression in the thymus promotes massive apoptosis of developing thymocytes<sup>63</sup>.

#### Peripheral antigen presentation in the medulla

In order to purge the developing T cell pool from thymocytes harboring TCRs with self-reactive potential, the process of negative selection relies on the presentation of an extensive repertoire of self-antigens that might be encountered on tissues in the periphery. In this regard, mTECs and thymic DCs are the key autonomous and non-redundant mediators of peripheral antigen presentation and defective APC potential of either of the two subsets, due to impaired MHC class II expression, compromises clonal deletion of CD4SP thymocytes<sup>64</sup>.

The hallmark of mTECs is their ability to express a large variety of tissue-restricted antigens (TRAs) through elaborate mechanisms of promiscuous gene expression, most notably controlled by the transcription factors autoimmune regulator (Aire)<sup>65</sup> and FEZ family zinc-finger 2 (Fezf2)<sup>66</sup>. While the details of mTEC-specific TRA expression will be further discussed in the section concerning mTEC functionality, it is important to note that mTECs express between 18.000 and 19.000 genes, thus covering about 85- 89% of the entire coding genome<sup>67, 68</sup>. While on a cellular level the frequency of mTECs expressing any given TRA is with 1-3% rather low<sup>69</sup>, the mosaic gene expression pattern created by individual mTECs expressing distinct TRA clusters is sufficient for the presentation of the whole known TRA repertoire on a population level<sup>70, 71</sup>.

In contrast to mTECs, thymic DCs can acquire peripheral antigen in several ways. Owing to their preferred location around the vasculature at the CMJ and in the perivascular space they can sample circulating antigens directly from the blood<sup>72, 73</sup>. Secondly, they can obtain and cross-present both native and MHC-bound antigens from mTECs<sup>74</sup> and, finally, subsets of extrathymically derived thymic DCs can bring in antigen captured in the peripheral tissues upon homing to the thymus<sup>75, 76</sup>.

#### Regulatory T cell development

Despite the intricate mechanisms described above, negative selection in the thymus is not 100% efficient and there will always be some self-reactive T cells released into the periphery. Limiting the tissue-damaging effects of these cells is the main responsibility of regulatory T cells (Tregs), a specialized population of T cells that possesses immunosuppressive potential. The development and function of these cells is critically dependent on the transcription factor forkhead box P3 (Foxp3)<sup>77</sup> and absence of Tregs due to Foxp3-deficiency results in fatal multi-organ autoimmunity in both mice<sup>78</sup> and humans<sup>79</sup>. The vast majority of all Tregs developing in the thymus are CD4<sup>+</sup> (with only 3-4% being CD8<sup>+</sup>)<sup>80</sup> and their differentiation is believed to occur during a specific developmental window, as Treg potential decreases with longer medullary residency of CD4SP cells<sup>81</sup>. Of note, Tregs can also develop from naive peripheral CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells upon TCR stimulation in combination with transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) and IL-2 signals<sup>82</sup>. These peripherally induced Tregs (pTregs) are mostly found at intestinal tissues and carry TCR specificities for microbial and dietary antigens<sup>83</sup>. For the purpose of this thesis, I will focus solely on the development of thymic-derived Tregs (tTreg).

In the affinity model of T cell development where low affinity TCR engagement promotes positive selection while high affinity agonists lead to negative selection, tTreg development occurs in a window between the two over a broad range of affinity interactions, from intermediate conditions to those strong enough to induce negative selection<sup>84</sup>. The partly stochastic overlap between clonal diversion and clonal deletion has been demonstrated in TCR-transgenic mouse models where the same agonist ligand can induce both tTreg differentiation and apoptosis<sup>85, 86, 87</sup>. The signals determining the final fate of the developing thymocyte are not fully understood, although it has been suggested that additive signaling effects of multiple TCR interactions or alterations in thymocyte sensitivity might play a role<sup>88</sup>. Interestingly, the transcription factor Nur77 that has an important role in clonal deletion is also required for functional tTreg development<sup>60, 89</sup>, further underscoring the shared molecular complexity of negative selection and tTreg development.

Apart from TCR signaling strength, additional essential cues for tTreg differentiation are provided by signals downstream of the co-stimulatory receptor CD28 such as c-Rel<sup>90</sup>, with CD28- and c-Rel-deficient mice displaying dramatically reduced numbers of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> thymocytes<sup>91, 92</sup>. Furthermore, tTreg development is critically dependent on several  $\gamma_c$  cytokines such as IL-2, IL-7 and IL-15<sup>93</sup>, as demonstrated by the complete absence of Treg development in  $\gamma_c$ -deficient<sup>94</sup> and IL-2/IL-5 doubledeficient mice<sup>95</sup>. With regards to IL-2 it has recently been shown that both existing tTregs and recirculating pTregs can limit the niche for *de novo* tTreg development by sequestering IL-2, providing an additional role for IL-2 signaling in controlling the generation of tTregs<sup>96, 97</sup>.

#### Thymic egress

SP thymocytes have been shown to reside in the medulla for 4 to 5 days before exiting the thymus at the CMJ <sup>98</sup>, which allows them to undergo the necessary molecular and phenotypic changes required for thymic egress during post-selection maturation. Immature and mature SP thymocytes can be identified based on the expression of several surface molecules, some of which are known to play important roles in regulating thymic egress.

Thus, CD69+Qa2-CD24<sup>high</sup>CD62L<sup>low</sup> expression defines immature SP thymocytes that are sensitive to clonal deletion upon engagement of the TCR, while mature CD69<sup>-</sup>Qa2<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>low</sup>CD62L<sup>high</sup> SP thymocytes functionally resemble naive T cells in the periphery in the sense that they respond to agonistic TCR signaling by proliferation and cytokine production<sup>98</sup>. Furthermore, mature SP thymocytes upregulate the transcription factors forkhead box O1 (Foxo1) and Krüppel-like factor 2 (Klf2) that induce expression of CD62L and the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 (S1P1)<sup>99, 100, 101</sup>. While CD62L is required on naive T cells for entering lymph nodes (LNs) and gut-associated lymphoid tissues through interactions with its ligands glycosylation-dependent cell adhesion molecule 1 (GlyCAM-1) and mucosal vascular addressin cell adhesion molecule 1 (MAdCAM-1)<sup>102, 103</sup>, the G-protein coupled receptor S1P1 has a direct role in thymic emigration. Expression of S1P1 allows mature thymocytes to migrate towards an S1P gradient provided by thymic pericytes<sup>104</sup> and thymic endothelial cells lining the blood vessels of the CMJ<sup>105</sup>. Accordingly, the critical role of S1P1 in thymic output has been demonstrated by the impaired egress and intrathymic accumulation of S1P1-deficent thymocytes, causing a subsequent reduction in peripheral T cell numbers<sup>106</sup>. Importantly, S1P1 expression is suppressed by CD69, as binding of CD69 to the receptor induces its internalization and degradation<sup>107</sup>. This function as a negative regulator of S1P1 explains the absence of CD69 expression on mature SP thymocytes to enable their exit from the thymus.

Other regulators of thymic egress independent of the S1P-S1P1 axis have been suggested to include  $LT\beta R^{108}$  and  $IL-4R\alpha^{109}$ , and mice with  $LT\beta R$ - or  $IL-4R\alpha$ -deficiency both display intrathymic accumulation of mature CD69<sup>-</sup> CD62L<sup>high</sup> SP thymocytes<sup>108, 109</sup>, although further work is required to determine the exact role of these signaling pathways in thymic egress.

## Development of Thymic Epithelial Cells

TECs are the main component of the thymic microenvironment and together with other stromal cells such as thymic mesenchymal cells (TMC) and thymic DCs they provide the essential cues for the different stages of T cell development. The following section focuses on the development of cTEC and mTEC populations and the identity of TEC progenitors in the embryonic and adult thymus. Since cTEC and mTEC share a common bipotent origin during thymic development, I will first provide an overview of the molecular mechanisms regulating thymus organogenesis.

#### Thymus organogenesis

The developmental process of thymus formation includes the hallmarks of general organogenesis, such as positioning, initiation, outgrowth and patterning and finally, separation and differentiation (**Figure 2**). Regulation and control of these carefully coordinated steps is mediated by a network of transcription factors and growth factors, including the key regulator of TEC development, forkhead box N1 (Foxn1). Consistent with its critical role in maintaining TEC identity and cTEC/mTEC differentiation<sup>110</sup>, Foxn1 is indispensable for thymus organogenesis. Spontaneous homozygous loss-of-function mutation of Foxn1 occurring in *nude* mice, a hairless mouse mutant first described in the late 1960s<sup>111, 112</sup>, or directed disruption of the Foxn1 gene lead to formation of a hypoplastic thymus that is unable to support thymopoiesis<sup>113, 114, 115</sup>. Consequently, these mice, as well as humans carrying mutations in the Foxn1 gene, are severely immunocompromised due to lack of a functional T cell compartment<sup>114, 115, 116</sup>.



**Figure 2 - Overview of thymus organogensis.** The thymus develops from the third pharyngeal pouch (PP3) whose formation and axial identity are controlled by Pax1, Pax9, Fgf8 and Hoxa3. At E11, initiation of rudiment budding is under the control of the Hox-Pax-Eya-Six cascade as well as Tbx1. At the same time, neural crest-derived cells (NCC) start to encapsulate the primordium. From E11.5 further outgrowth and patterning of the shared thymus-parathyroid primordium are defined by Foxn1 expression in the ventral part marking the thymus anlagen while Gcm2 expression in the dorsal part identifies the prospective parathyroid domain. The first lymphoid progenitors enter the thymic domain at this time. At E12 separation of the shared primordia from the pharynx is complete and the physical association between thymus and parathyroid is lost by E13.

The fact that Foxn1-deficient mice are not entirely athymic but possess a developmentally arrested thymic rudiment indicates that the earliest steps of thymus organogenesis do not require Foxn1 expression<sup>114</sup>. Thus, thymus organogenesis can be divided into an initial Foxn1-independent phase and a later Foxn1-dependent phase.

#### Foxn1-independent events (E9 - E11.5)

The thymus arises from the third pharyngeal pouch (PP3) endoderm and its development is tightly linked to that of the parathyroid glands. Given the importance of the PP3 for thymus development, the genes controlling its formation (paired box gene 1 (Pax1), Pax9<sup>117, 118</sup>, Fibroblast growth factor 8 (Fgf8<sup>119</sup>) and axial identity (homeobox A3 (Hoxa3<sup>120</sup>) are of key importance for the positioning of the thymus anlagen around embryonic day (E)9.5 (Figure 2). Together with eyes absent homolog 1 (Eya1) and sine oculis homeobox homolog 1/4 (Six1, Six4), Hoxa3 and Pax1/9 form a transcriptional network, termed Hox-Pax-Eya-Six cascade, that mediates initiation of the thymus rudiment around E11 (Figure 2) and mutations in any of the genes involved in this regulatory cascade leads to defective PP3 formation and failure to initiate thymus organogenesis<sup>117, 118, 121, 122</sup>.

Apart from the Hox-Pax-Eya-Six cascade expression of the transcription factor T-box 1 (Tbx1) in the pharyngeal pouch endoderm is required for the formation and outgrowth of the PP3<sup>123</sup> and its deletion results in several clinical manifestations referred to as DiGeorge syndrome in humans, including absence or hypoplasia of the thymus and parathyroid glands, congenital heart disease and abnormal facies<sup>124</sup>.

Around E11, the outgrowing rudiment starts to be surrounded by neural crestderived cells (NCCs) (Figure 2), a migratory cell population of ectodermal origin that represent the embryonic precursors of the thymic mesenchymal cell (TMC) compartment<sup>125</sup>. Eventually these cells will give rise to the mesenchymal thymic capsule and pericytes associated with the thymic vasculature<sup>126, 127</sup>. The presence of NCCs is critically required for thymus organogenesis and ablation of this cell population results in defective thymus development<sup>128</sup>. Interestingly however, it has been shown that, despite their early accumulation around the thymic rudiment, NCCs are not required for initial organ formation from the PP3<sup>129</sup>. Instead, NCCs play a critical role later in development, during the establishment of thymus- and parathyroid-specific domains and for the separation from the pharynx<sup>130</sup>.

#### Foxn1-dependent events (from E11.5)

Following positioning and initial outgrowth of the organ rudiment, patterning of the thymus- and parathyroid domain as well as differentiation of the initial TEC precursors are required to complete thymus organogenesis. Both of these processes are critically dependent on Foxn1, whose expression can be detected from E11.5 onwards in the epithelial cells of the ventral part of the shared primordium<sup>131</sup>, marking the

prospective thymic domain. On the other hand, expression of the transcription factor glial cell missing 2 (Gcm2) in the dorsal part is required for parathyroid development<sup>132</sup> (**Figure 2**). Although it is not fully understood what regulates Foxn1-expression in the thymus domain, several signaling pathways including sonic hedgehog (Shh), bone morphogenic protein (Bmp), wingless-int (Wnt) and Fgf signaling have been implicated in the initial patterning of the thymus<sup>130</sup>, with NCCs being suggested as the source of key signaling molecules such as Bmp4 and Wnt4/Wnt5b<sup>133, 134, 135</sup>.

Expression of Foxn1 promotes the differentiation of the epithelium in the thymus domain into functional TECs and enables them to recruit and support the development of the first lymphoid progenitors entering at E11.5<sup>136</sup> (Figure 2), in part through expression of the Foxn1-target genes CCL25 and DLL4<sup>137</sup>. Accordingly, initial colonization of the thymus by lymphocyte precursors is regulated via CCR7- and CCR9-mediate cytokine signals, through production of the ligands CCL21 and CCL25 in the shared organ primordia<sup>136, 138</sup>. As the thymus rudiment is not vascularized at this point, the first lymphoid progenitors have to cross the surrounding mesenchyme before entering through the basement membrane<sup>126</sup>. From E13.5 (but not earlier), the presence of developing thymocytes is also required for continuous TEC differentiation and formation of the medulla, suggesting that TEC development relies on epithelial-epithelial and/or epithelial-mesenchymal interactions initially but requires lympho-stromal crosstalk eventually to generate a functional competent thymus<sup>139, 140</sup>.

The final steps of organogenesis include detachment of the shared primordia from the pharynx via apoptotic cell death by E12.0 and the subsequent separation of parathyroid and thymus domains by E12.5 (Figure 2), with both processes requiring the presence of neural crest-derived mesenchyme<sup>141</sup>. Consequently, pharyngeal detachment and parathyroid-thymus separation is delayed or completely absent in NCC-deficient mice<sup>129</sup>. Upon separation from their parathyroid counterparts, the two thymic lobes that were generated in parallel, each from one PP3 structure on either side of the pharynx, move towards their final anatomical location just above the heart where they come together by E16-17<sup>130</sup>. This final migration process concluding thymus organogenesis is also under the control of the surrounding NCCs, mediated at least in part by ephrin B2 signals<sup>142</sup>.

#### Ontogeny of thymic epithelial cells

Adult cTEC and mTEC compartments can be clearly distinguished based on the expression of signature surface molecules, co-stimulatory molecules and transcription factors<sup>143</sup>. In the embryonic thymus however, phenotypic definition of cTEC/mTEC lineages and, even more so, of their common bipotent progenitor, remains challenging. In the following section I will first discuss what is known about TEC differentiation in the embryonic and neonatal thymus before focusing on the recent findings concerning adult TEC progenitors (TEPCs) that are important for maintenance of the postnatal TEC compartment.

#### Early stages of TEC development

During thymus organogenesis both cTECs and mTECs derive from a common bipotent progenitor of endodermal origin that requires Foxn1 for further differentiation into distinct cTEC and mTEC lineages<sup>144, 145</sup>. While the phenotypic identity of this initial precursor population remains elusive, the downstream developmental progression towards mature cTEC and mTEC compartments is thought to occur via lineage-committed progenitors, a notion first supported by the finding that clonally derived 'islets' of mTEC-committed progenitors give rise to the thymic medulla<sup>146</sup>.

Using the cell surface markers CD205 and CD40, commonly used to identify cTEC and mTEC lineage in the adult, respectively<sup>147</sup>, it has been shown that the majority of embryonic TEC are CD205<sup>+</sup>CD40<sup>-</sup> around E12-13 and further progress through a CD205<sup>+</sup>CD40<sup>+</sup> intermediate state before eventually giving rise to CD205<sup>-</sup>CD40<sup>+</sup> cells<sup>148</sup>. Thus, embryonic TEC initially display a cTEC-like phenotype before subsequently acquiring mTEC-specific features, with CD205<sup>+</sup>CD40<sup>-</sup> TECs being able to give rise to both cTEC and mTEC lineages<sup>149</sup>. Together with the finding that mTECs are derived from progenitor cells that have expressed the cTEC-specific protease subunit  $\beta$ 5t during embryonic development<sup>150</sup>, these results support a 'serial progression model' of TEC development with a bipotent progenitor displaying cTEC-like features upstream of mTEC lineage-committed precursors<sup>151</sup>. In line with this, an IL-7<sup>+</sup> embryonic TEC population, defining a specialized subset of cTEC during ontogeny, could give rise to mTECs in reaggregate thymic organ cultures (RTOC)<sup>152</sup>. Interestingly however, the fact that IL-7<sup>-</sup> cells showed enhanced propensity to differentiate into mature mTECs compared to the IL-7<sup>+</sup> subset suggests the presence of direct mTEC precursors within the IL-7<sup>-</sup> TEC population, further

supporting the idea that both cTEC-like bipotent progenitors and more committed mTEC precursors contribute to the development of the mTEC lineage<sup>152</sup>.

Along these lines, a self-renewing embryonic subset of claudin-3/4 (Cld 3,4) <sup>high</sup> stagespecific embryonic antigen 1 (SSEA-1)<sup>+</sup> mTEC stem cells has recently been described to sustain long-term generation of mature mTECs capable of maintaining selftolerance<sup>153</sup>. Further analysis of these mTEC stem cells in regard to receptor activator of nuclear factor (NF)- $\kappa$ B (RANK) expression, a member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor super family (TNFRSF) critical for thymus medulla formation<sup>154</sup>, revealed a population of RANK<sup>+</sup> Cld3,4<sup>high</sup> SSEA-1<sup>-</sup> mTEC-committed progenitors downstream of RANK<sup>-</sup> mTEC stem cells<sup>155</sup>. Of note, RANK<sup>+</sup> mTEC progenitors were absent in mice deficient for the transcription factor RelB, another known regulator of medulla formation<sup>156</sup>, while mTEC stem cells were not affected<sup>155</sup>. Taken together, these findings suggest a possible regulatory mechanism controlling the generation of mTEC-committed progenitors from the mTEC stem cell pool in a RelB-dependent manner, with a subsequent requirement for RANK signaling.

In another study, embryonic precursors of Aire<sup>+</sup> mTEC (termed pMEC) were identified that expressed RANK in combination with the known cTEC markers Ly51 and cytokeratin (CK)-8<sup>157</sup>, and differentiation of these cells into Aire<sup>+</sup> mTEC required TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6)-dependent RANK signaling<sup>157</sup>. Furthermore, pMECs were shown to develop from an earlier RANK<sup>low</sup> progenitor (pro-pMEC) upon non-classical NF- $\kappa$ B activation by RANK and LT $\beta$ R signaling<sup>157</sup>. While the relationship between pMEC/pro-pMEC and mTEC stem cells remains unclear, these findings collectively underscore the importance of several TNFRSF members in controlling early mTEC lineage fate.

Compared to the progress made in understanding the differentiation of the mTEC lineage in the embryonic thymus, very little is known about the developmental stages of cTEC. So far it has proven difficult to identify lineage-committed cTEC progenitors, mainly owing to the cTEC-like phenotype of bipotent progenitors described above. Embryonic development of cTEC is thought to involve upregulation of CD40 and MHC class II by immature CD205<sup>+</sup>  $\beta$ 5t-expressing progenitors in a Foxn1-dependent manner<sup>148</sup>. Additionally, complete developmental progression to mature CD205<sup>+</sup> CD40<sup>high</sup> MHCII<sup>high</sup> cTEC has been shown to require the presence of DN1-3 thymocytes<sup>148</sup>, although the exact mechanisms through which thymocyte crosstalk promotes early cTEC development remain to be identified.
#### TEC progenitors in the postnatal thymus

The existence of TEC progenitors that continue to give rise to mature cTEC and mTEC in the postnatal thymus is strongly suggested by the fact that the thymus maintains the capacity to regenerate even in the adult<sup>158, 159</sup>. Moreover, the turnover rate for mature CD80<sup>+</sup> mTECs of 2 to 3 weeks indicates that this compartment must be continuously replenished by progenitor cells<sup>160, 161</sup>. In recent years, efforts have been made to identify putative TEC progenitors with stem-like characteristics in the adult, and while these studies have improved our understanding of how the postnatal TEC compartment might be maintained, there is still no consensus regarding their defining phenotype.

Importantly, the existence of adult bipotent TEC progenitors (TEPC) able to give rise to both cTEC and mTEC lineage has been demonstrated in *ex vivo* generated thymospheres of clonal origin<sup>162, 163</sup> and in *in vivo* studies using reaggregate thymic organ grafts and thymus transplants<sup>164, 165</sup>. TEPCs identified in these studies comprised a small population of self-renewing and largely quiescent cells, present at least up to 8 weeks of age<sup>162, 165</sup> and mature cTEC and mTEC progeny of bipotent TEPCs could be observed for as long as 9 months<sup>164</sup>. Taken together, these findings provide evidence for long-term generation of cTECs and mTECs from a rare subset of precursors displaying a stem/progenitor-phenotype present in the adult thymus.

Despite the overall agreement in the field regarding the existence of bipotent TEPCs in the adult, considerable uncertainty remains in terms of the phenotypic characteristics of these cells. While Wong et al. identified bipotent TEPCs as a subset of epithelial cell adhesion molecule 1 (EpCAM-1)<sup>+</sup> MHCII<sup>low</sup> cells that expressed high levels of stem cell-associated markers stem cell antigen 1 (Sca-1) and  $\alpha 6$  integrin<sup>165</sup>, Ulyanchenko et al. described these cells as being EpCAM<sup>+</sup> MHCII<sup>high</sup> and expressing high levels of placenta expressed transcript 1 (Plet1)<sup>164</sup>, known to mark bipotent progenitors in the embryonic thymus<sup>144</sup>. Even more surprising, thymosphere-forming TEPCs were negative for both EpCAM-1 and Foxn1<sup>162, 163</sup>, key markers of TEC identity expressed in the other TEPC population<sup>164, 165</sup>. However, whether this particular population of EpCAM-1<sup>-</sup> Foxn1<sup>-</sup> cells is able to sustain TEC progenitor potential under more physiological conditions remains to be seen. Regarding the spatial location of TEPCs, the CMJ has been proposed as a site enriched for bipotent TEPC populations within in the postnatal thymus<sup>165, 166</sup>, supporting the notion that progenitors replenishing both cortical and medullary areas would most likely reside at the interface between the two.

In addition to bipotent TEPCs, more restricted cTEC-164 or mTEC-lineage committed progenitor <sup>167, 168, 169</sup> have also been identified in the postnatal thymus. In this regard it is noteworthy that, in contrast to mTEC-lineage generation in the embryonic and neonatal phase, bipotent progenitors with cTEC-like features do not contribute significantly to mTEC generation in the adult<sup>168</sup>. Instead, maintenance and injury-induced regeneration of the adult mTEC compartment is mediated by lineage restricted mTEC-committed progenitors<sup>168, 169</sup>. In line with this, a small fraction of Cld3,4<sup>high</sup> SSEA-1<sup>+</sup> cells, corresponding to embryonic mTEC stem cells described above, could be detected in the adult thymus and was capable of giving rise to mature MHCII<sup>high</sup> mTECs<sup>153</sup>. Interestingly, the availability and clonogenic activity of these mTEC-committed precursors was negatively regulated by thymocyte development<sup>153</sup>, suggesting ongoing thymopoiesis as the most likely explanation for the observed decrease in mTEC stem cells after birth, a time in which thymocyte numbers expand rapidly. While the exact signals controlling this negative feedback loop are unknown, it is conceivable that the same thymocyte-derived signals driving mTEC maturation, such as RANK, CD40 and LTBR signaling<sup>108, 154, 170</sup>, are also involved in limiting TEC precursor frequency and activity.

### Functions of thymic epithelial cells

The thymic epithelium plays a vital role in all phases of T cell development, from the recruitment of early thymocyte progenitors to the egress of functionally mature T cells in to the periphery. As outlined above, thymocytes undergo differentiation and maturation while passing through the thymus and cTECs and mTECs express a range of surface molecules, cytokines, chemokines and transcription factors that support the distinct developmental events occurring in the cortex and medulla, respectively. The details of cTEC and mTEC functionality are discussed below, together with an overview of their phenotype in the adult thymus.

#### Phenotype and function of cortical epithelial cells

As a whole, TECs are defined as CD45<sup>-</sup> EpCAM<sup>+</sup> with cTECs further expressing CD205, Ly51 and the cytokeratins CK-8 and CK-18, all of which are markers commonly used to identify cTECs by flow cytometry or confocal microscopy<sup>171</sup>.

Supporting the early events of T cell development is a main function of cTECs (Figure 3). Consequently, cTECs produce several chemokines that regulate thymus seeding, including CCL25 and CXCL12, to attract thymocyte progenitors expressing the respective chemokine receptors CCR9 and CXCR4<sup>172</sup>. Although cTECs do not produce the CCR7-ligands CCL19 and CCL21, the CCR7/CCR9 axis of thymus homing might further be regulated by cTECs through expression of the atypical chemokine receptor 4 (ACKR4, also known as CCRL1). ACKR4 acts as a scavenger receptor for CCL19, CCL21 and CCL25, which limits the availability of CCR7 and CCR9 ligands in the thymus and thereby negatively controls thymic entry<sup>173, 174</sup>. However, later stages of T cell development seem to occur independent of ACKR4 as ACKR4-deficient mice display normal thymopoiesis and thymic output<sup>173, 174</sup>.



**Figure 3 - Functions of cortical thymic epithelial cells.** cTECs provide the essential cues to mediate homing of thymic precursors, commitment and differentiation of DN thymocytes (light blue) and positive selection of DP thymocytes (turquoise).

Apart from regulating colonization of the thymus, cTECs provide essential survival factors to the incoming progenitors and their immature thymocyte progeny (**Figure 3**). Production of the cytokines IL-7 and SCF by cTECs is required for the survival and proliferation of DN thymocytes<sup>25, 152</sup> and the expression of the membrane-bound Notch ligand Dll4 is critically required for the differentiation and T lineage commitment of thymocyte progenitors<sup>22, 23, 175</sup>. Of note, ongoing thymopoiesis induces downregulation of Dll4 on cTECs during ontogeny, suggesting a mechanism of control for early thymocyte development through negative regulation by DP thymocytes<sup>175</sup>.

The second key function of cTECs is to mediate and regulate positive selection of DP thymocytes bearing functional TCRs that are capable of recognizing self-peptide/MHC complexes (Figure 3). An intricate machinery of protein degradation and antigen presentation allows cTECs to present a unique array of self-peptides in

39

the context of MHC class I and II molecules. In contrast to most other cell types, cTECs display high levels of constitutive macroautophagy, enabling the constant degradation of intracellular proteins to be loaded on MHC class II complexes<sup>176</sup>. Impaired autophagy due to disruption of the autophagy-related gene 5 (ATG5) leads to alterations in the generation and selection of MHC class II-restricted CD4SP thymocytes, suggesting a role for autophagy in shaping the TCR repertoire of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>177</sup>.

Regarding positive selection of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, two cTEC-specific lysosomal proteases, cathepsin L and TSSP, have been shown to be critically involved in MHC class II antigen processing and presentation. In addition to its role in MHC class II heterodimer assembly, cathepsin L is important for the generation of positively selecting MHC class II peptide ligands, with cathepsin L-deficiency resulting in impaired CD4SP selection and reduced peripheral CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers<sup>36</sup>. By contrast, mice deficient for TSSP have normal levels of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, despite reduced frequencies of MHCII<sup>high</sup> cTECs<sup>37</sup>. However, a near complete absence of CD4SP thymocytes in TSSP-deficient MHC class II-restricted TCR transgenic mouse models indicated that TSSP is required for positive selection of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in a monoclonal setting<sup>37</sup>. Along these lines, it was later shown in a polyclonal setting that TSSP is required CD4SP thymocytes<sup>178</sup>. Collectively, these results suggest that TSSP in cTECs contributes to the diversification of the positively selected CD4SP TCR repertoire.

In terms of MHC class I antigen processing required for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell selection cTECs are unique in the expression of the thymoproteasome, a specialized type of proteasome where the regular  $\beta$ 5 subunit (encoded by the gene PSMB5) is replaced by the  $\beta$ 5t subunit (encoded by the gene PSMB11)<sup>179</sup>. Incorporation of the  $\beta$ 5t subunit allows for the generation of unique MHC class I-associated peptide motifs that represent primarily low affinity TCR ligands, thus facilitating the positive selection of CD8SP thymocytes<sup>180</sup>. Accordingly, positive selection is severely impaired in the absence of the  $\beta$ 5t subunit, leading to reduced generation and functional impairment of CD8SP thymocytes that display a limited TCR repertoire<sup>38</sup>. Moreover, peripheral CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells of  $\beta$ 5t-deficient mice display reduced TCR responsiveness, altered response to viral and bacterial infection and defects in maintaining the naive T cell pool<sup>38, 181</sup>, further supporting the important role of  $\beta$ 5t in cTECs for the selection and functionality of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

Apart from the expression of protease systems that directly regulate positive selection, cTECs also influence positive selection events in their function as morphologically specialized thymic nurse cells (TNCs). These complexes consist of one individual cTEC enclosing several DP thymocytes and represent about 10% of the cTEC compartment<sup>182, 183</sup>. Importantly, TNCs provide a microenvironment for optimizing positive selection via receptor editing, as the enclosed DP thymocytes within the TNC complex are undergoing secondary rearrangement of the TCRα chain<sup>183</sup>.

#### Phenotype and function of medullary epithelial cells

Common markers for postnatal mTEC populations include CK-5 and CK-14 as well ERTR5, MTS10 and the lectin UEA-1. Additionally, and in contrast to cTECs for which no clearly defined subsets have been described, mTECs can be further subdivided based on expression levels of CD80 and MHC class II. Thus, two main subsets of CD80<sup>-</sup>MHCII<sup>low</sup> mTEC (mTEC<sup>lo</sup>) and CD80<sup>+</sup>MHCII<sup>high</sup> mTEC (mTEC<sup>hi</sup>) exist in the medulla, with the mTEC<sup>hi</sup> subset supposed to originate from progenitors within the mTEC<sup>lo</sup> compartment<sup>184</sup>.

The key function of mTECs is to establish central tolerance by eliminating selfreactive TCR specificities within the newly generated SP thymocyte pool during negative selection (**Figure 4**). Additionally, mTECs are critical for the development of tTregs that represent an important mechanism of control for autoreactive T cells that have managed to escape into the periphery. Essential to both these processes is the mTEC-specific ability to present an extensive array of TRAs by several means of promiscuous gene expression<sup>185</sup>.



**Figure 4 - Functions of medullary thymic epithelial cells.** mTECs produce cytokines to mediate homing of CD4SP (blue) and CD8SP (green) thymoyctes to the medulla where they eliminate potentially autoreactive SP thymocytes via negative selection or by inducing Treg development. Homing and positioning of thymic DCs is also controlled by mTECs and DCs further support negative selection as they can cross-present mTEC-derived tissue-restricted antigens.

The first transcription identified to control promiscuous gene expression of TRAs in mTECs was Aire, whose expression is restricted to a subset of mTEC<sup>hi</sup> cells<sup>65</sup>. Loss-of-function mutations of Aire cause autoimmune polyendrocrine syndrome type 1 (APS-1) in humans, a disease associated with formation of autoantibodies against several endocrine targets and complex autoimmunity affecting multiple organs<sup>186</sup>. A similar organ-specific autoimmune phenotype has been observed in mice deficient for Aire and these mice have been of use in understanding the extend of Aire-dependent promiscuous gene expression for central tolerance induction<sup>65, 187, 188</sup>.

On a molecular level, Aire employs several mechanisms of epigenetic regulation and cooperates with other transcriptional regulators to initiate expression of tissue-specific genes that are typically silenced in other cells of the body. Of note, Aire target genes are enriched for repressive histone 3 (H3) marks such as H3K4me0, H3K27me3 and

H3K9me3 that indicate transcriptionally inactive chromatin sites<sup>189</sup>. Aire can bind to these silencing marks and induce local histone modifications and chromatin remodeling that allow for activation of gene transcription, possibly through H3K4 methylation and/or H3/H4 acetylation<sup>190, 191</sup>. Additionally, Aire can interact with several cofactors such as cyclin T and cyclin-dependent kinase 9, to initiate release of stalled RNA polymerase II at target gene promoter sites<sup>192, 193, 194</sup>. Recently, the protein deacetylase sirtuin-1 (Sirt1) that is highly expressed in mTEC<sup>hi</sup> cells has been identified as a direct regulator for Aire-dependent expression of TRA genes. Sirt1 controls Aire activity through regulation of its acetylation status and Sirt1-deficiency leads to an autoimmune phenotype that resembles that of Aire-deficient mice<sup>195</sup>.

As mentioned previously, mTECs are thought to express more than 18.000 genes<sup>68</sup>, significantly more than any other cell types in the body, and the fact that Aire is only accounting for the expression of about 3.000 to 4.000 of these genes suggests additional Aire-independent mechanisms of promiscuous gene expression<sup>67, 68, 69</sup>. In this regard, the transcription factor Fezf2 has been shown to control the expression of a number of Aire-independent TRA transcripts that are essential for maintaining central tolerance<sup>66</sup>. Importantly, and in contrast to Aire, Fezf2 expression is not limited to a subset of mTEC<sup>hi</sup> cells but is detectable in mTEC<sup>lo</sup> and mTEC<sup>hi</sup> cells alike<sup>66</sup>, indicating that the mTEC compartment as a whole might be capable of promiscuous gene expression of TRAs via Aire-independent mechanisms, many of which are yet to be identified.

Apart from mTECs, thymic DCs are also involved in negative selection and tTreg development and their homing to the medulla is controlled by mTECs (Figure 4). Production of the cytokine XCL1 by mTECs ensures the correct positioning of CD8 $\alpha^+$  conventional DCs (cDCs) that express the relevant chemokine receptor, XCR1<sup>196, 197</sup>. Medullary accumulation of CD8 $\alpha^+$  cDCs is abrogated in XCL1-deficient mice, leading to the development of thymocytes with enhanced autoimmune potential and reduced tTreg numbers<sup>197</sup>, suggesting that intrathymically derived CD8 $\alpha^+$  cDCs might play a non-redundant role in maintaining central tolerance and tTreg development. While extrathymically derived SIRP $\alpha^+$  cDCs and plasmacytoid DCs also contribute to establishing central tolerance in the thymus, notably by capturing and presenting peripheral and blood-borne antigen<sup>72,75</sup>, it is unclear whether mTECs also play a role in the homing of these thymic DCs subsets.

In terms of thymocyte homing, mTECs provide the chemokine CCL21, a ligand for CCR7 expressed by newly generated CD4SP and CD8SP thymocytes that guides their migration to the medulla (**Figure 4**). In mice displaying abrogated CCR7 interactions, caused by CCR7-deficiency or loss of CCR7 ligands, thymocytes that have completed positive selection cannot home to the medulla<sup>198</sup>. While conventional T cell development can still progress in the absence of mTEC interactions<sup>199</sup>, the emerging peripheral T cell pool will only undergo incomplete negative selection and thus lack tolerance to several TRAs<sup>199, 200, 201</sup>.

Lastly, mTECs are also involved in controlling thymic egress of mature SP thymocytes. As outlined above, expression of S1P1 and downregulation of its negative regulator CD69 enables SP thymocytes to follow an S1P gradient towards the site of exit at the CMJ. Maintaining low levels of S1P in medullary areas distant from the vascular exit sites is essential for facilitating thymic egress and mTECs regulate upkeep of the S1P gradient by expressing enzymes that inactivate and degrade S1P, such as lipid phosphate phosphatase 3 (LPP3)<sup>202</sup> and S1P lyase<sup>203</sup>. Importantly, the targeted deletion of LPP3 expression specifically in mTECs leads to increased intrathymic levels of S1P and an accumulation of mature thymocytes within the medulla, indicative of impaired thymic egress<sup>202</sup>. Thus, mTECs can directly control medullary residence of mature SP thymocytes by influencing S1P levels.

# Chapter 2. Peripheral T Cell Functions

Having completed the T cell development program described in chapter 1, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells leave the thymus and enter the peripheral circulation. Newly generated T cells are referred to as recent thymic emigrants (RTEs), representing a subset of the naive T cell pool that continues phenotypic and functional maturation in the periphery for about three weeks<sup>204</sup>. Entry into secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs) such as spleen and LNs is essential for RTE maturation and SLOs are also the place where mature naive T cells become activated once they encounter their cognate antigen presented to them by APCs. Activation of naive T cells leads to the production of effector T cells that fulfill various functions during the ongoing immune response. Whereas CD8+ effector T cells are generally cytotoxic and can directly mediate killing of their target cell, CD4<sup>+</sup> effector T cells are more diverse and are commonly divided into different T helper (Th) subsets based on their cytokine secretion profile and transcription factor expression. The best-characterized Th subsets include Th1, Th2 cells and Th17 cells that are implicated in the immune response against intracellular pathogens, parasitic helminthes and extracellular bacteria and fungi, respectively.

As CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses are a major focus of Paper II of this thesis, the following chapter will focus on the activation of naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, their effector functions as CTLs and the formation of various CD8<sup>+</sup> memory subsets.

## Priming of naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells

The activation of naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells upon initial antigen encounter is referred to as priming and drives clonal expansion and differentiation events that initiate the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector response. Apart from interactions between the TCR and cognate peptide-MHC class I complexes presented by the APC (most likely to be a DC), costimulation by the same APC is a key prerequisite for the priming of naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. The requirement for a simultaneous second signal ensures that no effector

responses are being generated against self-antigens that naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells might encounter on any MHC class I-bearing tissue cell. Importantly, in cases where antigen recognition occurs in the absence of co-stimulatory signals the naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell becomes anergic, which means it does not proliferate but instead enters a longterm hyporesponsive state<sup>205</sup> that cannot be overcome, even if a secondary antigen encounter occurs in the context of co-stimulation<sup>206</sup>. Thus, clonal anergy represents an important mechanism of control during CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell priming and is essential for maintaining peripheral tolerance.

In terms of the co-stimulatory signals involved in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell priming, CD28 engagement by B7 molecules (CD80 and CD86) expressed on activated DCs is crucial for the expression of IL-2 and the high affinity IL-2R complex by naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Figure 5). Consequently, increasing levels of available IL-2 and enhanced IL-2 responsiveness promote proliferation and differentiation into effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Whereas CD28 is constitutively expressed on naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, B7 molecules are only induced on mature DCs that must undergo activation themselves before they can activate CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. While in some settings the inflammatory signals elicited during the early infection phase can be strong enough to induce co-stimulatory activity in DCs, most CD8<sup>+</sup> effector responses require the help of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells for DC maturation<sup>207</sup>. In the latter case, binding of a CD4<sup>+</sup> effector cell specific for the antigen presented by the DC initiates a two-sided activation of both partners via CD40-CD40L interactions that results in upregulation of co-stimulatory B7 molecules on the DC and the production of IL-2 by the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell (Figure 5).



**Figure 5 - Mechnism of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help during DC-mediated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell priming.** Recognition of MHCII-bound antigen on the DC by a CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell induces CD40-CD40L interactions between the two, leading to activation of both DC and CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell. As a result if this, the CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell produces IL-2 and the DC starts to express high levels of co-stimulatory B7 molecules required for optimal priming of a naive CD8<sup>+</sup>T cell that expresses CD28 and the antigen-specific TCR. Integration of proximal TCR signaling and co-stimulatory signals induces the expression of the high affinity IL-2R and autocrine production of IL-2 to enhance IL-2-mediated proliferation and differentiation into CD8<sup>+</sup> effector T cells. Inflammatory cytokines (not pictured) can further enhance the CD8<sup>+</sup> effector response.

Various virus infection models have been used to study CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses and while CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell priming in response to viral antigen often requires help from CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, for example during herpes simplex virus (HSV)<sup>208, 209</sup> and vaccinia virus infections<sup>210</sup>, it can occur in the absence of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells during infections with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV)<sup>211</sup> and influenza virus<sup>212</sup>. The mechanism of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help is thought to compensate for a weak inflammatory milieu during antigen acquisition<sup>207</sup> and indeed the amount of interferon (IFN)- $\alpha/\beta$ produced during the innate response against viral infections has been shown to influence the requirement for CD4 T cell help<sup>210, 211, 213</sup>. Thus, abrogating IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ secretion can render the normally helper-independent CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response to

LCMV infection helper-dependent<sup>211</sup>, while increased IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  levels can circumvent helper-dependency in vaccinia virus infections<sup>210, 213</sup>.

In addition to type I interferons, other inflammatory cytokines have been shown to play an important role during CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell priming, most notably IL-12 and IL-15, and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help has been shown in different settings to be required for the provision of these inflammatory cytokines by DCs<sup>210, 214, 215</sup>. A recent study investigating how the same mechanism of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help, i.e. CD40 signaling, can result in various cytokine secretion profiles, proposed that rather than considering CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help as a substitute for innate signaling, it appears to act as an amplifier of said signals, thereby promoting pathogen-specific cytokine release by DCs<sup>216</sup>. In line with this, increasing innate signaling strength through high concentrations of toll-like receptor (TLR)-stimulating adjuvants was sufficient to induce inflammatory cytokine production by DCs at levels required for optimal CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell priming<sup>216</sup>.

With regards to the downstream molecular effects of cytokine signaling received by naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell during the priming phase, IL-2 and IL-12 both mediate expression of the transcriptional repressor Blimp1<sup>217</sup>, which together with the transcription factor T-bet, a target of Blimp1 that is further induced by IL-12<sup>218</sup>, is essential during terminal effector differentiation<sup>219, 220</sup>. Importantly, during the generation of the primary effector response the expanding CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell population is functionally and phenotypically heterogeneous and can be divided into short-lived effector cells (SLEC), representing terminally differentiated cells with optimal effector functions that will undergo apoptosis once the infectious agent has been cleared; and memory precursor effector cells (MPEC) that are long-lived and contribute to the formation of the antigen-specific memory population that remains after clearance of the infection<sup>221, 222</sup>. Whereas Blimp1 and T-bet, together with additional transcription factors such as Id2 and Zeb2<sup>223, 224</sup>, have been reported to be essential for SLEC differentiation, the formation of MPECs is promoted by Eomes, Id3, Bcl6 and Tcf1<sup>223, 225, 226, 227</sup>. Consequently, deficiency of Blimp1 or T-bet leads to impaired generation and functionality of the SLEC compartment with a concomitant skewing towards the MPEC lineage<sup>218, 219, 220</sup>, while IL-12-dependent suppression of Tcf1 during T cell priming promotes SLEC functions<sup>228</sup>.

How exactly SLEC and MPEC populations are being generated during clonal expansion of a single naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell is not completely understood, although asymmetrical partitioning of key transcription factors during the first rounds of cell

division is thought to play a role<sup>229, 230</sup>, most likely in combination with additional modulation through the cytokine environment<sup>228</sup>.

### CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector functions

A strong CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector response is usually observed in infections with intracellular pathogens such as viruses and certain bacteria that live and replicate within host cells. To avoid further spread of the pathogen the preferred way to clear the infection is by eliminating the infected cell by inducing apoptosis to ensure the coordinated breakdown of all cellular compartments, including any infectious pathogen-derived material. CD8+ effector T cells (termed CTL hereafter, for cytotoxic T lymphocyte) have several means to induce apoptosis once they encounter a target cell, depicted in Figure 6 and further discussed below. Importantly, CTL activity does not require co-stimulation through CD28-B7 interactions, meaning the presentation of cognate antigen on MHC class I molecules, that are ubiquitously expressed, is enough to induce cytotoxicity. This is important as virtually any body cell, not only APCs, can be infected or show signs of malignant transformation and thus need to be targetable for CTLs. In fact, during the course of the effector response CTLs upregulate inhibitory co-stimulatory molecules such as CTLA-4 which are crucial in limiting the proliferative capacities and mediating the eventual termination of the immune response.



Figure 6 - Effector functions of cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes (CTLs) upon target cell encounter.

Upon encounter and recognition of a target cell, CTLs increase their cytokine production, most notably of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . Whereas TNF- $\alpha$  occurs both in membrane-bound and soluble form and induces apoptosis through binding of the TNFR1 on the surface of target cells, IFN- $\gamma$  can directly inhibit viral replication and activate macrophages. Furthermore, IFN- $\gamma$  induces enhanced antigen processing and presentation by MHC class I molecules which increases the chance of recognition of infected cells by other CTLs<sup>231</sup>. Cytokine production by CTLs is one effector mechanism that acts globally and affects more cells than the initial target cell itself.

A more directed mode of action is the concentrated release of cytotoxic granules containing perforin and several serine proteases called granzymes. Cytotoxic granules are synthesized already during the priming phase and subsequent TCR engagement of the CTL induces initial degranulation and *de novo* synthesis of perforin and

granzymes to ensure continuous release of cytotoxic granules. Moreover, in order to avoid bystander killing and limit tissue damage, the release of these granules is highly directed, with the CTL orientating its secretory domain, including the Golgi network, towards the site of contact with the target cell marked by clusters of TCR:MHC complexes<sup>232, 233</sup>. This directed release of cytotoxic granules is crucial as the proteins within are non-specific and will trigger apoptosis in any cell they encounter. While perforin is essential in mediating the entry of granzymes into the cytosol by forming pores in the plasma membrane, granzymes themselves are responsible for inducing apoptosis of the target cell by activating caspase-3 cascade and causing mitochondrial cytochrome c release<sup>234, 235</sup>. CTLs themselves are protected from the cytotoxic proteins they release by lysosomal enzymes, notably cathepsin B, that are brought to the cell surface during degranulation. Surface cathepsin B maintains its proteolytic function even extracellularly and can inactivate perforin, thereby ensuring CTL membrane integrity and avoiding entry of granzymes into the cytosol<sup>236</sup>. However, mice deficient for cathepsin B display normal CTL survival upon degranulation<sup>237</sup>, suggesting a certain level of redundancy regarding membrane-bound proteases and/or perforin inhibitors involved in CTL protection.

Lastly, CTLs can induce apoptosis through engagement of the first apoptosis signal receptor (Fas), a death receptor of the TNFR super family whose binding induces caspase-mediated apoptosis. Importantly, the fact that Fas expression is upregulated in activated T and B cells while CTLs themselves express both Fas ligand<sup>187</sup> and the Fas receptor, provides an important role for Fas-FasL interactions in regulating the numbers of CTLs and other activated lymphocytes<sup>238</sup>. This negative feedback function of Fas-mediated apoptosis by CTLs is crucial in the contraction phase of the immune response, after the pathogen has been cleared and the effector response needs to be shut down. Consequently, mutations in Fas- or FasL-encoding genes cause autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome (ALPS) in humans, a disease characterized by massive accumulation of activated T cells and high levels of autoantibodies due to insufficient control of the adaptive effector response<sup>239</sup>.

In addition to the key effector functions described above that mainly have the purpose to induce target cell killing, CTLs have also been shown to be major producers of the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10 during acute viral infections affecting the lung and brain<sup>240, 241, 242</sup>. Of note, IL-10 production at the peripheral sites of infection was enriched in CTLs with superior killing capacities (increased production of granzyme B, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ ), suggesting that IL-10 produced by

highly cytotoxic effector cells plays an important role in minimizing inflammation in the surrounding tissue, especially in areas with limited regenerative potential such as the brain<sup>240</sup>. In this regard, IL-10 production by CTLs represents an additional key effector function that is essential for maintaining a balance between cytotoxicity directed against infected cells and protection of healthy tissue from inflammatory effects.

### CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell memory

The massive clonal expansion of individual naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells upon primary antigen encounter is estimated to produce up to 10<sup>7</sup> cytotoxic effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells within one week after the infection<sup>243</sup> that serve to eliminate pathogen-infected cells. Following resolution of the infection, the vast majority of CTLs will undergo apoptosis, leaving only between 5% and 10% of the expanded effector pool to survive and differentiate into long-lived memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>243</sup>. One obvious benefit of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cell generation is the long-lasting increase in the number of antigenspecific cells that can react to a recurring infection of the same pathogen. Additionally, CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells possess certain qualities that allow them to respond in a faster and stronger manner to an infection, compared to their naive counterparts.

Before discussing the details of memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell functionality, I will give a brief overview of the three major subsets of antigen-experienced CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells and introduce the concept of 'virtual memory' cells whose development occurs independent of prior antigen encounter.

### Subsets of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells

 $CD8^+$  memory T cells can be distinguished into central memory (T<sub>CM</sub>), effector memory (T<sub>EM</sub>) and tissue-resident memory (T<sub>RM</sub>) subsets that differ in regards to surface receptor expression and anatomical location within the body.

#### Central memory and effector memory cells

 $T_{CM}$  and  $T_{EM}$  cells represent recirculating CD8<sup>+</sup> memory subsets, with CD62L<sup>high</sup> CCR7<sup>high</sup>  $T_{CM}$  cells preferentially residing in SLOs and CD62L<sup>low</sup> CCR7<sup>low</sup>  $T_{EM}$  cells mostly recirculating throughout the whole body. Both of these subsets can be differentiated from naive cells based on their expression of CD44, IL-7Ra (CD127) and IL-2R $\beta$ /IL-15R $\beta$  (CD122), however they differ slightly in their response to re-encountered antigen. While  $T_{EM}$  cells can rapidly produce inflammatory cytokines and release cytotoxic granules,  $T_{CM}$  cells lack these immediate effector functions and require more time to eventually differentiate into effector cells<sup>244</sup>. However,  $T_{CM}$  cells are important producers of IL-2 and have increased proliferative potential compared to  $T_{EM}$  cells, including self-renewal capacities<sup>245</sup>. Their preferred anatomical location provides the prerequisite for  $T_{EM}$  and  $T_{CM}$  functions as early responders at peripheral sites of infection and controllers of systemic infections, respectively, although their ability to recirculate enables them to functionally complement each other at any site in the body.

#### Tissue-resident memory cells

More recently, a third subset of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory cells has been identified that is not found in circulation but permanently resides within peripheral tissues; accordingly this subset is referred to as  $T_{RM}$  cells<sup>246, 247</sup>. While  $T_{RM}$  cells have been identified in various lymphoid and non-lymphoid organs (including brain<sup>248, 249</sup>, kidneys<sup>250, 251</sup>, liver<sup>252</sup> and pancreas<sup>250</sup>), they are mostly recognized for their role in maintaining protection of mucosal barrier surfaces in the intestine, the lungs, the female reproductive tract and the skin<sup>253</sup>. Within mucosal tissues T<sub>RM</sub> cells are often found in association with the epithelium, which represents the common route of infection for many pathogens. Consequently, T<sub>RM</sub> cells are characterized by a number of surface molecules that are important in confining their distinct localization, including CD69 and the integrins  $\alpha E$  (CD103) and  $\alpha 1$  (CD49a)<sup>253</sup>. In its role as S1P1-antagonist CD69 generally restricts egress of T<sub>RM</sub> cells from the tissue<sup>254</sup>, while CD103 mediates accumulation and maintenance within the epithelium through binding of its ligand E-cadherin<sup>250, 255, 256</sup>, a cell adhesion molecule expressed by various types of epithelial cells<sup>257</sup>. Similarly, CD49a, in its function as part of the collagen IV-binding integrin dimer VLA-1, acts to position T<sub>RM</sub> cells in close proximity to collagen-rich areas of intestinal and lung epithelium<sup>258, 259</sup>. Collectively, their exclusive tissue-residence and preferential localization to epithelial sites within mucosal tissues specifically indicates the importance of T<sub>RM</sub> cells in responding to recurring local infections.

#### Virtual memory cells

A common feature of all three memory subsets described above is the fact that their development is initiated during a primary immune response that includes clonal expansion of antigen-specific effector cells. Hence, these memory cells are antigen-experienced and continue to survey the peripheral circulation or previously infected tissue for recurrence of their cognate antigen. Interestingly however, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells displaying a CD44<sup>high</sup> CD122<sup>high</sup> memory phenotype have been shown to exist in healthy wild type mice that have never be challenged with foreign antigen<sup>260</sup>. While it remains possible that some of these memory-like cells arise in response to certain environmental antigens such as food- or microbiota-derived antigens, the fact that memory-like CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were found in in pathogen-free and germ-free mice<sup>260</sup>, as well as in mice kept on a food antigen-free diet<sup>261</sup> strongly indicates that their development is independent of antigen recognition.

In order to discriminate them from 'true' memory subsets generated in response to a particular antigen, these antigen-inexperienced memory cells were termed virtual memory ( $T_{VM}$ ) cells<sup>262</sup>. The  $T_{VM}$  phenotype bears a striking resemblance to that of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells undergoing homeostatic proliferation in lymphopenic hosts, a process that is mostly cytokine-driven and requires low-level stimulation by MHC molecules<sup>263, 264, 265</sup>. In line with these similarities, it was shown that  $T_{VM}$  development is critically dependent on the cytokine IL-15, as these cells are absent from IL-15 deficient mice and mice lacking the IL-15R $\beta$  chain CD122 on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>266</sup>. Additionally, the expansion of the  $T_{VM}$  pool is further controlled by IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  that stimulate proliferation and lead to increased IL-15 sensitivity, respectively<sup>267, 268</sup>. Regarding the cellular source of the signals controlling  $T_{VM}$  generation and expansion it has been shown that CD8 $\alpha^+$  cDCs are key mediators of  $T_{VM}$  development, largely due to their ability to *trans*-present IL-15<sup>266</sup>.

 $T_{VM}$  cells are generated in the periphery from naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that display high levels of CD5, a marker indicative of TCR signaling strength during positive selection, suggesting that naive cells with particularly strong affinities for self-peptides are most likely to develop into  $T_{VM}$  cells<sup>269</sup>. Given the fact that  $T_{VM}$  cells primarily respond to inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12, IL-15 and IL-18, rather than cognate TCR stimulation, it might be beneficial to promote the differentiation of high affinity TCR-bearing naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells into  $T_{VM}$  cells to limit the risk of self-reactive T cell responses<sup>269</sup>.

#### Functions of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells

In order to fulfill their purpose of providing long lasting antigen-specific protection, memory T cells formed during the primary response need to be maintained in the periphery over an extensive period of time. In contrast to the survival of naive cells, homeostasis of the CD8<sup>+</sup> memory pool does not require contact with self-MHC complexes and is instead regulated by a combination of IL-7 and IL-15 that promote the survival and intermittent proliferation of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells<sup>270</sup>. Consequently, IL-7- or IL-15-deficienct mice display markedly reduced numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells due to failed memory formation and/or impaired long-term maintenance after infection<sup>271, 272, 273</sup>.

Reactivation of antigen-experienced memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells does not only occur in response to antigenic signals but also, similar to activation of  $T_{VM}$  cells, in response to the inflammatory milieu established by innate sentinel cells upon pathogen encounter. Production of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-12, IL-15 and IL-18 by distinct subsets of cDCs, inflammatory monocytes and tissue-resident macrophages rapidly initiates cell-intrinsic activation and cell cycle entry and can induce IFN- $\gamma$  release and differentiation of memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells into cytotoxic effector cells<sup>274, 275, 276, 277, 278</sup>. Additionally, sensing of chemokines produced by myeloid sentinel cells initiates the recruitment of circulating CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells to the site of infection via chemotaxis, notably through CXCR3-dependent migration in response to IFN- $\gamma$ -induced CXCL9 and CXCL10<sup>279</sup>.

While antigen-independent mechanisms such as cytokine and chemokine sensing play a vital role in initiating and boosting memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation, recognition of cognate antigen is necessary to drive full effector cell expansion, especially in the case of  $T_{RM}$  cells<sup>280, 281, 282</sup>. Furthermore, antigen recognition promotes sustained IFN- $\gamma$ release and the production of chemokines such as CCL3, CCL4 and CCL5 by activated memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells which in turn mediates the recruitment of additional innate effector cells including NK cells, macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils<sup>283, 284</sup>. This key role of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells as orchestrators of secondary immune responses has been further demonstrated in a model of *Listeria monocytogenes* infection where protection of vaccinated mice is fully dependent on the presence of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory cells but not on their ability to express perforin or mediate Fasinduced apoptosis<sup>285</sup>. Instead, clearance of the bacterium was mediated by TNF- $\alpha$ 

produced by activated monocytes and neutrophils whereas activated  $CD8^+$  memory cells were required for the initial recruitment of these cells<sup>286</sup>.

Taken together, CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells are activated by a combination of both antigen-independent and antigen-dependent signals and the interplay between the two ensures a faster and improved response to secondary infections. Moreover, the functions of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells are more multi-faceted than previously thought and comprise several effector mechanisms in addition to their reinstated cytotoxic capacities, including the recruitment of various innate immune cells that contribute to the rapid clearance of a recurring pathogen.

# Chapter 3. Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in Lymphoid Organs

Stromal cells fulfill essential immunoregulatory functions in lymphoid organs that support the lymphocyte development and activation events described in chapter 1 and 2. As discussed previously, epithelial stromal cells are of particular importance for thymic function and while they represent the major stromal subset in the thymus they do require crosstalk with another subset of mesenchymal stromal cells for their own expansion and maintenance. Similarly, while lacking an epithelial stroma compartment, LNs contain distinct subsets of mesenchymal stromal cells that mediate lymphocyte survival and facilitate the interactions of naive T and B cells with APCs. Despite their significant role in the regulation of adaptive immune cell development and functionality, little is known about the ontogeny and developmental relationship of thymic and LN mesenchymal cells. In Paper III of this thesis we investigate these questions and further define the heterogeneous and previously poorly characterized thymic mesenchymal compartment in detail. Therefore, the following chapter aims to provide an overview of the state of knowledge regarding thymic and LN mesenchymal cells prior to the publication of Paper III.

### Functions of thymic mesenchyme

The thymic mesenchymal cell (TMC) compartment is primarily derived from neural crest cells, a multipotent population of ectodermal origin that is indispensable for the correct development and migration of the embryonic thymus (see also the section **Thymus Organogenesis**). During embryogenesis, NC-derived mesenchymal cells initially form the capsule wrapping around the emerging thymus rudiment at E12 and continue to colonize the inner core where they associate with the developing vasculature, with a subset of those cells acquiring pericyte- and vascular smooth muscle cell-characteristics by E15<sup>126, 127</sup>. The presence of TMCs during early thymic

development is essential for the proliferation of TECs, with removal of the TMC compartment by E12 leading to the formation of a hypoplastic thymus<sup>287</sup>. The positive regulation of TEC turnover by TMCs has been attributed to the provision of several growth factors including Fgf7 and Fgf10<sup>288, 289</sup>, as well as insulin growth factors (Igf)1 and Igf2<sup>287</sup>. However, embryonic TMCs are also a major intrathymic source of the vitamin A metabolite retinoic acid (RA) that limits TEC expansion<sup>290</sup>, indicating that TMCs can both positively and negatively control TEC proliferation. Importantly, the fact that TMCs continue to express the above-mentioned growth factors and RA also in the adult thymus<sup>290, 291</sup>, suggests that TMCs may represent important regulators of TEC homeostasis throughout life.

In addition to the TEC compartment, TMCs also directly influence thymopoiesis by providing signals to developing thymocytes. Thus, the expression of DN thymocyte survival factors such as Flt3 ligand<sup>292, 293</sup> and SCF<sup>291</sup> by TMCs suggests a role in maintaining the early thymocyte progenitor pool. Furthermore, TMCs have been shown to produce CXCL12 and CCL19<sup>291</sup>, indicating a potential role of these cells in controlling homing of thymocyte precursors and migration of positively selected thymocytes. Lastly, the pericyte-like subset of the TMC compartment is instrumental in regulating thymic egress, due to the expression of S1P-generating enzymes sphingosine kinase (Sphk)1 and Sphk2 that maintain high levels of S1P around the blood vessels where mature thymocytes exit the thymus<sup>104</sup>.

Several surface markers have been used to identify and characterize the TMC compartment, including platelet derived growth factor receptors PDGFR $\alpha$  and PDGFR $\beta^{287, 294}$ , podoplanin (PDPN)<sup>290</sup>, Ly51<sup>127</sup> and the antibody MTS-15 (recognizing the glycolipid Forssman antigen)<sup>291</sup>. Whereas some of these markers overlap with mesenchymal stromal cell markers in other organs (PDGFR $\alpha$ , PDGFR $\beta$ , PDPN), others seem to be thymus-specific (Ly51, MTS-15). However, it remains unclear to what extent the heterogeneity within the TMC compartment represents functionally distinct subsets and how these subsets relate to mesenchymal cells residing in other lymphoid organs.

### Mesenchymal cell subsets in the lymph node

In contrast to TMCs, LN mesenchymal cells (LNMCs) have been studied in more detail, with several specialized subsets being identified that play non-redundant roles in maintaining LN functionality. Adult LMNC subsets are thought to derive from lymphoid tissue organizer (LTo) cells, a multipotent embryonic mesenchymal precursor population that is essential in mediating the formation and development of LN anlagen<sup>295</sup>. More specifically, LN organogenesis relies on crosstalk between LTo cells and hematopoietic lymphoid tissue inducer<sup>117</sup> cells and critically requires IL-7R-296, 297, RANK-298 and LTBR signaling299, with deficiency in any of those receptors leading to partial or complete absence of peripheral LNs<sup>298, 300, 301</sup>. Although dispensable for initial LN anlage formation, LTBR signaling in particular is important for the maturation of LTo cells that involves the gradual upregulation of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1<sup>301</sup>. Moreover, it is believed that functionally mature LTo cells originate from pre-adipocytes in the fat pads surrounding the LN anlagen<sup>302</sup> and both embryonic and postnatal PDGFRa<sup>+</sup> PDPN<sup>+</sup> pre-adipocytes have been shown to support LN anlagen growth and the generation of LNMC subsets in grafting experiments<sup>303</sup>.

As mentioned above, the adult LNMC compartment comprises functionally specialized subsets that can be found in distinct sites of the lymph node, respective to their main functions in supporting T and B cell responses (Figure 7). The following sections aim to discuss the functions of the three main LMNC subsets, T cell zone-associated fibroblastic reticular cells (FRCs), B cell follicle-resident follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) and marginal reticular cells (MRCs).



**Figure 7 - Localization of mesenchymal stromal cells in the lymph node.** Fibroblastic reticular cells (FRCs) are located in the T cell zone where they consitute a 3D network along which T cells and APCs migrate and engage in antigen presentation. Furthermore, FRCs generate a conduit system that mediates the transport of soluble antigen deep into the LN. In contrast, follicual dendritic cells (FDCs) and marginal reticular cells (MRCs) reside in distinct parts of B cell follicles to support B cell homeostasis and the formation of germinal centers upon initiation of an immune response.

#### Fibroblastic reticular cells (FRCs)

FRCs located in the T cell zone produce and ensheath extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, thereby forming a 3D reticular network that physically supports the migration and interaction of T cells and APCs<sup>304</sup> (Figure 7). Additionally, FRCs produce chemokines such as CCL19 and CCL21 that attract and control the localization of T cells and DCs within the T cell zone<sup>305, 306, 307</sup>. Apart from mediating spatial organization of immune cells, FRCs also directly support the survival and homeostasis of naive T cells through the production of IL-7<sup>308</sup>. Moreover, the 3D reticular network provided by ECM and FRCs creates a conduit system for the lymph to transport soluble low molecular weight antigens throughout the T cell zone<sup>309</sup>. Collectively, the FRCs possess essential properties to facilitate antigen presentation in the T cell zone and promote T cell survival, thereby maximizing the chances of naive

T cells to encounter their cognate antigen. Interestingly, while mostly seen as indirect supporters of T cell priming, FRCs have also been suggested to promote peripheral tolerance through direct presentation of peripheral tissue antigen<sup>310, 311</sup>.

#### Follicular dendritic cells (FDCs)

FDCs are found in the center of B cell follicles where they create a cellular scaffold for migrating B cells and support B cell follicle homeostasis via production of the survival factor B cell activating factor (BAFF) and the B cell follicle homing chemokine CXCL3<sup>312, 313, 314</sup>. In addition, FDCs express the complement receptors (CR)-1 and CR-2 (also known as CD35/CD21) enabling them to retain and present soluble antigen and immune complexes to B cells<sup>315</sup>. Upon antigen encounter, FDCs aid in the formation and maturation of germinal centers, specialized structures that support B cell proliferation, somatic hypermutation of BCR genes and subsequent affinity maturation to optimize the humoral immune response<sup>316</sup>. Differentiation of mesenchymal precursors and MRCs into FDCs is thought to contribute to the expansion of FDCs during the germinal center response<sup>317, 318</sup>. Furthermore, differentiation and maintenance of FDCs has been shown to require TNF $\alpha$  and LT signals from the surrounding B cells<sup>319, 320</sup>, with the absence of B cells leading to impaired FDC development<sup>321</sup>.

#### Marginal reticular cells (MRCs)

In addition to centrally located FRCs, B cell follicles also contain MRCs that form a layer in the outer follicle beneath the subcapsular sinus (SCS) (Figure 7). This particular location enables MRCs to funnel small soluble antigen arriving with the afferent lymph at the SCS into the inner follicle via a conduit system similar to that established by FRCs in the T cell zone<sup>322, 323</sup>. Detailed knowledge regarding additional specific functions of MRCs remains elusive, however, MRCs have been suggested to represent the adult counterparts of LTo cells<sup>324</sup> and can differentiate into FDCs following immunization (see above). In line with a potential FDC-precursor function, MRCs share expression of CXCL3 and MAdCAM-1 with mature FDCs, but do lack other functional FDC markers such as CR-1/CR-2<sup>325</sup>.

# Chapter 4. Retinoic Acid Signaling

Retinoic acid is a metabolite of vitamin A, or retinol, that controls a variety of biological processes via its function as a ligand for nuclear receptors. Thus, RA signaling is crucial for early developmental processes such as embryonic patterning and organogenesis and continues to control cell proliferation and differentiation during adulthood. Moreover, RA is essential for establishing and maintaining a functional immune system and the increased susceptibility to infections caused by vitamin A deficiency still represents an important health issue in developing countries.

RA signaling is a central part of the work presented in Paper I and Paper II of this thesis, where we addressed its role in TECs, T cell development and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell functionality. In order to put these results in context, I will first provide an overview of the biology of RA, including its metabolism and molecular function, before focusing on its role in shaping adaptive immune responses.

### Metabolism of vitamin A and RA

Prior to the generation of RA, retinol has to be obtained from the diet, as the body is unable to produce this vitamin itself. Uptake of dietary retinol is mediated by epithelial cells in the small intestine (SI) from where it needs to be brought to the liver for long-term storage in the form of retinyl esters<sup>326</sup> (**Figure 8**). As a fat-soluble vitamin, retinol is transported to the liver via chylomicrons, specialized lipoprotein particles that carry phospholipids and fatty acids through the circulation<sup>327</sup>. Importantly, SI epithelial cells are also capable of directly metabolizing retinol into RA, which is then released into the intestinal microenvironment<sup>328</sup>. Other target cells receive retinol via the blood stream upon its release from the liver in the form of retinol binding protein (RBP)-bound complexes<sup>329</sup>. Retinol enters the cytosol of target cells via surface receptors such as the stimulated by RA 6 receptor (STRA6)<sup>330</sup> and is subsequently metabolized into RA via a two-step oxidative process (**Figure 8**).

Long-term storage of retinol



**Figure 8 - Metabolism and function of RA.** Retinol is taken up by small intestinal epithelial cells and either metabolized into RA directly and secreted into the intestinal milieu or transferred to the liver for long-term storage in the form of retinyl esters. RBP-bound retinol released from the liver into the circulation translocates into the cytosol of target cells via STRA6 and other surface receptors. The two step oxidative conversion of retinol to RA via retinal is controlled by ADH/RDH and RALDH enzyme families. Cytosolic RA bound to CRABPI is marked for degradation by CYP26 enzymes while CRABPII-bound RA will be transported into the nucleus where it exerts its function as a ligand of RAR-RXR receptor complexes to initiate target gene transcription.

Three enzyme families are involved in RA synthesis: Ubiquitously expressed alcohol dehydrogenases (ADHs) and retinol dehydrogenases (RDHs) can mediate the reversible reaction of retinol to retinal<sup>331</sup>, while the final oxidation of retinal to RA is controlled by retinaldehyde dehydrogenases (RALDHs) of which the three isoforms RALDH1, RALDH2 and RALDH3 (encoded by the genes Aldh1a1, Aldh1a2 and Aldh1a3) are highly relevant in terms of regulating levels of available RA<sup>331, 332</sup>.

The cell-specific expression of RALDHs means that RA production is limited to certain tissues and it is generally assumed that RA-responding cells either express RALDHs themselves or are closely associated with cells that do. However, RA can influence more remote cells via transport in extracellular vesicles or bound to serum proteins, although the exact mechanisms of this mode of RA transfer are not completely understood<sup>333</sup>.

Within the target cell, amounts of cytosolic RA are further regulated by RAmetabolizing CYP26 enzymes and binding to the cellular retinoic acid-binding protein 1 (CRABPI) targets RA for this degradation pathway<sup>334</sup>. In contrast, binding to CRABPII mediates transport of RA to the nucleus where it acts as a ligand for heterodimeric RA receptor (RAR)-retinoid X receptor (RXR) complexes<sup>335</sup> (Figure 8). Of note, *all-trans* RA, the main RA isoform occurring *in vivo*, displays a 50-fold stronger activation of RARs than RXRs<sup>336</sup>, indicating that ligand-dependent activation of the RAR-RXR complex is predominantly induced through binding of RA to RAR. In contrast, the main purpose of the RXR domain seems to be to enhance the binding of the receptor dimer to the DNA and to increase the transcriptional activity of RARs<sup>337</sup>. However, apart from RAR, RXRs also form complexes with other nuclear receptors such as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs), and as part of these receptor dimers RXRs can be activated by fatty acids to control metabolic processes and lipid biosynthesis<sup>338</sup>.

RA ligation of RAR-RXR dimers is the prerequisite for RA-mediated gene regulation, the details and variations of which will be discussed in the following section.

### Mechanisms of RA-regulated gene expression

As mentioned above, the nuclear receptors through which RA is signaling belong to the RAR and RXR families, both of which containing three subtypes (RAR $\alpha$ , - $\beta$ , - $\gamma$ and RXR $\alpha$ , - $\beta$ , - $\gamma$ ) that can pair in any form of heterodimeric combination. RAR-RXR receptor dimers bind to specific RA responsive elements (RARE) in the regulatory regions of RA target genes, with the classical RARE being a direct repeat (DR) of a core motif, PuGGTCA, separated by a 5 bp spacer (DR5), although additional 2 bp- and 1 bp-spaced (DR2/DR1) RAREs have been described as well <sup>339</sup>.

The main mechanism of RA-mediated gene regulation is the direct transcriptional activation of RAR-RXR complexes that subsequently act to induce gene expression. In the absence of RA as ligand, RAR-RXR dimers are associated with various corepressors such as nuclear receptor corepressor (NCoR) 1 and NCoR2 that further recruit histone deacetylases (HDACs) to mediate gene silencing via induction of repressive chromatin structures over the promoter of the target gene. Conversely, RA binding of RAR induces a conformational change of the receptors that causes the release of bound corepressors and instead leads to the association of coactivators belonging to the p160 steroid receptor coactivator family. Subsequent recruitment of histone acetyltransferases/methyltransferases and nucleosome remodeling complexes induces a permissive chromatin landscape that enables target gene transcription<sup>340</sup> (Figure 8).

Apart from directly inducing gene transcription through RAR activity on RARE sites, RA signaling has also been implicated in several non-canonical ways of transcriptional regulation. Firstly, RA-ligated RAR-RXR dimers can influence the activity of transcription factors that are not direct RA target genes in the classical sense, such as the dimeric transcription factor complex activator protein-1 (AP-1), by blocking its ability to bind DNA and disrupting its dimerization<sup>341</sup>. Moreover, RA-RAR interactions have been shown to induce the expression of microRNAs and non-coding RNAs, both of which are able to degrade mRNA of other transcriptional regulators and/or act as adaptors for chromatin remodeling complexes, notably during differentiation and developmental processes<sup>342, 343, 344</sup>.

Interestingly, RA-mediated gene regulation does not only occur on the transcription level but also directly affects translation events in the cytoplasm. Here, unligated RAR $\alpha$  functions as an mRNA-binding protein that effectively inhibits translation of several neural proteins including glutamate receptor 1 (GluR1). Binding of cytoplasmic RA then induces the release of mRNA-associated RAR $\alpha$  and enables translation, thus demonstrating an important mechanisms of rapid and transient regulation of protein expression by RA and RARs that occurs independent of their nuclear functions<sup>345, 346</sup>.

### RA signaling in the immune system

#### Models for studying RA signaling in vivo

Most of the early work regarding the role of RA signaling in immunity has been performed in vitamin A-deficient (VAD) animals that lack systemic RA signaling due to absence of retinol in the diet. Importantly, the generation of VAD mice (or any other species) has to be initiated on the level of the previous generation by placing pregnant females on VAD diet from E11 onwards and the experimental window in which VAD mice can be used is rather short, as systemic absence of vitamin A strongly affects general physiology and is eventually lethal<sup>347</sup>. More recently, various transgenic models have been developed that allow for a continuous ablation of RA signaling, for example by using conditional knockouts of any of the RAR isoforms<sup>348, 349, 350</sup> or by cell type-specific expression of a dominant-negative RARα transgene (dnRAR), a truncated version of RARα that cannot induce RA-mediated gene transcription due to lack of its signaling domain<sup>351</sup> (**Figure 9**). The dnRAR model has been used for the work in Paper I and II and its advantages and limitations will be discussed in the synopses of these papers.



**Figure 9 - Expression of a dominant-negative RAR** $\alpha$  **construct (dnRAR) blocks RA signaling.** Mice bearing the dnRAR construct behind a loxP-flanked STOP cassette in their ROSA26 locus are crossed to mice expressing the Cre recombinase under the control of a cell-specific promoter (such as Foxn1 or Cd4). The offspring of such cross breeding will express the dnRAR in the cells of interests due to Cre-mediated removal of the STOP cassette which abrogates RA signaling in these cells. In contrast, RA signaling will function normally in all other cells.

#### RA signaling in immune system development

In line with its role in organ development and differentiation during embryogenesis, RA is required for the development of SLOs and the availability of maternal RA during fetal development determines the functionality of the adult immune system. Consequently, offspring of mice treated with RA inhibitors during their pregnancy display reduced numbers and decreased size of LNs and small intestinal Peyer's patches, due to the impaired differentiation and functionality of LTi cells, a subset of type 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILC3s)<sup>352</sup>. More precisely, RA signaling controls LTi differentiation through direct regulation of RAR-related orphan receptor γt (RORγt) gene expression, a key transcription factor for ILC3 development and maturation<sup>352</sup>. Importantly, absence of RA signaling in LTi cells during early life only (up to 2 weeks of age) led to impaired CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell effector responses to viral infections during adulthood<sup>352</sup>, underscoring the importance of RA signaling *in utero* and during early life for the establishment of a functional immune system.

In primary lymphoid organs such as the thymus, RA signaling has been implicated in controlling apoptosis of DP thymocytes, with opposing effects depending on the involved RAR isoform. Thus, while RARy agonists lead to massively reduced DP numbers and thymic involution<sup>353</sup>, RARa agonists and RA at physiological concentrations have been shown to prevent TCR signaling-induced deletion of selfreactive thymocytes<sup>354, 355</sup>. This RARα-mediated protection of apoptosis in response to strong activation signals is thought to occur via inhibition of Nur77 activity and Bim synthesis<sup>355</sup>. Of note, these studies either investigated the effects of RA signaling in *in* vitro systems such as fetal thymic organ cultures (FTOC) or made use of synthetic RAR agonists that were injected into mice at high concentrations. Thus, the physiological role of RA signaling in developing thymocytes in vivo remains incompletely understood. In terms of the epithelial compartment of the thymus RA signaling has been suggested as a potential mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal crosstalk that regulates TEC homeostasis, as TMC have been identified as producers of RA in vivo and treatment of FTOC with RA-inhibitors resulted in TEC expansion<sup>290</sup>.

#### Regulation of T cell effector functions by RA signaling

During postnatal life, RA is commonly associated with maintaining the balance between protective immune responses and peripheral tolerance, with several additional factors controlling the variable effects of RA signaling in different contexts. These factors include the amount of available RA, the cell type-specific expression of RAR isoforms and the local cytokine milieu. In its role as a potent regulator of gene expression RA has been shown to affect the differentiation, maturation and functionality of most cells of the innate and adaptive immune system<sup>356</sup>. However, considering that the work presented in this thesis focuses on T cell development and peripheral T cell effector functions, the following section will be limited to the role of RA signaling in T cell responses.

The regulation of inflammatory and tolerogenic immune responses is of particular importance in the intestine, where the local immune system encounters various pathogen-derived antigens while being constantly exposed to commensal bacteria and innocuous food antigens that need to be tolerated. In this regard it is worthwhile noting the elevated levels of RA in the small intestinal microenvironment, owing mainly to the retinol metabolizing activity of the local epithelium and SI CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs<sup>333</sup>. While SI epithelial cells constitutively express Aldh1a1<sup>357</sup>, SI CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs upregulate the expression of the RA target gene Aldh1a2 upon RA imprinting, in response to RA signals derived from intestinal epithelial cells, stromal cells and the bile<sup>328, 358, 359</sup>. RA-imprinted CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs migrate to the draining mLNs where they present intestinal-derived antigen to naive T cells while providing RA signals that induce the expression of gut-homing molecules CCR9 and  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  during priming<sup>360,</sup> <sup>361</sup>. Of note, *in vivo* induction of gut-homing properties is dependent on mLN stromal cells that, in contrast to peripheral LN stromal cells, express high levels of Aldh1a1 and Aldh1a3<sup>362, 363</sup>. Thus, the local stromal network further increases the availability of RA (and possibly other signals) in the mLN that confer a permissive environment for the induction of gut-homing lymphocytes.

In terms of T cell effector functions RA signaling has been studied extensively in the context of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell differentiation and lineage stability, where RA seems to elicit distinct effector responses depending on the prevailing homeostatic or inflammatory conditions. During steady state, RA promotes the TGF- $\beta$ -dependent generation of pTregs by inducing FoxP3 gene expressing while inhibiting Th17 differentiation via blocking of IL-6R and IL-23R signaling<sup>364, 365, 366</sup>. Additionally, RA counteracts cytokines that inhibit pTreg conversion and promote effector differentiation such as

IL-4, IL-21 and IFN-γ produced by CD4<sup>+</sup> CD44<sup>high</sup> effector T cells<sup>367</sup>. This immunosuppressive role of RA dominates during homeostatic conditions and is important for maintaining peripheral tolerance, however, RA signaling can have opposing functions during settings of infection and inflammation where it is required for the generation of functional Th1<sup>368, 369, 370</sup>, Th2<sup>371, 372</sup>, Th17 responses<sup>368, 370, 373</sup> and for lineage stability of Th1 cells<sup>374</sup>. In general, the contrasting role of RA signaling in T helper cell differentiation and pTreg induction is determined by a varying spectrum of synergizing cytokines and other environmental factors, as well as the concentration of RA itself. Thus, it has been shown that low levels of RA promote Th17 differentiation *in vitro*, while high levels suppress Th17 differentiation in favor of Treg generation<sup>375</sup>.

Compared to CD4<sup>+</sup> effector responses, less is known regarding the role of RA signaling in CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell functions, although RA is thought to enhance anti-tumor<sup>376</sup> and anti-viral immunity<sup>377</sup>. Indeed, production of RA within the tumor microenvironment of melanoma-bearing mice increases the accumulation of tumor-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T effector cells and RA is required for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to mediate antitumor immunity and limit tumor growth<sup>378</sup>. In terms of viral infections, RA signaling-impaired CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were shown to predominantly adopt an MPEC phenotype during the effector functions, although this did not seem to affect viral clearance<sup>379</sup>. It is noteworthy however that the role of RA in naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells prior to infection has not been addressed in the study by Allie at al. and it remains to be seen if and how abrogated RA signaling affects the naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell compartment.

# Present investigation

### Aims of the thesis

The overall aim of this thesis work was to study the impact of retinoic acid signaling on thymic epithelial stroma and T cell functionality, as well as the characterization of mesenchymal stromal cell compartments in lymphoid organs.

Specifically, the aims of the included studies were:

- I. To assess the role of RA signaling in TEC homeostasis and functionality with regards to their ability to support T cell development
- II. To determine the impact of RA signaling in developing thymocytes and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells for their development and generation of effector functions
- III. To characterize TMC heterogeneity and investigate the ontogeny and developmental relationship of mesenchymal cells in lymphoid organs

The following section provides a summary of the main findings of the work included in this thesis, as well as a brief discussion of open questions and limitations regarding the individual studies.

For a complete overview and detailed discussion of the results, the reader is referred to the original publications (for Paper I and III) and the manuscript (for Paper II) in the back of this book.
# Summary and Discussion of the Papers

# Paper I

## Retinoic Acid Signaling in Thymic Epithelial Cells Regulates Thymopoiesis

TECs are essential for the generation of functional naive T cells by mediating survival, differentiation and selection of developing thymocytes. Despite their non-redundant role in T cell development, knowledge of the signals controlling TEC homeostasis and differentiation is limited. Previous work by our group identified thymic mesenchymal cells as producers of the vitamin A metabolite RA and demonstrated increased TEC proliferation *in vitro* in FTOCs upon addition of a RAR-antagonist <sup>290</sup>. To better understand the significance of RA signaling in TECs *in vivo* we generated *Foxn1Cre.dnRAR*<sup>kl/kl</sup> mice, whose TEC compartment is unresponsive to RA, and used these mice to analyze TEC homeostasis, gene expression and functionality in the absence of RA signaling.

#### Key findings

- Adult *Foxn1Cre.dnRAR*<sup>kulld</sup> mice display increased numbers of cTEC and enhanced cTEC proliferation
- RA controls gene expression of distinct biological pathways in cTEC and mTEC<sup>lo</sup>, but not mTEC<sup>hi</sup>
- Absence of RA signaling leads to an accumulation of putative bipotent progenitors within the cTEC compartment and reduced mTEC numbers during early postnatal periods
- Enhanced TEC regeneration after glucocorticoid-induced thymic injury in the absence of RA signaling
- Reduced generation of CD4SP and CD8SP thymocytes in *Foxn1Cre.dnRAR*<sup>ls/ls/</sup> mice
- Impaired RA signaling in TEC leads to altered response of naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to *in vitro* TCR stimulation

#### Discussion

This study was initiated based on previous *in vitro* findings regarding the potential role for RA signaling in TEC homeostasis and the identification of RA-producing TMCs in the adult thymus<sup>290</sup>. Generation of *Foxn1Cre.dnRAR*<sup>kl/lsl</sup> mice allowed us to perform detailed *in vivo* analysis of the impact of RA signaling in TECs, thereby confirming and considerably extending the prior results.

The expansion of the cTEC compartment observed in the absence of RA signaling was mostly due to an increase in the Sca-1<sup>high</sup> subset, a subpopulation of Ly51<sup>+</sup> cTECs that has been described to contain immature bipotent TEPCs<sup>164, 165</sup>. An accumulation of immature progenitors at the expense of functionally mature TECs might explain why RA signaling-deficient TECs displayed suboptimal functionality in terms of supporting thymopoiesis. While we did not observe alterations in the expression of genes associated with promoting thymocyte development or survival in cTECs at 8w of age, gene expression analysis of younger mice could provide additional insight into the mechanisms of RA-mediated gene regulation in early life, as this is the phase when thymic output and TEC function peak. Additionally, it would be of interest to characterize the accumulating Sca-1<sup>high</sup> cTEC subset further, ideally on a single cell basis, to determine if the increase predominantly affects cells that harbor true progenitor potential.

In terms of identifying direct RA target genes in TECs, additional chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP)-sequencing experiments should aid in determining direct binding sites of RARs. However, it is important to bear in mind that RARbinding RAREs can be found in various places of RA target genes, not necessarily only in the promoter. Additionally, identification of specific histone modifications such as activating and silencing marks and marks of ongoing transcription are warranted to clearly identify induction or repression of gene expression in response to RA signaling. Finally, RA and RARs can function as regulators of gene transcription and translation in ways that extend beyond the classical mechanism of RAR binding to the DNA, the effect of which would be not detectable by RAR ChIP-sequencing. In this regard, it would also be important to determine the targets of other transcription factors controlled by RA, as it is likely that many effects of RA signaling are mediated indirectly, through activation of additional transcriptional regulators that induce or repress gene expression by itself.

The transgenic mouse model used in this study makes use of the expression of the transcription factor Foxn1 in TECs to drive cell-specific Cre-mediated removal of the STOP cassette in front of the dnRAR construct. As with any model using the CreloxP system there is the risk of off-target effects; however, we did not observe any alterations in TEC and thymocyte phenotype of pure *Foxn1Cre* mice compared to their wild type littermates. Of note, Foxn1 is also expressed in the skin, most notably in hair follicles (hence the hairless phenotype of the *nude* Foxn1-deficient mouse mutant) and in keratinocytes that form the stratified skin epithelium<sup>380</sup>. Thus, it is fair to assume that RA signaling would also be impaired in epithelial cells in the skin in the *Foxn1Cre.dnRAR*<sup>kullkl</sup> model. Despite previous reports suggesting a role for RA signaling in skin development and homeostasis<sup>381, 382, 383</sup>, we did not observe any aberrant skin phenotype in these mice. To the best of our knowledge, *Foxn1Cre.dnRAR*<sup>kullkl</sup> mice do not display evident signs of spontaneous skin inflammation nor were they more (or less) susceptible to imiquimod-induced psoriasis compared to wild type littermates (V. Bekiaris, personal communication).

The abrogation of RA signaling in TECs in *Foxn1Cre.dnRAR*<sup>kl/kl</sup> mice is a result of the expression of the dnRAR construct, which encodes for a dominant-negative RARa isoform that lacks the final 59 amino acids in the carboxy-terminal RA binding domain, thereby impairing downstream signaling ability and possibly affecting receptor-ligand interactions<sup>351</sup>. Importantly, the dnRAR construct has been introduced into the Rosa26 locus and thus does not replace the normal RARa gene. Nonetheless, dnRAR overexpression was shown to inhibit the function of naturally expressed RARa and even that of other RAR isoforms, suggesting that it can be used to effectively block RA signaling<sup>351</sup>. While many studies have made use of the dnRAR construct to ablate RA signaling in various cell types, the full extend of its biological activity and possible side effects remains unclear. Considering that RARs usually form heterodimers with RXRs it is possible that overexpressed dnRAR might sequester RXRs in inactive complexes and thus prevents them from associating with other nuclear receptors such as PPARs, COUP-TFII, thyroid hormone receptor and vitamin D<sub>3</sub> receptor<sup>356</sup>. In that case, dnRAR expression would not only interrupt RA signaling but also impair other biological pathways controlled by RXR and its alternative binding partners. While it is currently difficult to control for any indirect effects of dnRAR activity, it is important to bear possible off target effects in mind when using the dnRAR model.

## Paper II

#### The Role of Retinoic Acid Signaling in CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cell Development and Function

RA signaling is known to play an important role in shaping peripheral T cell responses, most notably through the induction of gut-homing receptors, generation of peripheral Tregs and control of Th differentiation and lineage stability. Compared to the extensive body of knowledge concerning RA signaling in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, much less is known on how RA influences CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. In this study, using *CD4cre. dnRAR*<sup>kl/kl</sup> mice with abrogated RA signaling in developing thymocytes and peripheral T cells, we aimed to investigate how RA signaling affects CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell development and the functionality of naive and effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

### Key findings

- Block of RA signaling in developing thymocytes perturbs T cell development and leads to the accumulation of mature CD8SP thymocytes
- CD8SP thymocytes developing in the absence of RA signaling display reduced levels of TCR expression and a skewed TCR repertoire
- Abrogated RA signaling skews the naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell compartment towards a CD44<sup>hi</sup> memory-like phenotype in the absence of antigen encounter
- The common B cell marker B220 is upregulated on a subset of mature CD8SP thymocytes and naive CD44<sup>hi</sup> peripheral CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in  $CD4Cre.dnRAR^{kl/lsl}$  mice
- Naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from *CD4Cre.dnRAR*<sup>kl/lsl</sup> mice display enhanced survival and expansion upon TCR stimulation
- RA signaling regulates effector gene expression in a similar manner in splenic and mLN-primed CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells
- RA signaling-impaired CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells display defective CTL activity

#### Discussion

Our investigations of T cell development and  $CD8^+$  T cell functionality in  $CD4Cre.dnRAR^{lsl/lsl}$  mice have revealed an important role for RA signaling during thymopoiesis, maintenance of naive  $CD8^+$  T cells and the generation of cytotoxic effector responses.

These results contribute to a better understanding of the significance of RA signaling for T cell development in particular, as analysis of the thymic phenotype of CD4Cre.dnRAR<sup>kullsl</sup> mice has been neglected in previous studies that focused entirely on peripheral effector responses<sup>378, 379, 384</sup>. However, when addressing the functional competence of peripheral T cells in CD4Cre.dnRAR<sup>kl/lkl</sup> mice, it is important to bear the thymic development of these cells in mind, as any functional impairment might be connected to aberrant development in the absence of RA signaling. In this regard, we plan to further investigate the functionality of the accumulating phenotypically mature CD8SP thymocyte population, addressing their egress competence and proliferative capacity upon TCR stimulation. Furthermore, the expression of B220 on these cells remains puzzling and warrants additional experiments in order to determine its significance. Currently, attempts to stain for B220-expressing CD8SP thymocytes in thymic sections are on the way to determine the anatomical location of these cells. Additionally, we plan to test the survival and viability of B220<sup>+</sup> CD8SP thymocytes to determine if the upregulation of B220 is related to impaired apoptosis and/or marks cells that were supposed to die. Interestingly, after sorting CD8SP thymocytes from Cre<sup>-</sup> and Cre<sup>+</sup> mice for subsequent RNA-seq experiments, we observed a high degree of sample degradation selectively in the B220<sup>+</sup> CD8SP subset of Cre<sup>+</sup> mice, possibly indicating increased cell death in these cells. However, seeing as this was a stand-alone observation that can have multiple reasons, we aim to investigate this further by using in vitro cultures with varying conditions.

In contrast to the previously undocumented observations of altered T cell development in the thymus of  $CD4Cre.dnRAR^{kl/ld}$  mice, an impaired CTL response in the absence of RA signaling has been reported previously in the setting of a vaccinia virus infection using the same mouse model<sup>379</sup>. Importantly, depending on the viral dose and route of infection, the primary CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response during vaccinia virus infection has been shown to rely on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help<sup>210, 385</sup>. As the dnRAR construct is also expressed in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in *CD4Cre.dnRAR*<sup>kl/ld</sup> mice, it is possible that the impaired generation of a CD8<sup>+</sup> effector response in this setting might be due to insufficient help from CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells lacking RA signaling. However, it seems unlikely

that impaired CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help alone is responsible for suboptimal CTL response, as we could show similarly reduced effector response and killing efficiency in *CD4Cre.dnRAR*<sup>killid</sup> mice on an OT-I background that were immunized with the model antigen ovalbumin. In fact, we further showed that the defects we observed in CTL activity were cell-intrinsic to the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell compartment. However, if these findings were to be followed up by additional experiments to test the ability of RA signaling-impaired CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to clear actual pathogens *in vivo*, it would be advisable to choose an infection model that does not involve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help to exclude any confounding effects from that aspect.

# Paper III

# Context-Dependent Development of Lymphoid Stroma from Adult CD34<sup>+</sup> Adventitial Progenitors

While mesenchymal stromal cells are critically important for the function of lymphoid organs, their functional specialization and ontogeny remains poorly understood, especially in the thymus. Expression of the surface markers PDPN, PDGFR $\alpha$  and PDGFR $\beta$  is used to identify TMC and LNMC populations, with PDPN<sup>+</sup> LNMC further distinguished into distinct subsets of FRCs, FDCs and MRCs. A similar functional distinction of TMCs has not been described and it is unclear how TMC and LNMC subsets relate to each other developmentally. In this study, we performed comparative analysis of the TMC and LNMC compartments and subsequently identified a conserved population of CD34<sup>+</sup> multipotent precursors whose *in vivo* developmental potential we addressed using reaggregate organ grafts.

#### Key findings

- TMC and LNMC can be divided into PDPN<sup>-</sup> and PDPN<sup>+</sup> subsets, with PDPN<sup>-</sup> and PDPN<sup>+</sup> TMC displaying a higher population similarity with their respective LNMC counterparts than between each other
- PDPN<sup>+</sup> LNMC, but not TMC, contain a major fraction of BP-3<sup>+</sup> cells that comprises FRCs, FDCs and MRCs, while PDPN<sup>-</sup> TMC and LMNC mainly represent contractile and non-contractile pericytes

- CD34<sup>+</sup> PDPN<sup>+</sup> mesenchymal cells are localized within the adventitial vascular niche of postnatal lymphoid and non-lymphoid organs and can differentiate into BP-3<sup>+</sup> PDPN<sup>+</sup> FRCs, MRCs and FDCs as well as PDPN<sup>-</sup> pericytes *in vivo*, depending on the environmental context
- In the thymus, CD34<sup>+</sup> cells and PDPN<sup>-</sup> pericytes arise from a common an lage-seeding mesenchymal precursor population and the maturation and/or maintenance of the CD34<sup>+</sup> TMC compartment requires LT $\beta$ R signaling

#### Discussion

Prior to this study the knowledge regarding the functional heterogeneity and developmental origin of mesenchymal stromal cells in lymphoid organs remained limited, despite their essential role in maintaining functional thymic and LN environments. By combining detailed flow cytometry analysis with gene expression profiling and *in situ* immunofluorescence analysis we were able to identify and define the functional niches of distinct mesenchymal stromal cell subsets in primary (thymus) and secondary (LN) lymphoid organs. In particular, we identified two mesenchymal subsets, PDPN<sup>-</sup> pericytes and PDPN<sup>+</sup> CD34<sup>+</sup> adventitial cells, that were shared between thymic and LN environments and represent specialized, non-redundant components of the vascular niche. Importantly, the multi lineage potential of the CD34<sup>+</sup> adventitial cell population was demonstrated *in vivo* using lymphoid organ reaggregates where CD34<sup>+</sup> cells were able to give rise to various mesenchymal stroma-like subsets, including BP3<sup>+</sup> FRCs, FDCs and MRCs as well as integrin  $\alpha$ 7<sup>+</sup> pericytes, depending on the environmental context.

Two forms of reaggregate organ cultures were used in this study, reaggregate thymic organ cultures (RTOC) and reaggregate lymph node organ cultures (RLOC), to specifically address the role of the surrounding lymphoid environment in the development of CD34<sup>+</sup> adventitial cells. The use of reaggregate organ cultures has the advantage that the development of a selected cell population can be traced in a defined context, by isolating these cells from reporter mice and introducing them to cell suspensions obtained from embryonic thymus or lymph node structures. However, reaggregate organ cultures have their limits as models for lineage tracing, mostly due to low and variable recovery of the progeny of the potential precursor population and the technical challenges involved in the generation and

transplantation of the reaggregates. In this regard, while the absence of a particular cell population in a recovered graft might be solely due to the developmental potential of the input population, one cannot exclude the possibility that the *ex vivo* generation phase of the reaggregate and its grafting to an ectopic site (under the kidney capsule) might impact more strongly on certain cell subsets and possibly impair their development. Additionally, using the RTOC/RLOC setups described above, we were only able to investigate the multi-lineage potential of the CD34<sup>+</sup> adventitial cell subset on a population level, with the exact progenitor properties of individual CD34<sup>+</sup> cells remaining to be determined.

Irrespective of the question regarding individual precursor potential, our identification of a distinct CD34<sup>+</sup> mesenchymal stromal cell population in lymphoid organs was confirmed in a recent study investigating the transcriptional profiles of LN stromal cells on a single cell level<sup>386</sup>. This detailed RNA-sequencing based analysis revealed nine LN stromal clusters, one of them being CD34<sup>+</sup> adventitial cells. Furthermore, this study confirmed our findings regarding the localization of these cells in association with the vasculature and a potential function as regulators of endothelial cell homeostasis<sup>386</sup>. In addition, another study has found CD34<sup>+</sup> cells to be a part of a novel subset of so-called medullary FRCs (MedRCs) that are important in plasma cell homeostasis by providing specialized survival niches through the production of the plasma cell survival factors IL-6, CXCL12 and BAFF, as well as ECM proteins<sup>387</sup>. To what extend CD34<sup>+</sup> adventitial cells contribute to the function and/or development of the MedRC population remains to be seen, although the fact that CD34<sup>+</sup> cells produce high levels of CXCL12<sup>386</sup> indicates that these cells might play an additional role in the homeostasis of hematopoietic cells.

Lastly, we demonstrated that not any particular cell intrinsic properties but rather the tissue-specific environment is determining the development of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells into pericytes and BP-3<sup>+</sup> subsets, with the latter only being generated in the setting of RLOC grafts. However, the exact nature of the tissue-specific signals responsible for the differences in TMC and LNMC composition in general and the LN-specific generation of BP-3<sup>+</sup> PDPN<sup>+</sup> mesenchymal calls in particular remain unclear. In line with a previous report<sup>388</sup>, our study showed that lack of T and B cells in Rag-deficient mice leads to a reduction, but not complete absence of BP-3<sup>+</sup> cells in LNs, indicating that additional signals govern the development of this population. In fact, it is possible that instead of an inductive signal in the LNs a repressive signal in the thymus is controlling the fate of mesenchymal cell progenitors. Seeing as epithelial

cells are the major stromal cell component of the thymus but are absent from LNs, TECs are a likely candidate for the provision of said signal(s). In support of this notion it has been shown that progressive reduction in TECs establishes a LN-like environment in the thymus, including the development of FDC and FRC-like cells<sup>389</sup>. Furthermore, a similar phenotype has been observed in ephrin B-deficient mice that display large epithelial-free areas in the thymus that are instead occupied by ERTR7<sup>+</sup> fibroblasts and ECM structures reminiscent of FRC networks in LNs<sup>390</sup>.

# Acknowledgements

The quote in the preface of this thesis does not only apply to scientific advancements rooted in the groundbreaking work of those who come before you - as a matter of fact, I might have put the same quote right here. Starting out as a PhD student you feel like a dwarf in many ways and while the 4 or 5 years of working on your projects help you to grow and expand your knowledge (and frustration threshold...), the most valuable support comes from the people who surround you on this journey. The following lines are dedicated to my 'giants' who contributed to this thesis and to my life as a PhD student over the last 5 years.

First and foremost, **Bill**, thank you for giving me the opportunity to join your group and for being a great and supporting mentor over the past years. Your level of ambition, knowledge and unwavering passion for science are truly remarkable and have been a great source of inspiration. Even working on a non-mucosal project I have never felt left out in your group and I'm thankful for everything I have learned from you, in terms of science and beyond!

Knut, the backbone of the WA group (and possibly the universe itself) - Thank you for being the kind, patient and always-helpful person that you are! Your unique combination of selflessness and efficiency is not often found in science (or humanity). I'm forever grateful for your input in all my projects and the endless digging through FACS plots and Prism graphs to find some that passed my personal QC during the figure making phase of the manuscript!

Thorsten, the ultimate knower of things and undoubtedly my favorite person to ever walk the D14 floors. Thank you for being exactly who you are and for making every minute in the lab better just through your presence. And your sense of organization. And taste in music. And general assessment of situations. As you know I would blindly sign any one of those, and I have found that there is just no better compliment than people telling me "You sound just like Thorsten!"

Kasia, my dearest office mate and friend, I'm so happy that we got to start our PhD at the same time and that you stuck around the extra months it took me to finish! (Nachher wär da noch weranders ins Büro eingezogen, das hätte ich nicht ausgehalten!) Thanks for all the great times and talks and trips we had, I count myself lucky to have made you as a friend during this time!

Aymeric, my amazing bench and street neighbor, your presence is already missing in the group and can obviously never be replaced by anyone alive. Your enthusiasm, positivity and whole personality are a true gift to everyone who has ever met you and I'm grateful for all the times we spend as colleagues and friends. Was totally worth being falsely accused of stealing your pipettes or moving your plates.

I also want thank several previous members of the WA group and the immunology section at BMC D14 who made this a great place to work in over the last years. Selene, Marcus and Daniel, thank you for taking care of me the first time I made an appearance at D14 and for the continuous support and fun during the years that followed! Kasia S, thanks for teaching me the initial ins and outs of stromal work. Emma, thank you for being such a great first office mate, friend and kindest person the world has ever seen. Hopefully the future will see us living closer to each other again! Madde, thank you for your bright outlook on the world and numerous chats about anything lab- and life-related! I'm happy to know that we can keep this going even with an ocean in between us. Adriana, your two visits really brightened up the D14 world and I am very grateful that we kept in touch and I got to experience your infinite kindness and hospitality.

Outside of Lund I want to express my gratitude to Kristoffer at Copenhagen University, for being our personal bioinformatics consultant and for spending a lot of time discussing with us and repeatedly explaining laymen-style what it is you actually did with the data. Also, I am grateful for all the fruitful interactions with the WA group at DTU, with special thanks going to Nikita for many hours spend on the microscope, Julien for all the molecular work and for being the organizing force of super fun out-of-the-lab activities, and Nicole who is not only a valued colleague in stromal questions but also a great friend for life (and I don't say that just because you introduced me to the Danish replacement for dm! Although that helped...)

Auch wenn das Leben in den letzten 5 Jahren vor allem im Labor stattfand (oder gerade deshalb?), sind die Freundschaften außerhalb umso wichtiger. Ein großes Dankeschön geht daher an die besonderen Menschen, mit denen mich trotz der Ferne viel verbindet. Gesa, danke für deine Besuche in Lund und dafür dass du dir immer noch regelmäßig Zeit nimmst für unsere Skype-Abende. Anika, unsere Freundschaft war das Beste was ich aus dem Biomedizin Master in Hannover mitgenommen hab. Martin, kaum zu glauben, dass es einfach neun Jahre her ist, dass wir uns getroffen haben. Wer hätte gedacht, dass die Freundschaft zu einem FC-Fan so lange hält?

Zum Schluss möchte ich den wichtigsten Menschen danken ohne deren grenzenlose Unterstützung und Liebe nichts möglich wäre. **Mama**, **Papa** und **Isabel**, danke für die unzähligen Male die ihr nach Lund gekommen seid und für euer Verständnis für meine Entscheidungen, auch wenn diese mich weiter durch die Weltgeschichte führen. Heimat wird immer da sein wo ihr seid!

Finally, thank you **Mehdi** for always being at my side, even if there often were miles between us. Thank you for your support, for making me see things from another angle and for making my life richer in every way.

# References

- 1. Schmitt, T.M. & Zuniga-Pflucker, J.C. Induction of T cell development from hematopoietic progenitor cells by delta-like-1 in vitro. *Immunity* 17, 749-756 (2002).
- 2. Goldschneider, I., Komschlies, K.L. & Greiner, D.L. Studies of thymocytopoiesis in rats and mice. I. Kinetics of appearance of thymocytes using a direct intrathymic adoptive transfer assay for thymocyte precursors. *J Exp Med* 163, 1-17 (1986).
- Schwarz, B.A. & Bhandoola, A. Circulating hematopoietic progenitors with T lineage potential. *Nat Immunol* 5, 953-960 (2004).
- 4. Umland, O., Mwangi, W.N., Anderson, B.M., Walker, J.C. & Petrie, H.T. The blood contains multiple distinct progenitor populations with clonogenic B and T lineage potential. *J Immunol* 178, 4147-4152 (2007).
- 5. Saran, N. *et al.* Multiple extrathymic precursors contribute to T-cell development with different kinetics. *Blood* 115, 1137-1144 (2010).
- 6. Serwold, T., Ehrlich, L.I. & Weissman, I.L. Reductive isolation from bone marrow and blood implicates common lymphoid progenitors as the major source of thymopoiesis. *Blood* 113, 807-815 (2009).
- 7. Luc, S. *et al.* The earliest thymic T cell progenitors sustain B cell and myeloid lineage potential. *Nat Immunol* 13, 412-419 (2012).
- 8. Foss, D.L., Donskoy, E. & Goldschneider, I. The importation of hematogenous precursors by the thymus is a gated phenomenon in normal adult mice. *J Exp Med* 193, 365-374 (2001).
- Gossens, K. *et al.* Thymic progenitor homing and lymphocyte homeostasis are linked via S1P-controlled expression of thymic P-selectin/CCL25. *J Exp Med* 206, 761-778 (2009).
- 10. Zietara, N. *et al.* Multicongenic fate mapping quantification of dynamics of thymus colonization. *J Exp Med* 212, 1589-1601 (2015).
- 11. Porritt, H.E., Gordon, K. & Petrie, H.T. Kinetics of steady-state differentiation and mapping of intrathymic-signaling environments by stem cell transplantation in nonirradiated mice. *J Exp Med* 198, 957-962 (2003).
- 12. Wu, L., Kincade, P.W. & Shortman, K. The CD44 expressed on the earliest intrathymic precursor population functions as a thymus homing molecule but does not bind to hyaluronate. *Immunol Lett* 38, 69-75 (1993).
- 13. Zlotoff, D.A. *et al.* CCR7 and CCR9 together recruit hematopoietic progenitors to the adult thymus. *Blood* 115, 1897-1905 (2010).

- Krueger, A., Willenzon, S., Lyszkiewicz, M., Kremmer, E. & Forster, R. CC chemokine receptor 7 and 9 double-deficient hematopoietic progenitors are severely impaired in seeding the adult thymus. *Blood* 115, 1906-1912 (2010).
- Robertson, P., Means, T.K., Luster, A.D. & Scadden, D.T. CXCR4 and CCR5 mediate homing of primitive bone marrow-derived hematopoietic cells to the postnatal thymus. *Exp Hematol* 34, 308-319 (2006).
- Scimone, M.L., Aifantis, I., Apostolou, I., von Boehmer, H. & von Andrian, U.H. A multistep adhesion cascade for lymphoid progenitor cell homing to the thymus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 103, 7006-7011 (2006).
- 17. Krueger, A. Thymus Colonization: Who, How, How Many? Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz) 66, 81-88 (2018).
- 18. Lucas, B. *et al.* Lymphotoxin beta Receptor Controls T Cell Progenitor Entry to the Thymus. *J Immunol* 197, 2665-2672 (2016).
- 19. Shi, Y. *et al.* LTbetaR controls thymic portal endothelial cells for haematopoietic progenitor cell homing and T-cell regeneration. *Nat Commun* 7, 12369 (2016).
- 20. Bell, J.J. & Bhandoola, A. The earliest thymic progenitors for T cells possess myeloid lineage potential. *Nature* 452, 764-767 (2008).
- Yui, M.A., Feng, N. & Rothenberg, E.V. Fine-scale staging of T cell lineage commitment in adult mouse thymus. *J Immunol* 185, 284-293 (2010).
- 22. Koch, U. *et al.* Delta-like 4 is the essential, nonredundant ligand for Notch1 during thymic T cell lineage commitment. *J Exp Med* 205, 2515-2523 (2008).
- 23. Hozumi, K. *et al.* Delta-like 4 is indispensable in thymic environment specific for T cell development. *J Exp Med* 205, 2507-2513 (2008).
- 24. Wilson, A., MacDonald, H.R. & Radtke, F. Notch 1-deficient common lymphoid precursors adopt a B cell fate in the thymus. *J Exp Med* 194, 1003-1012 (2001).
- Buono, M. *et al.* A dynamic niche provides Kit ligand in a stage-specific manner to the earliest thymocyte progenitors. *Nat Cell Biol* 18, 157-167 (2016).
- 26. Alves, N.L. *et al.* Characterization of the thymic IL-7 niche in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 106, 1512-1517 (2009).
- Alves, N.L., Huntington, N.D., Mention, J.J., Richard-Le Goff, O. & Di Santo, J.P. Cutting Edge: a thymocyte-thymic epithelial cell cross-talk dynamically regulates intrathymic IL-7 expression in vivo. *J Immunol* 184, 5949-5953 (2010).
- 28. Rodewald, H.R., Kretzschmar, K., Swat, W. & Takeda, S. Intrathymically expressed ckit ligand (stem cell factor) is a major factor driving expansion of very immature thymocytes in vivo. *Immunity* 3, 313-319 (1995).
- 29. von Freeden-Jeffry, U. *et al.* Lymphopenia in interleukin (IL)-7 gene-deleted mice identifies IL-7 as a nonredundant cytokine. *J Exp Med* 181, 1519-1526 (1995).
- von Freeden-Jeffry, U., Solvason, N., Howard, M. & Murray, R. The earliest T lineagecommitted cells depend on IL-7 for Bcl-2 expression and normal cell cycle progression. *Immunity* 7, 147-154 (1997).

- 31. Peschon, J.J. *et al.* Early lymphocyte expansion is severely impaired in interleukin 7 receptor-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* 180, 1955-1960 (1994).
- Roifman, C.M., Zhang, J., Chitayat, D. & Sharfe, N. A partial deficiency of interleukin-7R alpha is sufficient to abrogate T-cell development and cause severe combined immunodeficiency. *Blood* 96, 2803-2807 (2000).
- 33. Hoffman, E.S. *et al.* Productive T-cell receptor beta-chain gene rearrangement: coincident regulation of cell cycle and clonality during development in vivo. *Genes Dev* 10, 948-962 (1996).
- 34. Nikolich-Zugich, J., Slifka, M.K. & Messaoudi, I. The many important facets of T-cell repertoire diversity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 4, 123-132 (2004).
- 35. Sawicka, M. *et al.* From pre-DP, post-DP, SP4, and SP8 Thymocyte Cell Counts to a Dynamical Model of Cortical and Medullary Selection. *Front Immunol* 5, 19 (2014).
- Honey, K., Nakagawa, T., Peters, C. & Rudensky, A. Cathepsin L regulates CD4+ T cell selection independently of its effect on invariant chain: a role in the generation of positively selecting peptide ligands. *J Exp Med* 195, 1349-1358 (2002).
- Gommeaux, J. *et al.* Thymus-specific serine protease regulates positive selection of a subset of CD4+ thymocytes. *Eur J Immunol* 39, 956-964 (2009).
- 38. Nitta, T. *et al.* Thymoproteasome shapes immunocompetent repertoire of CD8+ T cells. *Immunity* 32, 29-40 (2010).
- 39. Germain, R.N. T-cell development and the CD4-CD8 lineage decision. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2, 309-322 (2002).
- 40. Singer, A., Adoro, S. & Park, J.H. Lineage fate and intense debate: myths, models and mechanisms of CD4- versus CD8-lineage choice. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8, 788-801 (2008).
- 41. Brugnera, E. *et al.* Coreceptor reversal in the thymus: signaled CD4+8+ thymocytes initially terminate CD8 transcription even when differentiating into CD8+ T cells. *Immunity* 13, 59-71 (2000).
- 42. Park, J.H. *et al.* Signaling by intrathymic cytokines, not T cell antigen receptors, specifies CD8 lineage choice and promotes the differentiation of cytotoxic-lineage T cells. *Nat Immunol* 11, 257-264 (2010).
- 43. He, X. *et al.* CD4-CD8 lineage commitment is regulated by a silencer element at the ThPOK transcription-factor locus. *Immunity* 28, 346-358 (2008).
- 44. Setoguchi, R. *et al.* Repression of the transcription factor Th-POK by Runx complexes in cytotoxic T cell development. *Science* 319, 822-825 (2008).
- 45. Luckey, M.A. *et al.* The transcription factor ThPOK suppresses Runx3 and imposes CD4(+) lineage fate by inducing the SOCS suppressors of cytokine signaling. *Nat Immunol* 15, 638-645 (2014).
- He, X. *et al.* The zinc finger transcription factor Th-POK regulates CD4 versus CD8 Tcell lineage commitment. *Nature* 433, 826-833 (2005).
- 47. Egawa, T. & Littman, D.R. ThPOK acts late in specification of the helper T cell lineage and suppresses Runx-mediated commitment to the cytotoxic T cell lineage. *Nat immunol* 9, 1131-1139 (2008).

- 48. Steinke, F.C. *et al.* TCF-1 and LEF-1 act upstream of Th-POK to promote the CD4(+) T cell fate and interact with Runx3 to silence Cd4 in CD8(+) T cells. *Nat Immunol* 15, 646-656 (2014).
- 49. Wang, L. *et al.* Distinct functions for the transcription factors GATA-3 and ThPOK during intrathymic differentiation of CD4(+) T cells. *Nat Immunol* 9, 1122-1130 (2008).
- 50. Egawa, T., Tillman, R.E., Naoe, Y., Taniuchi, I. & Littman, D.R. The role of the Runx transcription factors in thymocyte differentiation and in homeostasis of naive T cells. *J Exp Med* 204, 1945-1957 (2007).
- 51. Taniuchi, I., Sunshine, M.J., Festenstein, R. & Littman, D.R. Evidence for distinct CD4 silencer functions at different stages of thymocyte differentiation. *Mol Cell* 10, 1083-1096 (2002).
- 52. McGargill, M.A., Derbinski, J.M. & Hogquist, K.A. Receptor editing in developing T cells. *Nat Immunol* 1, 336-341 (2000).
- 53. Pobezinsky, L.A. *et al.* Clonal deletion and the fate of autoreactive thymocytes that survive negative selection. *Nat Immunol* 13, 569-578 (2012).
- 54. Palmer, E. Negative selection--clearing out the bad apples from the T-cell repertoire. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3, 383-391 (2003).
- 55. Rincon, M. *et al.* The JNK pathway regulates the In vivo deletion of immature CD4(+)CD8(+) thymocytes. *J Exp Med* 188, 1817-1830 (1998).
- 56. Sabapathy, K. *et al.* c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK)1 and JNK2 have similar and stage-dependent roles in regulating T cell apoptosis and proliferation. *J Exp Med* 193, 317-328 (2001).
- 57. Bouillet, P. *et al.* BH3-only Bcl-2 family member Bim is required for apoptosis of autoreactive thymocytes. *Nature* 415, 922-926 (2002).
- 58. Strasser, A., Harris, A.W., von Boehmer, H. & Cory, S. Positive and negative selection of T cells in T-cell receptor transgenic mice expressing a bcl-2 transgene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 1376-1380 (1994).
- 59. Rajpal, A. *et al.* Transcriptional activation of known and novel apoptotic pathways by Nur77 orphan steroid receptor. *EMBO J* 22, 6526-6536 (2003).
- 60. Fassett, M.S., Jiang, W., D'Alise, A.M., Mathis, D. & Benoist, C. Nuclear receptor Nr4a1 modulates both regulatory T-cell (Treg) differentiation and clonal deletion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 109, 3891-3896 (2012).
- 61. Lin, B. *et al.* Conversion of Bcl-2 from protector to killer by interaction with nuclear orphan receptor Nur77/TR3. *Cell* 116, 527-540 (2004).
- Thompson, J. & Winoto, A. During negative selection, Nur77 family proteins translocate to mitochondria where they associate with Bcl-2 and expose its proapoptotic BH3 domain. *J Exp Med* 205, 1029-1036 (2008).
- Calnan, B.J., Szychowski, S., Chan, F.K., Cado, D. & Winoto, A. A role for the orphan steroid receptor Nur77 in apoptosis accompanying antigen-induced negative selection. *Immunity* 3, 273-282 (1995).

- 64. Hinterberger, M. *et al.* Autonomous role of medullary thymic epithelial cells in central CD4(+) T cell tolerance. *Nat Immunol* 11, 512-519 (2010).
- 65. Anderson, M.S. *et al.* Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. *Science* 298, 1395-1401 (2002).
- 66. Takaba, H. *et al.* Fezf2 Orchestrates a Thymic Program of Self-Antigen Expression for Immune Tolerance. *Cell* 163, 975-987 (2015).
- 67. Sansom, S.N. *et al.* Population and single-cell genomics reveal the Aire dependency, relief from Polycomb silencing, and distribution of self-antigen expression in thymic epithelia. *Genome Res* 24, 1918-1931 (2014).
- 68. Danan-Gotthold, M., Guyon, C., Giraud, M., Levanon, E.Y. & Abramson, J. Extensive RNA editing and splicing increase immune self-representation diversity in medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Genome Biol* 17, 219 (2016).
- 69. Derbinski, J. *et al.* Promiscuous gene expression in thymic epithelial cells is regulated at multiple levels. *J Exp Med* 202, 33-45 (2005).
- 70. Brennecke, P. *et al.* Single-cell transcriptome analysis reveals coordinated ectopic geneexpression patterns in medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Nat Immunol* 16, 933-941 (2015).
- 71. Miragaia, R.J. *et al.* Single-cell RNA-sequencing resolves self-antigen expression during mTEC development. *Sci Rep* 8, 685 (2018).
- 72. Baba, T., Nakamoto, Y. & Mukaida, N. Crucial contribution of thymic Sirp alpha+ conventional dendritic cells to central tolerance against blood-borne antigens in a CCR2-dependent manner. *J Immunol* 183, 3053-3063 (2009).
- 73. Atibalentja, D.F., Murphy, K.M. & Unanue, E.R. Functional redundancy between thymic CD8alpha+ and Sirpalpha+ conventional dendritic cells in presentation of blood-derived lysozyme by MHC class II proteins. *J Immunol* 186, 1421-1431 (2011).
- 74. Koble, C. & Kyewski, B. The thymic medulla: a unique microenvironment for intercellular self-antigen transfer. *J Exp Med* 206, 1505-1513 (2009).
- 75. Hadeiba, H. *et al.* Plasmacytoid dendritic cells transport peripheral antigens to the thymus to promote central tolerance. *Immunity* 36, 438-450 (2012).
- 76. Bonasio, R. *et al.* Clonal deletion of thymocytes by circulating dendritic cells homing to the thymus. *Nat Immunol* 7, 1092-1100 (2006).
- 77. Fontenot, J.D., Gavin, M.A. & Rudensky, A.Y. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 4, 330-336 (2003).
- 78. Kim, J.M., Rasmussen, J.P. & Rudensky, A.Y. Regulatory T cells prevent catastrophic autoimmunity throughout the lifespan of mice. *Nat Immunol* 8, 191-197 (2007).
- 79. Bennett, C.L. *et al.* The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. *Nat Genet* 27, 20-21 (2001).
- 80. Lee, H.M. & Hsieh, C.S. Rare development of Foxp3+ thymocytes in the CD4+CD8+ subset. *J Immunol* 183, 2261-2266 (2009).

- Wirnsberger, G., Mair, F. & Klein, L. Regulatory T cell differentiation of thymocytes does not require a dedicated antigen-presenting cell but is under T cell-intrinsic developmental control. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 106, 10278-10283 (2009).
- 82. Tanoue, T., Atarashi, K. & Honda, K. Development and maintenance of intestinal regulatory T cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 16, 295-309 (2016).
- 83. Lathrop, S.K. *et al.* Peripheral education of the immune system by colonic commensal microbiota. *Nature* 478, 250-254 (2011).
- Lee, H.M., Bautista, J.L., Scott-Browne, J., Mohan, J.F. & Hsieh, C.S. A broad range of self-reactivity drives thymic regulatory T cell selection to limit responses to self. *Immunity* 37, 475-486 (2012).
- Jordan, M.S. *et al.* Thymic selection of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by an agonist self-peptide. *Nat Immunol* 2, 301-306 (2001).
- Kawahata, K. *et al.* Generation of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells from autoreactive T cells simultaneously with their negative selection in the thymus and from nonautoreactive T cells by endogenous TCR expression. *J Immunol* 168, 4399-4405 (2002).
- 87. Walker, M.R. *et al.* Induction of FoxP3 and acquisition of T regulatory activity by stimulated human CD4+CD25- T cells. *J Clin Invest* 112, 1437-1443 (2003).
- 88. Bains, I., van Santen, H.M., Seddon, B. & Yates, A.J. Models of self-peptide sampling by developing T cells identify candidate mechanisms of thymic selection. *PLoS Comput Biol* 9, e1003102 (2013).
- 89. Sekiya, T. *et al.* Nr4a receptors are essential for thymic regulatory T cell development and immune homeostasis. *Nat Immunol* 14, 230-237 (2013).
- 90. Salomon, B. *et al.* B7/CD28 costimulation is essential for the homeostasis of the CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells that control autoimmune diabetes. *Immunity* 12, 431-440 (2000).
- 91. Tang, Q. *et al.* Cutting edge: CD28 controls peripheral homeostasis of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 171, 3348-3352 (2003).
- 92. Ruan, Q. *et al.* Development of Foxp3(+) regulatory t cells is driven by the c-Rel enhanceosome. *Immunity* 31, 932-940 (2009).
- Vang, K.B. *et al.* IL-2, -7, and -15, but not thymic stromal lymphopoeitin, redundantly govern CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell development. *J Immunol* 181, 3285-3290 (2008).
- Fontenot, J.D., Rasmussen, J.P., Gavin, M.A. & Rudensky, A.Y. A function for interleukin 2 in Foxp3-expressing regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 6, 1142-1151 (2005).
- 95. Burchill, M.A., Yang, J., Vang, K.B. & Farrar, M.A. Interleukin-2 receptor signaling in regulatory T cell development and homeostasis. *Immunol Lett* 114, 1-8 (2007).
- 96. Thiault, N. *et al.* Peripheral regulatory T lymphocytes recirculating to the thymus suppress the development of their precursors. *Nat Immunol* 16, 628-634 (2015).

- 97. Weist, B.M., Kurd, N., Boussier, J., Chan, S.W. & Robey, E.A. Thymic regulatory T cell niche size is dictated by limiting IL-2 from antigen-bearing dendritic cells and feedback competition. *Nat Immunol* 16, 635-641 (2015).
- McCaughtry, T.M., Wilken, M.S. & Hogquist, K.A. Thymic emigration revisited. J Exp Med 204, 2513-2520 (2007).
- 99. Carlson, C.M. *et al.* Kruppel-like factor 2 regulates thymocyte and T-cell migration. *Nature* 442, 299-302 (2006).
- 100. Bai, A., Hu, H., Yeung, M. & Chen, J. Kruppel-like factor 2 controls T cell trafficking by activating L-selectin (CD62L) and sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 transcription. *J Immunol* 178, 7632-7639 (2007).
- Fabre, S. *et al.* FOXO1 regulates L-Selectin and a network of human T cell homing molecules downstream of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *J Immunol* 181, 2980-2989 (2008).
- 102. Warnock, R.A., Askari, S., Butcher, E.C. & von Andrian, U.H. Molecular mechanisms of lymphocyte homing to peripheral lymph nodes. *J Exp Med* 187, 205-216 (1998).
- 103. Arbones, M.L. *et al.* Lymphocyte homing and leukocyte rolling and migration are impaired in L-selectin-deficient mice. *Immunity* 1, 247-260 (1994).
- 104. Zachariah, M.A. & Cyster, J.G. Neural crest-derived pericytes promote egress of mature thymocytes at the corticomedullary junction. *Science* 328, 1129-1135 (2010).
- 105. Fukuhara, S. *et al.* The sphingosine-1-phosphate transporter Spns2 expressed on endothelial cells regulates lymphocyte trafficking in mice. *J Clin Invest* 122, 1416-1426 (2012).
- 106. Matloubian, M. *et al.* Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1. *Nature* 427, 355-360 (2004).
- 107. Bankovich, A.J., Shiow, L.R. & Cyster, J.G. CD69 suppresses sphingosine 1phosophate receptor-1 (S1P1) function through interaction with membrane helix 4. *J Biol Chem* 285, 22328-22337 (2010).
- 108. Boehm, T., Scheu, S., Pfeffer, K. & Bleul, C.C. Thymic medullary epithelial cell differentiation, thymocyte emigration, and the control of autoimmunity require lympho-epithelial cross talk via LTbetaR. J Exp Med 198, 757-769 (2003).
- 109. White, A.J. et al. A type 2 cytokine axis for thymus emigration. J Exp Med 214, 2205-2216 (2017).
- 110. Nowell, C.S. *et al.* Foxn1 regulates lineage progression in cortical and medullary thymic epithelial cells but is dispensable for medullary sublineage divergence. *PLoS Genet* 7, e1002348 (2011).
- 111. Flanagan, S.P. 'Nude', a new hairless gene with pleiotropic effects in the mouse. *Genet Res* 8, 295-309 (1966).
- 112. Pantelouris, E.M. Absence of thymus in a mouse mutant. Nature 217, 370-371 (1968).
- 113. Nehls, M., Pfeifer, D., Schorpp, M., Hedrich, H. & Boehm, T. New member of the winged-helix protein family disrupted in mouse and rat nude mutations. *Nature* 372, 103-107 (1994).

- 114. Nehls, M. et al. Two genetically separable steps in the differentiation of thymic epithelium. Science 272, 886-889 (1996).
- 115. Blackburn, C.C. *et al.* The nu gene acts cell-autonomously and is required for differentiation of thymic epithelial progenitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93, 5742-5746 (1996).
- 116. Frank, J. et al. Exposing the human nude phenotype. Nature 398, 473-474 (1999).
- 117. Wallin, J. *et al.* Pax1 is expressed during development of the thymus epithelium and is required for normal T-cell maturation. *Development* 122, 23-30 (1996).
- 118. Hetzer-Egger, C. et al. Thymopoiesis requires Pax9 function in thymic epithelial cells. Eur J Immunol 32, 1175-1181 (2002).
- Meyers, E.N., Lewandoski, M. & Martin, G.R. An Fgf8 mutant allelic series generated by Cre- and Flp-mediated recombination. *Nat Genet* 18, 136-141 (1998).
- Su, D., Ellis, S., Napier, A., Lee, K. & Manley, N.R. Hoxa3 and pax1 regulate epithelial cell death and proliferation during thymus and parathyroid organogenesis. *Dev Biol* 236, 316-329 (2001).
- 121. Manley, N.R. & Capecchi, M.R. Hox group 3 paralogs regulate the development and migration of the thymus, thyroid, and parathyroid glands. *Dev Biol* 195, 1-15 (1998).
- 122. Xu, P.X. et al. Eya1 is required for the morphogenesis of mammalian thymus, parathyroid and thyroid. Development 129, 3033-3044 (2002).
- Jerome, L.A. & Papaioannou, V.E. DiGeorge syndrome phenotype in mice mutant for the T-box gene, Tbx1. *Nat Genet* 27, 286-291 (2001).
- 124. Merscher, S. et al. TBX1 is responsible for cardiovascular defects in velo-cardiofacial/DiGeorge syndrome. Cell 104, 619-629 (2001).
- 125. Le Lievre, C.S. & Le Douarin, N.M. Mesenchymal derivatives of the neural crest: analysis of chimaeric quail and chick embryos. *J Embryol Exp Morphol* 34, 125-154 (1975).
- 126. Foster, K. *et al.* Contribution of neural crest-derived cells in the embryonic and adult thymus. *J Immunol* 180, 3183-3189 (2008).
- 127. Muller, S.M. *et al.* Neural crest origin of perivascular mesenchyme in the adult thymus. *J Immunol* 180, 5344-5351 (2008).
- 128. Bockman, D.E. & Kirby, M.L. Dependence of thymus development on derivatives of the neural crest. *Science* 223, 498-500 (1984).
- 129. Griffith, A.V. *et al.* Increased thymus- and decreased parathyroid-fated organ domains in Splotch mutant embryos. *Dev Biol* 327, 216-227 (2009).
- 130. Gordon, J. & Manley, N.R. Mechanisms of thymus organogenesis and morphogenesis. *Development* 138, 3865-3878 (2011).
- Gordon, J., Bennett, A.R., Blackburn, C.C. & Manley, N.R. Gcm2 and Foxn1 mark early parathyroid- and thymus-specific domains in the developing third pharyngeal pouch. *Mech Dev* 103, 141-143 (2001).
- 132. Gunther, T. et al. Genetic ablation of parathyroid glands reveals another source of parathyroid hormone. Nature 406, 199-203 (2000).

- 133. Bleul, C.C. & Boehm, T. BMP signaling is required for normal thymus development. *J Immunol* 175, 5213-5221 (2005).
- 134. Balciunaite, G. *et al.* Wnt glycoproteins regulate the expression of FoxN1, the gene defective in nude mice. *Nat Immunol* 3, 1102-1108 (2002).
- 135. Moore-Scott, B.A. & Manley, N.R. Differential expression of Sonic hedgehog along the anterior-posterior axis regulates patterning of pharyngeal pouch endoderm and pharyngeal endoderm-derived organs. *Dev Biol* 278, 323-335 (2005).
- 136. Liu, C. *et al.* Coordination between CCR7- and CCR9-mediated chemokine signals in prevascular fetal thymus colonization. *Blood* 108, 2531-2539 (2006).
- 137. Zuklys, S. *et al.* Foxn1 regulates key target genes essential for T cell development in postnatal thymic epithelial cells. *Nat Immunol* 17, 1206-1215 (2016).
- 138. Liu, C. *et al.* The role of CCL21 in recruitment of T-precursor cells to fetal thymi. *Blood* 105, 31-39 (2005).
- 139. Klug, D.B., Carter, C., Gimenez-Conti, I.B. & Richie, E.R. Cutting edge: thymocyteindependent and thymocyte-dependent phases of epithelial patterning in the fetal thymus. *J Immunol* 169, 2842-2845 (2002).
- 140. Nitta, T., Ohigashi, I., Nakagawa, Y. & Takahama, Y. Cytokine crosstalk for thymic medulla formation. *Curr Opin Immunol* 23, 190-197 (2011).
- 141. Gordon, J. *et al.* Functional evidence for a single endodermal origin for the thymic epithelium. *Nat Immunol* 5, 546-553 (2004).
- 142. Foster, K.E. *et al.* EphB-ephrin-B2 interactions are required for thymus migration during organogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 107, 13414-13419 (2010).
- 143. Takahama, Y., Ohigashi, I., Baik, S. & Anderson, G. Generation of diversity in thymic epithelial cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 17, 295-305 (2017).
- Rossi, S.W., Jenkinson, W.E., Anderson, G. & Jenkinson, E.J. Clonal analysis reveals a common progenitor for thymic cortical and medullary epithelium. *Nature* 441, 988-991 (2006).
- 145. Bleul, C.C. *et al.* Formation of a functional thymus initiated by a postnatal epithelial progenitor cell. *Nature* 441, 992-996 (2006).
- 146. Rodewald, H.R., Paul, S., Haller, C., Bluethmann, H. & Blum, C. Thymus medulla consisting of epithelial islets each derived from a single progenitor. *Nature* 414, 763-768 (2001).
- 147. Anderson, G. & Takahama, Y. Thymic epithelial cells: working class heroes for T cell development and repertoire selection. *Trends Immunol* 33, 256-263 (2012).
- 148. Shakib, S. et al. Checkpoints in the development of thymic cortical epithelial cells. J Immunol 182, 130-137 (2009).
- 149. Baik, S., Jenkinson, E.J., Lane, P.J., Anderson, G. & Jenkinson, W.E. Generation of both cortical and Aire(+) medullary thymic epithelial compartments from CD205(+) progenitors. *Eur J Immunol* 43, 589-594 (2013).
- 150. Ohigashi, I. *et al.* Aire-expressing thymic medullary epithelial cells originate from beta5texpressing progenitor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 110, 9885-9890 (2013).

- 151. Alves, N.L. et al. Serial progression of cortical and medullary thymic epithelial microenvironments. Eur J Immunol 44, 16-22 (2014).
- 152. Ribeiro, A.R., Rodrigues, P.M., Meireles, C., Di Santo, J.P. & Alves, N.L. Thymocyte selection regulates the homeostasis of IL-7-expressing thymic cortical epithelial cells in vivo. *J Immunol* 191, 1200-1209 (2013).
- Sekai, M., Hamazaki, Y. & Minato, N. Medullary Thymic Epithelial Stem Cells Maintain a Functional Thymus to Ensure Lifelong Central T Cell Tolerance. *Immunity* 41, 753-761 (2014).
- 154. Akiyama, T. *et al.* The tumor necrosis factor family receptors RANK and CD40 cooperatively establish the thymic medullary microenvironment and self-tolerance. *Immunity* 29, 423-437 (2008).
- 155. Baik, S., Sekai, M., Hamazaki, Y., Jenkinson, W.E. & Anderson, G. Relb acts downstream of medullary thymic epithelial stem cells and is essential for the emergence of RANK(+) medullary epithelial progenitors. *Eur J Immunol* 46, 857-862 (2016).
- 156. Burkly, L. *et al.* Expression of relB is required for the development of thymic medulla and dendritic cells. *Nature* 373, 531-536 (1995).
- 157. Akiyama, N. *et al.* Identification of embryonic precursor cells that differentiate into thymic epithelial cells expressing autoimmune regulator. *J Exp Med* 213, 1441-1458 (2016).
- 158. Rode, I. & Boehm, T. Regenerative capacity of adult cortical thymic epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 109, 3463-3468 (2012).
- 159. Bredenkamp, N., Nowell, C.S. & Blackburn, C.C. Regeneration of the aged thymus by a single transcription factor. *Development* 141, 1627-1637 (2014).
- Gabler, J., Arnold, J. & Kyewski, B. Promiscuous gene expression and the developmental dynamics of medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Eur J Immunol* 37, 3363-3372 (2007).
- 161. Gray, D.H. *et al.* Developmental kinetics, turnover, and stimulatory capacity of thymic epithelial cells. *Blood* 108, 3777-3785 (2006).
- Ucar, A. *et al.* Adult thymus contains FoxN1(-) epithelial stem cells that are bipotent for medullary and cortical thymic epithelial lineages. *Immunity* 41, 257-269 (2014).
- Ucar, O. *et al.* A Thymic Epithelial Stem Cell Pool Persists throughout Ontogeny and Is Modulated by TGF-beta. *Cell Rep* 17, 448-457 (2016).
- 164. Ulyanchenko, S. *et al.* Identification of a Bipotent Epithelial Progenitor Population in the Adult Thymus. *Cell Rep* 14, 2819-2832 (2016).
- 165. Wong, K. *et al.* Multilineage potential and self-renewal define an epithelial progenitor cell population in the adult thymus. *Cell Rep* 8, 1198-1209 (2014).
- 166. Dumont-Lagace, M. *et al.* Detection of Quiescent Radioresistant Epithelial Progenitors in the Adult Thymus. *Front Immunol* 8, 1717 (2017).
- Onder, L. *et al.* Alternative NF-kappaB signaling regulates mTEC differentiation from podoplanin-expressing precursors in the cortico-medullary junction. *Eur J Immunol* 45, 2218-2231 (2015).

- Ohigashi, I. *et al.* Adult Thymic Medullary Epithelium Is Maintained and Regenerated by Lineage-Restricted Cells Rather Than Bipotent Progenitors. *Cell Rep* 13, 1432-1443 (2015).
- 169. Mayer, C.E. *et al.* Dynamic spatio-temporal contribution of single beta5t+ cortical epithelial precursors to the thymus medulla. *Eur J Immunol* 46, 846-856 (2016).
- 170. Desanti, G.E. *et al.* Developmentally regulated availability of RANKL and CD40 ligand reveals distinct mechanisms of fetal and adult cross-talk in the thymus medulla. *J Immunol* 189, 5519-5526 (2012).
- 171. Abramson, J. & Anderson, G. Thymic Epithelial Cells. Ann Rev Immunol, 85-118 (2017).
- 172. Zhang, S.L. & Bhandoola, A. Trafficking to the thymus. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 373, 87-111 (2014).
- 173. Heinzel, K., Benz, C. & Bleul, C.C. A silent chemokine receptor regulates steady-state leukocyte homing in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 104, 8421-8426 (2007).
- 174. Lucas, B. *et al.* CCRL1/ACKR4 is expressed in key thymic microenvironments but is dispensable for T lymphopoiesis at steady state in adult mice. *Eur J Immunol* 45, 574-583 (2015).
- 175. Fiorini, E. *et al.* Cutting edge: thymic crosstalk regulates delta-like 4 expression on cortical epithelial cells. *J Immunol* 181, 8199-8203 (2008).
- 176. Dengjel, J. et al. Autophagy promotes MHC class II presentation of peptides from intracellular source proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102, 7922-7927 (2005).
- 177. Nedjic, J., Aichinger, M., Emmerich, J., Mizushima, N. & Klein, L. Autophagy in thymic epithelium shapes the T-cell repertoire and is essential for tolerance. *Nature* 455, 396-400 (2008).
- 178. Viret, C. *et al.* Thymus-specific serine protease contributes to the diversification of the functional endogenous CD4 T cell receptor repertoire. *J Exp Med* 208, 3-11 (2011).
- 179. Murata, S. *et al.* Regulation of CD8+ T cell development by thymus-specific proteasomes. *Science* 316, 1349-1353 (2007).
- 180. Sasaki, K. *et al.* Thymoproteasomes produce unique peptide motifs for positive selection of CD8(+) T cells. *Nat Commun* 6, 7484 (2015).
- 181. Takada, K. *et al.* TCR affinity for thymoproteasome-dependent positively selecting peptides conditions antigen responsiveness in CD8(+) T cells. *Nat Immunol* 16, 1069-1076 (2015).
- 182. Kyewski, B.A. & Kaplan, H.S. Lymphoepithelial interactions in the mouse thymus: phenotypic and kinetic studies on thymic nurse cells. *J Immunol* 128, 2287-2294 (1982).
- Nakagawa, Y. *et al.* Thymic nurse cells provide microenvironment for secondary T cell receptor alpha rearrangement in cortical thymocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 109, 20572-20577 (2012).

- 184. Rossi, S.W. *et al.* RANK signals from CD4(+)3(-) inducer cells regulate development of Aire-expressing epithelial cells in the thymic medulla. *J Exp Med* 204, 1267-1272 (2007).
- Derbinski, J., Schulte, A., Kyewski, B. & Klein, L. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol* 2, 1032-1039 (2001).
- 186. Ahonen, P., Myllarniemi, S., Sipila, I. & Perheentupa, J. Clinical variation of autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED) in a series of 68 patients. *N Engl J Med* 322, 1829-1836 (1990).
- 187. Zuklys, S. *et al.* Normal thymic architecture and negative selection are associated with Aire expression, the gene defective in the autoimmune-polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED). *J Immunol* 165, 1976-1983 (2000).
- Peterson, P., Pitkanen, J., Sillanpaa, N. & Krohn, K. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy (APECED): a model disease to study molecular aspects of endocrine autoimmunity. *Clin Exp Immunol* 135, 348-357 (2004).
- 189. Koh, A.S. *et al.* Aire employs a histone-binding module to mediate immunological tolerance, linking chromatin regulation with organ-specific autoimmunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 105, 15878-15883 (2008).
- 190. Org, T. *et al.* The autoimmune regulator PHD finger binds to non-methylated histone H3K4 to activate gene expression. *EMBO Rep* 9, 370-376 (2008).
- 191. Org, T. et al. AIRE activated tissue specific genes have histone modifications associated with inactive chromatin. Hum Mol Genet 18, 4699-4710 (2009).
- 192. Oven, I. *et al.* AIRE recruits P-TEFb for transcriptional elongation of target genes in medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 27, 8815-8823 (2007).
- 193. Giraud, M. *et al.* Aire unleashes stalled RNA polymerase to induce ectopic gene expression in thymic epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 109, 535-540 (2012).
- 194. Giraud, M. *et al.* An RNAi screen for Aire cofactors reveals a role for Hnrnpl in polymerase release and Aire-activated ectopic transcription. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 111, 1491-1496 (2014).
- 195. Chuprin, A. *et al.* The deacetylase Sirt1 is an essential regulator of Aire-mediated induction of central immunological tolerance. *Nat Immunol* 16, 737-745 (2015).
- 196. Bachem, A. *et al.* Expression of XCR1 Characterizes the Batf3-Dependent Lineage of Dendritic Cells Capable of Antigen Cross-Presentation. *Front Immunol* 3, 214 (2012).
- 197. Lei, Y. *et al.* Aire-dependent production of XCL1 mediates medullary accumulation of thymic dendritic cells and contributes to regulatory T cell development. *J Exp Med* 208, 383-394 (2011).
- 198. Ueno, T. *et al.* CCR7 signals are essential for cortex-medulla migration of developing thymocytes. *J Exp Med* 200, 493-505 (2004).
- 199. Cowan, J.E. *et al.* The thymic medulla is required for Foxp3+ regulatory but not conventional CD4+ thymocyte development. *J Exp Med* 210, 675-681 (2013).

- 200. Nitta, T., Nitta, S., Lei, Y., Lipp, M. & Takahama, Y. CCR7-mediated migration of developing thymocytes to the medulla is essential for negative selection to tissue-restricted antigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 106, 17129-17133 (2009).
- Kurobe, H. et al. CCR7-dependent cortex-to-medulla migration of positively selected thymocytes is essential for establishing central tolerance. *Immunity* 24, 165-177 (2006).
- 202. Breart, B. et al. Lipid phosphate phosphatase 3 enables efficient thymic egress. J Exp Med 208, 1267-1278 (2011).
- Zamora-Pineda, J., Kumar, A., Suh, J.H., Zhang, M. & Saba, J.D. Dendritic cell sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase regulates thymic egress. *J Exp Med* 213, 2773-2791 (2016).
- 204. Boursalian, T.E., Golob, J., Soper, D.M., Cooper, C.J. & Fink, P.J. Continued maturation of thymic emigrants in the periphery. *Nat Immunol* 5, 418-425 (2004).
- 205. Mueller, D.L., Jenkins, M.K. & Schwartz, R.H. Clonal expansion versus functional clonal inactivation: a costimulatory signalling pathway determines the outcome of T cell antigen receptor occupancy. *Ann Rev Immunol* 7, 445-480 (1989).
- 206. Schwartz, R.H. T cell anergy. Ann Rev Immunol 21, 305-334 (2003).
- 207. Bevan, M.J. Helping the CD8(+) T-cell response. Nat Rev Immunol 4, 595-602 (2004).
- 208. Rajasagi, N.K. *et al.* CD4+ T cells are required for the priming of CD8+ T cells following infection with herpes simplex virus type 1. *J Virol* 83, 5256-5268 (2009).
- 209. Smith, C.M. *et al.* Cognate CD4(+) T cell licensing of dendritic cells in CD8(+) T cell immunity. *Nat Immunol* 5, 1143-1148 (2004).
- 210. Wiesel, M., Kratky, W. & Oxenius, A. Type I IFN substitutes for T cell help during viral infections. *J Immunol* 186, 754-763 (2011).
- Wang, Y. *et al.* Timing and magnitude of type I interferon responses by distinct sensors impact CD8 T cell exhaustion and chronic viral infection. *Cell Host Microbe* 11, 631-642 (2012).
- 212. Belz, G.T., Wodarz, D., Diaz, G., Nowak, M.A. & Doherty, P.C. Compromised influenza virus-specific CD8(+)-T-cell memory in CD4(+)-T-cell-deficient mice. *J Virol* 76, 12388-12393 (2002).
- 213. Le Bon, A. *et al.* Cross-priming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon. *Nat Immunol* 4, 1009-1015 (2003).
- 214. Filatenkov, A.A. *et al.* CD4 T cell-dependent conditioning of dendritic cells to produce IL-12 results in CD8-mediated graft rejection and avoidance of tolerance. *J Immunol* 174, 6909-6917 (2005).
- 215. Oh, S. *et al.* IL-15 as a mediator of CD4+ help for CD8+ T cell longevity and avoidance of TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 105, 5201-5206 (2008).
- 216. Greyer, M. et al. T Cell Help Amplifies Innate Signals in CD8(+) DCs for Optimal CD8(+) T Cell Priming. Cell Rep 14, 586-597 (2016).
- 217. Xin, A. *et al.* A molecular threshold for effector CD8(+) T cell differentiation controlled by transcription factors Blimp-1 and T-bet. *Nat Immunol* 17, 422-432 (2016).

- 218. Joshi, N.S. *et al.* Inflammation directs memory precursor and short-lived effector CD8(+) T cell fates via the graded expression of T-bet transcription factor. *Immunity* 27, 281-295 (2007).
- Kallies, A., Xin, A., Belz, G.T. & Nutt, S.L. Blimp-1 transcription factor is required for the differentiation of effector CD8(+) T cells and memory responses. *Immunity* 31, 283-295 (2009).
- 220. Rutishauser, R.L. *et al.* Transcriptional repressor Blimp-1 promotes CD8(+) T cell terminal differentiation and represses the acquisition of central memory T cell properties. *Immunity* 31, 296-308 (2009).
- 221. Mescher, M.F. *et al.* Signals required for programming effector and memory development by CD8+ T cells. *Immunol Rev* 211, 81-92 (2006).
- 222. Parish, I.A. & Kaech, S.M. Diversity in CD8(+) T cell differentiation. *Curr Opin Immunol* 21, 291-297 (2009).
- 223. Yang, C.Y. *et al.* The transcriptional regulators Id2 and Id3 control the formation of distinct memory CD8+ T cell subsets. *Nat Immunol* 12, 1221-1229 (2011).
- 224. Dominguez, C.X. *et al.* The transcription factors ZEB2 and T-bet cooperate to program cytotoxic T cell terminal differentiation in response to LCMV viral infection. *J Exp Med* 212, 2041-2056 (2015).
- 225. Intlekofer, A.M. *et al.* Effector and memory CD8+ T cell fate coupled by T-bet and eomesodermin. *Nat Immunol* 6, 1236-1244 (2005).
- 226. Ichii, H., Sakamoto, A., Kuroda, Y. & Tokuhisa, T. Bcl6 acts as an amplifier for the generation and proliferative capacity of central memory CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* 173, 883-891 (2004).
- 227. Zhou, X. *et al.* Differentiation and persistence of memory CD8(+) T cells depend on T cell factor 1. *Immunity* 33, 229-240 (2010).
- 228. Danilo, M., Chennupati, V., Silva, J.G., Siegert, S. & Held, W. Suppression of Tcf1 by Inflammatory Cytokines Facilitates Effector CD8 T Cell Differentiation. *Cell Rep* 22, 2107-2117 (2018).
- 229. Chang, J.T. *et al.* Asymmetric proteasome segregation as a mechanism for unequal partitioning of the transcription factor T-bet during T lymphocyte division. *Immunity* 34, 492-504 (2011).
- 230. Lin, W.W. *et al.* CD8(+) T Lymphocyte Self-Renewal during Effector Cell Determination. *Cell Rep* 17, 1773-1782 (2016).
- 231. Guidotti, L.G. & Chisari, F.V. Cytokine-mediated control of viral infections. *Virology* 273, 221-227 (2000).
- 232. Stinchcombe, J.C., Majorovits, E., Bossi, G., Fuller, S. & Griffiths, G.M. Centrosome polarization delivers secretory granules to the immunological synapse. *Nature* 443, 462-465 (2006).
- 233. Stinchcombe, J.C. *et al.* Centriole polarisation to the immunological synapse directs secretion from cytolytic cells of both the innate and adaptive immune systems. *BMC Biol* 9, 45 (2011).

- 234. Smyth, M.J. *et al.* Unlocking the secrets of cytotoxic granule proteins. *J Leukoc Biol* 70, 18-29 (2001).
- 235. Heibein, J.A. *et al.* Granzyme B-mediated cytochrome c release is regulated by the Bcl-2 family members bid and Bax. *J Exp Med* 192, 1391-1402 (2000).
- Balaji, K.N., Schaschke, N., Machleidt, W., Catalfamo, M. & Henkart, P.A. Surface cathepsin B protects cytotoxic lymphocytes from self-destruction after degranulation. *J Exp Med* 196, 493-503 (2002).
- Baran, K. *et al.* Cytotoxic T lymphocytes from cathepsin B-deficient mice survive normally in vitro and in vivo after encountering and killing target cells. *J Biol Chem* 281, 30485-30491 (2006).
- 238. Strasser, A., Jost, P.J. & Nagata, S. The many roles of FAS receptor signaling in the immune system. *Immunity* 30, 180-192 (2009).
- 239. Rieux-Laucat, F., Le Deist, F. & Fischer, A. Autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndromes: genetic defects of apoptosis pathways. *Cell Death Differ* 10, 124-133 (2003).
- 240. Trandem, K., Zhao, J., Fleming, E. & Perlman, S. Highly activated cytotoxic CD8 T cells express protective IL-10 at the peak of coronavirus-induced encephalitis. *J Immunol* 186, 3642-3652 (2011).
- 241. Palmer, E.M., Holbrook, B.C., Arimilli, S., Parks, G.D. & Alexander-Miller, M.A. IFNgamma-producing, virus-specific CD8+ effector cells acquire the ability to produce IL-10 as a result of entry into the infected lung environment. *Virology* 404, 225-230 (2010).
- 242. Sun, J., Madan, R., Karp, C.L. & Braciale, T.J. Effector T cells control lung inflammation during acute influenza virus infection by producing IL-10. *Nat Med* 15, 277-284 (2009).
- 243. Williams, M.A. & Bevan, M.J. Effector and memory CTL differentiation. Ann Rev Immunol 25, 171-192 (2007).
- 244. Sallusto, F., Geginat, J. & Lanzavecchia, A. Central memory and effector memory T cell subsets: function, generation, and maintenance. *Ann Rev Immunol* 22, 745-763 (2004).
- 245. Samji, T. & Khanna, K.M. Understanding memory CD8(+) T cells. *Immunol Lett* 185, 32-39 (2017).
- Wakim, L.M., Waithman, J., van Rooijen, N., Heath, W.R. & Carbone, F.R. Dendritic cell-induced memory T cell activation in nonlymphoid tissues. *Science* 319, 198-202 (2008).
- 247. Gebhardt, T. *et al.* Memory T cells in nonlymphoid tissue that provide enhanced local immunity during infection with herpes simplex virus. *Nat Immunol* 10, 524-530 (2009).
- 248. Wakim, L.M., Woodward-Davis, A. & Bevan, M.J. Memory T cells persisting within the brain after local infection show functional adaptations to their tissue of residence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 107, 17872-17879 (2010).
- 249. Landrith, T.A. *et al.* CD103(+) CD8 T Cells in the Toxoplasma-Infected Brain Exhibit a Tissue-Resident Memory Transcriptional Profile. *Front Immunol* 8, 335 (2017).

- 250. Casey, K.A. *et al.* Antigen-independent differentiation and maintenance of effector-like resident memory T cells in tissues. *J Immunol* 188, 4866-4875 (2012).
- 251. Ma, C., Mishra, S., Demel, E.L., Liu, Y. & Zhang, N. TGF-beta Controls the Formation of Kidney-Resident T Cells via Promoting Effector T Cell Extravasation. *J Immunol* 198, 749-756 (2017).
- 252. Fernandez-Ruiz, D. *et al.* Liver-Resident Memory CD8(+) T Cells Form a Front-Line Defense against Malaria Liver-Stage Infection. *Immunity* 45, 889-902 (2016).
- 253. Topham, D.J. & Reilly, E.C. Tissue-Resident Memory CD8(+) T Cells: From Phenotype to Function. *Front Immunol* 9, 515 (2018).
- 254. Mackay, L.K. *et al.* Cutting edge: CD69 interference with sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor function regulates peripheral T cell retention. *J Immunol* 194, 2059-2063 (2015).
- 255. Sheridan, B.S. *et al.* Oral infection drives a distinct population of intestinal resident memory CD8(+) T cells with enhanced protective function. *Immunity* 40, 747-757 (2014).
- 256. Lee, Y.T. *et al.* Environmental and antigen receptor-derived signals support sustained surveillance of the lungs by pathogen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Virol* 85, 4085-4094 (2011).
- 257. Cepek, K.L. *et al.* Adhesion between epithelial cells and T lymphocytes mediated by E-cadherin and the alpha E beta 7 integrin. *Nature* 372, 190-193 (1994).
- 258. Meharra, E.J. et al. Reduced gut intraepithelial lymphocytes in VLA1 null mice. Cell Immunol 201, 1-5 (2000).
- 259. Ray, S.J. *et al.* The collagen binding alpha1beta1 integrin VLA-1 regulates CD8 T cellmediated immune protection against heterologous influenza infection. *Immunity* 20, 167-179 (2004).
- 260. Haluszczak, C. *et al.* The antigen-specific CD8+ T cell repertoire in unimmunized mice includes memory phenotype cells bearing markers of homeostatic expansion. *J Exp Med* 206, 435-448 (2009).
- 261. White, J.T., Cross, E.W. & Kedl, R.M. Antigen-inexperienced memory CD8(+) T cells: where they come from and why we need them. *Nat Rev Immunol* 17, 391-400 (2017).
- 262. Lee, Y.J., Jameson, S.C. & Hogquist, K.A. Alternative memory in the CD8 T cell lineage. *Trends Immunol* 32, 50-56 (2011).
- Goldrath, A.W., Bogatzki, L.Y. & Bevan, M.J. Naive T cells transiently acquire a memory-like phenotype during homeostasis-driven proliferation. *J Exp Med* 192, 557-564 (2000).
- Sandau, M.M., Winstead, C.J. & Jameson, S.C. IL-15 is required for sustained lymphopenia-driven proliferation and accumulation of CD8 T cells. *J Immunol* 179, 120-125 (2007).
- 265. Tan, J.T. *et al.* IL-7 is critical for homeostatic proliferation and survival of naive T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 8732-8737 (2001).

- 266. Sosinowski, T. *et al.* CD8alpha+ dendritic cell trans presentation of IL-15 to naive CD8+ T cells produces antigen-inexperienced T cells in the periphery with memory phenotype and function. *J Immunol* 190, 1936-1947 (2013).
- 267. Kurzweil, V., LaRoche, A. & Oliver, P.M. Increased peripheral IL-4 leads to an expanded virtual memory CD8+ population. *J Immunol* 192, 5643-5651 (2014).
- 268. Martinet, V. *et al.* Type I interferons regulate eomesodermin expression and the development of unconventional memory CD8(+) T cells. *Nat Commun* 6, 7089 (2015).
- White, J.T. et al. Virtual memory T cells develop and mediate bystander protective immunity in an IL-15-dependent manner. Nat Commun 7, 11291 (2016).
- 270. Surh, C.D. & Sprent, J. Homeostasis of naive and memory T cells. *Immunity* 29, 848-862 (2008).
- 271. Schluns, K.S., Kieper, W.C., Jameson, S.C. & Lefrancois, L. Interleukin-7 mediates the homeostasis of naive and memory CD8 T cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 1, 426-432 (2000).
- 272. Schluns, K.S., Williams, K., Ma, A., Zheng, X.X. & Lefrancois, L. Cutting edge: requirement for IL-15 in the generation of primary and memory antigen-specific CD8 T cells. *J Immunol* 168, 4827-4831 (2002).
- Becker, T.C. *et al.* Interleukin 15 is required for proliferative renewal of virus-specific memory CD8 T cells. *J Exp Med* 195, 1541-1548 (2002).
- 274. Raue, H.P., Beadling, C., Haun, J. & Slifka, M.K. Cytokine-mediated programmed proliferation of virus-specific CD8(+) memory T cells. *Immunity* 38, 131-139 (2013).
- 275. Soudja, S.M., Ruiz, A.L., Marie, J.C. & Lauvau, G. Inflammatory monocytes activate memory CD8(+) T and innate NK lymphocytes independent of cognate antigen during microbial pathogen invasion. *Immunity* 37, 549-562 (2012).
- 276. Kohlmeier, J.E., Cookenham, T., Roberts, A.D., Miller, S.C. & Woodland, D.L. Type I interferons regulate cytolytic activity of memory CD8(+) T cells in the lung airways during respiratory virus challenge. *Immunity* 33, 96-105 (2010).
- Kupz, A. et al. NLRC4 inflammasomes in dendritic cells regulate noncognate effector function by memory CD8(+) T cells. Nat Immunol 13, 162-169 (2012).
- 278. Berg, R.E., Crossley, E., Murray, S. & Forman, J. Memory CD8+ T cells provide innate immune protection against Listeria monocytogenes in the absence of cognate antigen. *J Exp Med* 198, 1583-1593 (2003).
- 279. Guarda, G. *et al.* L-selectin-negative CCR7- effector and memory CD8+ T cells enter reactive lymph nodes and kill dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* 8, 743-752 (2007).
- Schenkel, J.M., Fraser, K.A., Vezys, V. & Masopust, D. Sensing and alarm function of resident memory CD8(+) T cells. *Nat Immunol* 14, 509-513 (2013).
- Schenkel, J.M., Fraser, K.A. & Masopust, D. Cutting edge: resident memory CD8 T cells occupy frontline niches in secondary lymphoid organs. *J Immunol* 192, 2961-2964 (2014).

- 282. Lauvau, G., Boutet, M., Williams, T.M., Chin, S.S. & Chorro, L. Memory CD8(+) T Cells: Innate-Like Sensors and Orchestrators of Protection. *Trends Immunol* 37, 375-385 (2016).
- 283. Schenkel, J.M. *et al.* T cell memory. Resident memory CD8 T cells trigger protective innate and adaptive immune responses. *Science* 346, 98-101 (2014).
- 284. Narni-Mancinelli, E. *et al.* Memory CD8+ T cells mediate antibacterial immunity via CCL3 activation of TNF/ROI+ phagocytes. *J Exp Med* 204, 2075-2087 (2007).
- 285. White, D.W. & Harty, J.T. Perforin-deficient CD8+ T cells provide immunity to Listeria monocytogenes by a mechanism that is independent of CD95 and IFN-gamma but requires TNF-alpha. *J Immunol* 160, 898-905 (1998).
- 286. Narni-Mancinelli, E. *et al.* Inflammatory monocytes and neutrophils are licensed to kill during memory responses in vivo. *PLoS Pathog* 7, e1002457 (2011).
- 287. Jenkinson, W.E., Rossi, S.W., Parnell, S.M., Jenkinson, E. & Anderson, G. PDGFRαexpressing mesenchyme regulates thymus growth and the availability of intrathymic niches. *Blood* 109, 954-960 (2007).
- Jenkinson, W.E., Jenkinson, E.J. & Anderson, G. Differential requirement for mesenchyme in the proliferation and maturation of thymic epithelial progenitors. *J Exp Med* 198, 325-332 (2003).
- 289. Revest, J.M., Suniara, R.K., Kerr, K., Owen, J.J. & Dickson, C. Development of the thymus requires signaling through the fibroblast growth factor receptor R2-IIIb. *J Immunol* 167, 1954-1961 (2001).
- 290. Sitnik, K.M. *et al.* Mesenchymal cells regulate retinoic acid receptor-dependent cortical thymic epithelial cell homeostasis. *J Immunol* 188, 4801-4809 (2012).
- 291. Gray, D.H. et al. A unique thymic fibroblast population revealed by the monoclonal antibody MTS-15. J Immunol 178, 4956-4965 (2007).
- Kenins, L., Gill, J.W., Boyd, R.L., Hollander, G.A. & Wodnar-Filipowicz, A. Intrathymic expression of Flt3 ligand enhances thymic recovery after irradiation. *J Exp Med* 205, 523-531 (2008).
- 293. Kenins, L., Gill, J.W., Hollander, G.A. & Wodnar-Filipowicz, A. Flt3 ligand-receptor interaction is important for maintenance of early thymic progenitor numbers in steady-state thymopoiesis. *Eur J Immunol* 40, 81-90 (2010).
- 294. Odaka, C. Localization of mesenchymal cells in adult mouse thymus: their abnormal distribution in mice with disorganization of thymic medullary epithelium. *J Histochem Cytochem* 57, 373-382 (2009).
- 295. Coles, M., Kioussis, D. & Veiga-Fernandes, H. Cellular and molecular requirements in lymph node and Peyer's patch development. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci* 92, 177-205 (2010).
- Chappaz, S. & Finke, D. The IL-7 signaling pathway regulates lymph node development independent of peripheral lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 184, 3562-3569 (2010).

- 297. Yoshida, H. *et al.* Different cytokines induce surface lymphotoxin-alphabeta on IL-7 receptor-alpha cells that differentially engender lymph nodes and Peyer's patches. *Immunity* 17, 823-833 (2002).
- 298. Dougall, W.C. *et al.* RANK is essential for osteoclast and lymph node development. *Genes Dev* 13, 2412-2424 (1999).
- 299. Futterer, A., Mink, K., Luz, A., Kosco-Vilbois, M.H. & Pfeffer, K. The lymphotoxin beta receptor controls organogenesis and affinity maturation in peripheral lymphoid tissues. *Immunity* 9, 59-70 (1998).
- Luther, S.A., Ansel, K.M. & Cyster, J.G. Overlapping roles of CXCL13, interleukin 7 receptor alpha, and CCR7 ligands in lymph node development. *J Exp Med* 197, 1191-1198 (2003).
- 301. Benezech, C. et al. Ontogeny of stromal organizer cells during lymph node development. J Immunol 184, 4521-4530 (2010).
- 302. Brendolan, A. & Caamano, J.H. Mesenchymal cell differentiation during lymph node organogenesis. *Front Immunol* 3, 381 (2012).
- 303. Benezech, C. *et al.* Lymphotoxin-beta receptor signaling through NF-kappaB2-RelB pathway reprograms adipocyte precursors as lymph node stromal cells. *Immunity* 37, 721-734 (2012).
- 304. Bajenoff, M. *et al.* Stromal cell networks regulate lymphocyte entry, migration, and territoriality in lymph nodes. *Immunity* 25, 989-1001 (2006).
- Gunn, M.D. *et al.* Mice lacking expression of secondary lymphoid organ chemokine have defects in lymphocyte homing and dendritic cell localization. *J Exp Med* 189, 451-460 (1999).
- 306. Katakai, T., Hara, T., Sugai, M., Gonda, H. & Shimizu, A. Lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells construct the stromal reticulum via contact with lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 200, 783-795 (2004).
- 307. Katakai, T. *et al.* A novel reticular stromal structure in lymph node cortex: an immunoplatform for interactions among dendritic cells, T cells and B cells. *Int Immunol* 16, 1133-1142 (2004).
- 308. Link, A. *et al.* Fibroblastic reticular cells in lymph nodes regulate the homeostasis of naive T cells. *Nat Immunol* 8, 1255-1265 (2007).
- 309. Sixt, M. *et al.* The conduit system transports soluble antigens from the afferent lymph to resident dendritic cells in the T cell area of the lymph node. *Immunity* 22, 19-29 (2005).
- 310. Cohen, J.N. *et al.* Lymph node-resident lymphatic endothelial cells mediate peripheral tolerance via Aire-independent direct antigen presentation. *J Exp Med* 207, 681-688 (2010).
- 311. Fletcher, A.L. *et al.* Lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells directly present peripheral tissue antigen under steady-state and inflammatory conditions. *J Exp Med* 207, 689-697 (2010).
- 312. Gorelik, L. *et al.* Normal B cell homeostasis requires B cell activation factor production by radiation-resistant cells. *J Exp Med* 198, 937-945 (2003).

- 313. Cyster, J.G. *et al.* Follicular stromal cells and lymphocyte homing to follicles. *Immunol Rev* 176, 181-193 (2000).
- 314. Wang, X. *et al.* Follicular dendritic cells help establish follicle identity and promote B cell retention in germinal centers. *J Exp Med* 208, 2497-2510 (2011).
- 315. Tew, J.G. *et al.* Follicular dendritic cells and presentation of antigen and costimulatory signals to B cells. *Immunol Rev* 156, 39-52 (1997).
- 316. Allen, C.D. & Cyster, J.G. Follicular dendritic cell networks of primary follicles and germinal centers: phenotype and function. *Semin Immunol* 20, 14-25 (2008).
- 317. Krautler, N.J. *et al.* Follicular dendritic cells emerge from ubiquitous perivascular precursors. *Cell* 150, 194-206 (2012).
- 318. Jarjour, M. et al. Fate mapping reveals origin and dynamics of lymph node follicular dendritic cells. J Exp Med 211, 1109-1122 (2014).
- 319. Endres, R. *et al.* Mature follicular dendritic cell networks depend on expression of lymphotoxin beta receptor by radioresistant stromal cells and of lymphotoxin beta and tumor necrosis factor by B cells. *J Exp Med* 189, 159-168 (1999).
- 320. Myers, R.C., King, R.G., Carter, R.H. & Justement, L.B. Lymphotoxin alpha1beta2 expression on B cells is required for follicular dendritic cell activation during the germinal center response. *Eur J Immunol* 43, 348-359 (2013).
- 321. Cerny, A., Zinkernagel, R.M. & Groscurth, P. Development of follicular dendritic cells in lymph nodes of B-cell-depleted mice. *Cell Tissue Res* 254, 449-454 (1988).
- 322. Roozendaal, R. *et al.* Conduits mediate transport of low-molecular-weight antigen to lymph node follicles. *Immunity* 30, 264-276 (2009).
- Bajenoff, M. & Germain, R.N. B-cell follicle development remodels the conduit system and allows soluble antigen delivery to follicular dendritic cells. *Blood* 114, 4989-4997 (2009).
- 324. Katakai, T. Marginal reticular cells: a stromal subset directly descended from the lymphoid tissue organizer. *Front Immunol* 3, 200 (2012).
- 325. Katakai, T. *et al.* Organizer-like reticular stromal cell layer common to adult secondary lymphoid organs. *J Immunol* 181, 6189-6200 (2008).
- 326. Harrison, E.H. Mechanisms involved in the intestinal absorption of dietary vitamin A and provitamin A carotenoids. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1821, 70-77 (2012).
- 327. Harrison, E.H. & Hussain, M.M. Mechanisms involved in the intestinal digestion and absorption of dietary vitamin A. *J Nutr* 131, 1405-1408 (2001).
- 328. McDonald, K.G. *et al.* Epithelial expression of the cytosolic retinoid chaperone cellular retinol binding protein II is essential for in vivo imprinting of local gut dendritic cells by lumenal retinoids. *Am J Pathol* 180, 984-997 (2012).
- Kanai, M., Raz, A. & Goodman, D.S. Retinol-binding protein: the transport protein for vitamin A in human plasma. *J Clin Invest* 47, 2025-2044 (1968).
- 330. Kawaguchi, R. *et al.* A membrane receptor for retinol binding protein mediates cellular uptake of vitamin A. *Science* 315, 820-825 (2007).

- 331. Duester, G., Mic, F.A. & Molotkov, A. Cytosolic retinoid dehydrogenases govern ubiquitous metabolism of retinol to retinaldehyde followed by tissue-specific metabolism to retinoic acid. *Chem Biol Interact* 143-144, 201-210 (2003).
- 332. Kumar, S., Sandell, L.L., Trainor, P.A., Koentgen, F. & Duester, G. Alcohol and aldehyde dehydrogenases: retinoid metabolic effects in mouse knockout models. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1821, 198-205 (2012).
- 333. Erkelens, M.N. & Mebius, R.E. Retinoic Acid and Immune Homeostasis: A Balancing Act. *Trends Immunol* 38, 168-180 (2017).
- 334. Thatcher, J.E. & Isoherranen, N. The role of CYP26 enzymes in retinoic acid clearance. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol* 5, 875-886 (2009).
- Dong, D., Ruuska, S.E., Levinthal, D.J. & Noy, N. Distinct roles for cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins I and II in regulating signaling by retinoic acid. *J Biol Chem* 274, 23695-23698 (1999).
- 336. Heyman, R.A. et al. 9-cis retinoic acid is a high affinity ligand for the retinoid X receptor. Cell 68, 397-406 (1992).
- Germain, P., Iyer, J., Zechel, C. & Gronemeyer, H. Co-regulator recruitment and the mechanism of retinoic acid receptor synergy. *Nature* 415, 187-192 (2002).
- 338. Georgiadi, A. & Kersten, S. Mechanisms of gene regulation by fatty acids. *Adv Nutr* 3, 127-134 (2012).
- 339. Al Tanoury, Z., Piskunov, A. & Rochette-Egly, C. Vitamin A and retinoid signaling: genomic and nongenomic effects. *J Lipid Res* 54, 1761-1775 (2013).
- 340. Rochette-Egly, C. & Germain, P. Dynamic and combinatorial control of gene expression by nuclear retinoic acid receptors (RARs). *Nucl Recept Signal* 7, e005 (2009).
- 341. Schule, R. *et al.* Retinoic acid is a negative regulator of AP-1-responsive genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88, 6092-6096 (1991).
- 342. Nervi, C. & Grignani, F. RARs and microRNAs. Subcell Biochem 70, 151-179 (2014).
- 343. Pobezinsky, L.A. *et al.* Let-7 microRNAs target the lineage-specific transcription factor PLZF to regulate terminal NKT cell differentiation and effector function. *Nat Immunol* 16, 517-524 (2015).
- 344. Kour, S. & Rath, P.C. All-Trans Retinoic Acid Induces Expression of a Novel Intergenic Long Noncoding RNA in Adult rat Primary Hippocampal Neurons. *J Mol Neurosci* 58, 266-276 (2016).
- 345. Maghsoodi, B. *et al.* Retinoic acid regulates RARalpha-mediated control of translation in dendritic RNA granules during homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 105, 16015-16020 (2008).
- 346. Poon, M.M. & Chen, L. Retinoic acid-gated sequence-specific translational control by RARalpha. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 105, 20303-20308 (2008).
- 347. Moore, T. & Holmes, P.D. The production of experimental vitamin A deficiency in rats and mice. *Lab Anim* 5, 239-250 (1971).
- 348. Chapellier, B. *et al.* A conditional floxed (loxP-flanked) allele for the retinoic acid receptor alpha (RARalpha) gene. *Genesis* 32, 87-90 (2002).

- 349. Chapellier, B. *et al.* A conditional floxed (loxP-flanked) allele for the retinoic acid receptor beta (RARbeta) gene. *Genesis* 32, 91-94 (2002).
- 350. Chapellier, B. *et al.* A conditional floxed (loxP-flanked) allele for the retinoic acid receptor gamma (RARgamma) gene. *Genesis* 32, 95-98 (2002).
- 351. Tsai, S. *et al.* A mutated retinoic acid receptor-alpha exhibiting dominant-negative activity alters the lineage development of a multipotent hematopoietic cell line. *Genes Dev* 6, 2258-2269 (1992).
- 352. van de Pavert, S.A. *et al.* Maternal retinoids control type 3 innate lymphoid cells and set the offspring immunity. *Nature* 508, 123-127 (2014).
- 353. Szondy, Z. *et al.* Induction of apoptosis by retinoids and retinoic acid receptor gammaselective compounds in mouse thymocytes through a novel apoptosis pathway. *Mol Pharmacol* 51, 972-982 (1997).
- 354. Szondy, Z. *et al.* Inhibition of activation-induced apoptosis of thymocytes by all-transand 9-cis-retinoic acid is mediated via retinoic acid receptor alpha. *Biochem J* 331 (Pt3), 767-774 (1998).
- 355. Szegezdi, E. *et al.* Ligation of Retinoic Acid Receptor Regulates Negative Selection of Thymocytes by Inhibiting Both DNA Binding of nur77 and Synthesis of Bim. *J Immunol* 170, 3577-3584 (2003).
- 356. Larange, A. & Cheroutre, H. Retinoic Acid and Retinoic Acid Receptors as Pleiotropic Modulators of the Immune System. *Ann Rev Immunol* 34, 369-394 (2016).
- 357. Lampen, A., Meyer, S., Arnhold, T. & Nau, H. Metabolism of vitamin A and its active metabolite all-trans-retinoic acid in small intestinal enterocytes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 295, 979-985 (2000).
- 358. Jaensson-Gyllenback, E. *et al.* Bile retinoids imprint intestinal CD103+ dendritic cells with the ability to generate gut-tropic T cells. *Mucosal Immunol* 4, 438-447 (2011).
- 359. Vicente-Suarez, I. *et al.* Unique lamina propria stromal cells imprint the functional phenotype of mucosal dendritic cells. *Mucosal Immunol* 8, 141-151 (2015).
- 360. Iwata, M. *et al.* Retinoic acid imprints gut-homing specificity on T cells. *Immunity* 21, 527-538 (2004).
- 361. Svensson, M. *et al.* Retinoic acid receptor signaling levels and antigen dose regulate gut homing receptor expression on CD8+ T cells. *Mucosal Immunol* 1, 38-48 (2008).
- 362. Hammerschmidt, S.I. *et al.* Stromal mesenteric lymph node cells are essential for the generation of gut-homing T cells in vivo. *J Exp Med* 205, 2483-2490 (2008).
- 363. Molenaar, R. *et al.* Lymph node stromal cells support dendritic cell-induced gut-homing of T cells. *J Immunol* 183, 6395-6402 (2009).
- 364. Bettelli, E. *et al.* Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 441, 235-238 (2006).
- Mucida, D. et al. Reciprocal TH17 and regulatory T cell differentiation mediated by retinoic acid. Science 317, 256-260 (2007).

- 366. Xiao, S. *et al.* Retinoic acid increases Foxp3+ regulatory T cells and inhibits development of Th17 cells by enhancing TGF-beta-driven Smad3 signaling and inhibiting IL-6 and IL-23 receptor expression. *J Immunol* 181, 2277-2284 (2008).
- 367. Hill, J.A. *et al.* Retinoic acid enhances Foxp3 induction indirectly by relieving inhibition from CD4+CD44hi Cells. *Immunity* 29, 758-770 (2008).
- 368. Hall, J.A. *et al.* Essential role for retinoic acid in the promotion of CD4(+) T cell effector responses via retinoic acid receptor alpha. *Immunity* 34, 435-447 (2011).
- 369. DePaolo, R.W. *et al.* Co-adjuvant effects of retinoic acid and IL-15 induce inflammatory immunity to dietary antigens. *Nature* 471, 220-224 (2011).
- 370. Morales, R.A. *et al.* Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase activity is triggered during allograft rejection and it drives Th1/Th17 cytokine production. *Immunobiol* 220, 769-774 (2015).
- 371. Hoag, K.A., Nashold, F.E., Goverman, J. & Hayes, C.E. Retinoic acid enhances the T helper 2 cell development that is essential for robust antibody responses through its action on antigen-presenting cells. *J Nutr* 132, 3736-3739 (2002).
- 372. Iwata, M., Eshima, Y. & Kagechika, H. Retinoic acids exert direct effects on T cells to suppress Th1 development and enhance Th2 development via retinoic acid receptors. *Int Immunol* 15, 1017-1025 (2003).
- 373. Cha, H.R. *et al.* Downregulation of Th17 cells in the small intestine by disruption of gut flora in the absence of retinoic acid. *J Immunol* 184, 6799-6806 (2010).
- 374. Brown, C.C. *et al.* Retinoic acid is essential for Th1 cell lineage stability and prevents transition to a Th17 cell program. *Immunity* 42, 499-511 (2015).
- 375. Takahashi, H. *et al.* TGF-beta and retinoic acid induce the microRNA miR-10a, which targets Bcl-6 and constrains the plasticity of helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* 13, 587-595 (2012).
- 376. Malkovsky, M. *et al.* Enhancement of specific antitumor immunity in mice fed a diet enriched in vitamin A acetate. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 80, 6322-6326 (1983).
- 377. Tan, X., Sande, J.L., Pufnock, J.S., Blattman, J.N. & Greenberg, P.D. Retinoic acid as a vaccine adjuvant enhances CD8+ T cell response and mucosal protection from viral challenge. *J Virol* 85, 8316-8327 (2011).
- 378. Guo, Y. *et al.* A retinoic acid--rich tumor microenvironment provides clonal survival cues for tumor-specific CD8(+) T cells. *Cancer Res* 72, 5230-5239 (2012).
- 379. Allie, S.R., Zhang, W., Tsai, C.Y., Noelle, R.J. & Usherwood, E.J. Critical role for alltrans retinoic acid for optimal effector and effector memory CD8 T cell differentiation. *J Immunol* 190, 2178-2187 (2013).
- Grabowska, A.I. & Wilanowski, T. FOXN1 Transcription Factor in Epithelial Growth and Wound Healing. *Mol Cell Biol* 37 (2017).
- Saitou, M. et al. Inhibition of skin development by targeted expression of a dominantnegative retinoic acid receptor. Nature 374, 159-162 (1995).
- 382. Roos, T.C., Jugert, F.K., Merk, H.F. & Bickers, D.R. Retinoid metabolism in the skin. *Pharmacol Rev* 50, 315-333 (1998).

- 383. Chapellier, B. *et al.* Physiological and retinoid-induced proliferations of epidermis basal keratinocytes are differently controlled. *EMBO J* 21, 3402-3413 (2002).
- 384. Pino-Lagos, K. *et al.* A retinoic acid-dependent checkpoint in the development of CD4+ T cell-mediated immunity. *J Exp Med* 208, 1767-1775 (2011).
- 385. Hu, Z., Molloy, M.J. & Usherwood, E.J. CD4(+) T-cell dependence of primary CD8(+) T-cell response against vaccinia virus depends upon route of infection and viral dose. *Cell Mol Immunol* 13, 82-93 (2016).
- Rodda, L.B. *et al.* Single-Cell RNA Sequencing of Lymph Node Stromal Cells Reveals Niche-Associated Heterogeneity. *Immunity* 48, 1014-1028 e1016 (2018).
- 387. Huang, H.Y. *et al.* Identification of a new subset of lymph node stromal cells involved in regulating plasma cell homeostasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 115, E6826-E6835 (2018).
- 388. Fletcher, A.L. *et al.* Reproducible isolation of lymph node stromal cells reveals sitedependent differences in fibroblastic reticular cells. *Front Immunol* 2, 35 (2011).
- 389. Zuklys, S. *et al.* MicroRNAs control the maintenance of thymic epithelia and their competence for T lineage commitment and thymocyte selection. *J Immunol* 189, 3894-3904 (2012).
- 390. Garcia-Ceca, J., Montero-Herradon, S., Alfaro, D. & Zapata, A.G. Increased epithelialfree areas in thymuses with altered EphB-mediated thymocyte-thymic epithelial cell interactions. *Histochem Cell Biol* 148, 381-394 (2017).